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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,
Plaintiff,

. 10 Civ. 457 (GLS/DRH)

McGINN, SMITH & CO., INC.,

McGINN, SMITH ADVISORS, LLC,

McGINN, SMITH CAPITAL HOLDINGS CORP.,
FIRST ADVISORY INCOME NOTES, LLC,
FIRST EXCELSIOR INCOME NOTES, LLC
FIRST INDEPENDENT INCOME NOTES, LLC
THIRD ALBANY INCOME NOTES, LLC,
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN, DAVID L. SMITH,
LYNN A. SMITH, DAVID M. WOJESKI, Trustee of
the David L. and Lynn A. Smith Irrevocable Trust
U/A 8/04/04, GEOFFREY R. SMITH,

LAUREN T. SMITH, and NANCY McGINN,

Defendants,

LYNN A. SMITH, and
NANCY McGINN,

Relief Defendants, and
DAVID M. WOJESKI, Trustee of the
David L. and Lynn A. Smith Irrevocable
Trust U/A 8/04/04

Intervenor.
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NON-PARTIES FINRA AND FINRA EMPLOYEES’
NOTICE OF MOTION TO QUASH SUBPOENAS

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE THAT, pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 45(c),
upon FINRA and the FINRA Employees’ Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Quash

Subpoenas, the Affidavit and Supplemental Affidavit of James R. Shorris, and any additional
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evidence or argument that the Court decides to consider at the hearing thereon, the Financial
Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”) and Gary Jaggs, Robert J. McCarthy, Michael Newman,

and Randy Pearlman (the “FINRA Employees) hereby move this Court at the James T. Foley

United States Courthouse, 445 Broadway, Albany, New York 12207, on ,

at . .m. before Judge David R. Homer, for an order granting FINRA and the FINRA

Employees’ Motion to Quash Subpoenas.

Dated: November 17, 2010 Respectfully submitted,

By: /s/ Richard B. Harper

Richard B. Harper
(NDNY application to be submitted)
Baker Botts L.L.P.
30 Rockefeller Plaza, 45th Floor
New York, NY 10112
Phone: 212.408.2500
Fax: 212.408.2501
richard.harper@bakerbotts.com

Terri L. Reicher

Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc.
1735 K Street, NW

Washington, DC 20006-1516

Phone: 202.728.8967

Fax: 202.728.8894

terri.reicher@finra.org

ATTORNEYS FOR NON-PARTIES
FINRA AND FINRA EMPLOYEES
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”) and Gary Jaggs, Robert J.

McCarthy, Michael Newman, and Randy Pearlman (the “FINRA Employees™) file this motion to

quash to prevent Defendants David L. Smith (“Smith”) and Timothy L. McGinn (“McGinn)
from completing an end run around the discovery rules in an ongoing FINRA disciplinary

proceeding (the “FINRA Action™) to obtain documents and depositions in this SEC litigation

(the “SEC Proceeding”) that are protected by the investigatory privilege. On September 14,

2010 and October 4, 2010, Defendants issued five identical subpoenas to the FINRA Employees
and FINRA’s custodian of records, non-parties to this action (collectively, the “Subpoenas™).
Defendants’ Subpoenas seek confidential and privileged information at the heart of any FINRA
investigation, including (1) 23 categories of documents relating to FINRA’s investigation of

McGinn, Smith, and their firm McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc. (“McGinn Smith” or the “Firm”),

ranging from FINRA internal memoranda and legal analyses to communications between
FINRA and the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and (2) depositions of the
FINRA lead attorney in the ongoing FINRA administrative proceeding, the FINRA examiners
who have worked with him, and FINRA’s custodian of records. Defendants seek these
privileged documents despite an ongoing enforcement action in which FINRA has already
produced over 31,000 pages of documents to Defendants.

In early November 2010, Judge Cedarbaum, Part I Judge in the Southern District of New
York district court, heard FINRA and the FINRA Employees’ motion to quash the Subpoenas
and directed the parties to seek the opinion of this Court.

This Court should grant the motion to quash production of the documents and depositions
for two independent reasons. First, Defendants have failed to exhaust their administrative

remedies by neglecting to pursue the documents in the ongoing FINRA Action that is

NYO01:231401.3 1
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specifically governed by rules and standards for obtaining privileged documents. Indeed,
McGinn and Smith are now seeking similar types of information from the SEC.

Second, the documents and depositions sought are protected by the investigatory
privilege. A straightforward application of that privilege protects the interview notes, internal
FINRA communications and analyses, and FINRA’s communications with the SEC sought here
by the Defendants. McGinn and Smith cannot sidestep application of the investigatory privilege
by now claiming they are entitled to the documents in order to pursue a claimed Fifth
Amendment violation. In the face of the attached FINRA affidavits describing the independence
of the respective FINRA and SEC investigations, Defendants cannot put forward any evidence
entitling them to additional discovery. Accordingly, because Defendants have failed to exhaust
their administrative remedies and because the documents and depositions sought are protected by
the investigatory privilege, the motion to quash should be granted.

BACKGROUND FACTS

I. FINRA'’s Federal Securities Regulatory Function

FINRA is a private not-for-profit Delaware corporation and a self-regulatory organization
(“SRO”) registered with the SEC as a national securities association pursuant to the Maloney Act
of 1938, § 780-3, et seq., amending the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78a, ef seq. See Desiderio v.
Nat’l Ass’n of Secs. Dealers, Inc., 191 F.3d 198, 201 (2d Cir. 1999). As an SRO, FINRA is part
of the Exchange Act’s highly interrelated and comprehensive mechanism for regulating the
securities markets. Id. In this regard, FINRA acts under the SEC. See McLaughlin, Piven,
Vogel, Inc. v. Nat’l Ass’n of Secs. Dealers, Inc., 733 F. Supp. 694, 696-97 (S.D.N.Y. 1990).

FINRA is charged with “conducting investigations and commencing disciplinary
proceedings against FINRA member firms and their associated member representatives relating

to compliance with the federal securities laws and regulations.” D.L. Cromwell Inv., Inc. v.

NYO01:231401.3 2
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NASD Regulation, Inc., 279 F.3d 155, 157 (2d Cir. 2002). As a registered SRO, FINRA has
authority to investigate allegations that a member firm is violating the Exchange Act, SEC
regulations, FINRA rules, or Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”) rules. See
McLaughlin, 733 F. Supp. at 697.

If FINRA becomes aware of evidence of potential violations of federal securities laws or
other misfeasance by FINRA’s members or their associated persons, then FINRA typically will
conduct an investigation. Shorris Aff. § 4. FINRA’s investigative procedures are described in
Sections 8000-8330 of FINRA’s Manual. /d. q 7. The Rules set forth in the Manual have been
reviewed and approved by the SEC. Id. As part of its investigation, FINRA gathers documents,
takes testimony, and performs other tasks to assess whether a member firm has violated statutes,
regulations, or rules over which FINRA has jurisdiction. Id. Investigations are typically
conducted by examiners in one of FINRA’s District offices who interview witnesses, gather and
review documents, and work with FINRA’s Department of Enforcement (‘“Enforcement”)
counsel to analyze whether there is evidence of potential wrongdoing. /d.

For each investigation, FINRA maintains a file that typically contains internal
memoranda, analyses, and notes regarding the investigation and interpretations of FINRA’s and
the SEC’s rules and regulations. Shorris Aff. § 5. It also may contain internal communications
with and among FINRA’s Enforcement attorneys and investigative staff. Id. The file may also
include transcripts of “on the record” interviews, investigative staff and attorney notes, and
documents collected from FINRA members and associated persons. [Id. Together, these

documents reflect FINRA’s examiners’ strategy and the leads pursued in investigations. Id.

" The FINRA Code of Procedure, approved by the SEC (SEC Rel. N. 34-38908, 62 Fed. Reg. 43571 (Aug. 14,
1997)), governs FINRA disciplinary proceedings against securities firms and their representatives. See
http://finra.complinet.com/finra. The Exchange Act requires every broker-dealer in the country to be a member of
FINRA or one of the national securities exchanges. 15 U.S.C. §§ 780-3(1)(1), (b)(1), (b)(8).

NY01:231401.3 3
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FINRA goes to great lengths to protect the confidentiality of the materials contained in its
investigation files, allowing, only persons directly related to the investigation and the
Enforcement action and their supervisors access to the information contained in the investigation
files. Id. at 6. If FINRA were forced to disclose the contents of its investigation files to non-
parties in civil litigation, before a disciplinary hearing on the merits of the investigation, FINRA
would be hindered from presenting its strongest possible case. Id.

Under FINRA’s Rules, the target of a FINRA investigation is afforded certain procedural
protections. Shorris Aff. 4 7. For example, under FINRA Code of Procedure section 9251,
FINRA is required to produce certain investigation files related to the charges but not privileged
documents and documents that constitute attorney work product. /d. 9 8.

When FINRA determines that its members or associated persons have violated FINRA
rules, MSRB rules, or the federal securities laws, FINRA has the authority to initiate a
disciplinary action adjudicated before a FINRA hearing panel. Nat’l Ass’n of Sec. Dealers, Inc.
v. SEC, 431 F.3d 803, 805-806 (D.C. Cir. 2005).

IL. FINRA Investigation of Defendants and Enforcement Proceeding
A. FINRA Investigation of McGinn Smith

In 2008, FINRA commenced a financial/operational, sales practice, and municipal
examination of Defendants and their Firm, which first revealed concerns regarding income note
offerings, and which resulted in a FINRA investigation that ultimately led to the filing of a
complaint in early 2010. By April 2009, FINRA sought the testimony of McGinn and Smith as

part of FINRA’s routine examination. Russo Decl. 9 7-8, Exhibits F-G.

2 As discussed below, on November 15, 2010, Defendants filed a motion to compel the SEC to answer
interrogatories and a memorandum and Declaration of Martin P. Russo (“Russo Declaration”) in support. Dkt. No.
189. As a convenience to the Court, this Memorandum refers the Court to certain portions of the Russo Declaration
and its attached exhibits.

NYO01:231401.3 4
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By July 2, 2009, FINRA issued an examination report, citing 17 exceptions, including
failure to make an appropriate suitability determination in at least 11 private placement
transactions and failure to establish written procedures regarding structured product sales. Russo
Decl. q 10, Exhibit I. On September 1, 2009, FINRA issued to McGinn Smith an Examination
Disposition Letter stating that it had referred the McGinn Smith matter to FINRA’s Enforcement
division for review and disposition. /d. § 11, Exhibit J. Although the Examination Disposition
Letter stated that FINRA only referred to Enforcement the issue relating to McGinn Smith’s
maintenance of electronic customer correspondence and internal communications, the letter also
discussed future compliance conferences with respect to five other issues and explicitly stated
that it did not address any other matters being reviewed by other FINRA departments. /d.

In early 2010, FINRA took on-the-record interviews of McGinn Smith-associated
persons, including McGinn and Smith. Russo Decl. 49 22-26, 28, Exhibits T-X, Z. The
information gathered included testimony regarding witnesses’ personal gains at investors’
expense and the McGinn Smith-affiliated trusts utilized in the operation of an alleged fraudulent
investment scheme. See, e.g., id. at Exhibit Z. In fact, on February 12, 2010, FINRA also issued
a request for documents seeking documents related to the trusts and personal finances. /d. § 27,
Exhibit Y.

B. FINRA Enforcement Action

On April 5, 2010, Enforcement issued a formal complaint against Defendants and their
Firm, alleging six causes of action. Shorris Aff. § 9, Exhibit 2. The causes of action range from
an allegation that the Firm and Smith failed to disclose material facts in connection with the four
income note offerings to an allegation that the Firm, acting through Smith, sold unregistered
securities, and also allege that Smith “misused the majority of offering proceeds for his own

needs.” Id. Exhibit 2, 9 25. In so doing, the six causes of action relate directly to questions that

NYO01:231401.3 5
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FINRA asked during its inquiry and examination of Defendants, including allegations related to
Defendants’ personal gains and the trusts. /d.

On July 7, 2010, FINRA Hearing Officer Andrew H. Perkins held an initial pre-hearing
conference in the proceeding. Officer Perkins issued a scheduling order requiring the defendants
to file all discovery-related motions (including motions pursuant to FINRA Code of Procedure
section 9251(c) to compel FINRA to produce documents withheld by FINRA) by August 23,
2010. No motions were filed, and on August 19, 2010, FINRA provided the defendants
thousands of documents from FINRA’s McGinn Smith investigative file. A hearing on the
merits in the FINRA Action is scheduled for May 2011 in Albany, New York.

C. FINRA’s Document Production to Defendants

FINRA’s document production in the FINRA Action consisted of over 31,250 pages,
occupying 18 boxes, and also included multiple CDs containing thousands of additional pages of

electronic documents. Among the documents that FINRA produced were:

. documents FINRA obtained from McGinn Smith, including emails, bank records,
ledger and bookkeeping records, and investor lists;
d certain documents provided to the SEC by FINRA, including letters to the SEC;

d on-the-record transcripts and tape recordings of transcripts from the FINRA
Action and related investigations; and

o communications between FINRA and McGinn Smith’s investors.

FINRA did not produce a limited number of documents protected by the investigatory,

attorney-client, and work product privileges, as well as the FINRA discovery rules, including:

notes from FINRA examiner interviews of investors taken in connection with the

FINRA Action;
d internal memoranda regarding the FINRA Action;
. internal communications with and among FINRA’s Enforcement attorneys and

investigative staff in connection with the FINRA Action;

d internal examiner-prepared schedules in connection with the FINRA Action;

NY01:231401.3 6
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d certain communications between FINRA staff and the SEC, including
communications containing privileged attachments; and

. a memorandum to the SEC regarding the FINRA Action.

111. SEC v. McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc.

A. Overview of SEC Complaint in the Context of the FINRA Enforcement Action

As FINRA discovered potentially serious securities law violations committed by
Defendants and their Firm, FINRA referred the matter to the SEC pursuant to its general
authority to refer investigations. Shorris Aff. § 11. On April 20, 2010, two weeks after the
FINRA Action was filed, the SEC filed a complaint against Defendants, their Firm, and six other
corporations and investment companies related to the Firm. /Id. § 12, Exhibit 3. The SEC
Proceeding includes many of the same facts that underlie the FINRA Action, but the SEC
addresses activities after November 2006 and alleges additional securities laws violations beyond
those set forth in the FINRA Action. The SEC accuses Defendants and their related entities of
mismanaging $136 million raised from clients since 2003 through unregistered offerings.

In order to halt alleged ongoing fraud, maintain the status quo, and preserve any assets
for injured investors, the SEC also sought emergency relief, including an asset freeze,
appointment of a receiver, expedited recovery, and verified accountings. The Court imposed the
asset freeze, TRO, and preliminary injunction, and a trial in the SEC Proceeding will begin after
September 15, 2011.

The FINRA Action was entirely separate and independent from the SEC Proceeding. See
Shorris Aff. at 4 13. At no time did FINRA take direction from the SEC concerning FINRA’s
investigation of Defendants and their Firm, nor did FINRA coordinate its on-the-record
interviews of defendants and others with the SEC. Id. § 13. FINRA and the SEC did not

exchange outlines, questions, or documents with respect to testimony taken in either the FINRA
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Action or the SEC Proceeding. Id. Pursuant to its authority to refer investigations, FINRA
provided copies of transcripts of relevant testimony after such testimony had been taken in the
FINRA Action. Id. Additionally, the SEC’s requests to FINRA for information from FINRA’s
files were not coerced, suggested, or encouraged—they were simply requests by the SEC for
information that FINRA had collected for FINRA’s own investigation. Shorris Supp. Aff. at q 4.
No SEC or other government employee asked FINRA employees to pursue any particular line of
inquiry in the FINRA Action, attended or participated in any of FINRA’s on-the-record
interviews, or suggested any sort of timing or schedule for FINRA’s on-the-record interviews or
that FINRA coordinate its interview schedule with that of the SEC. Id.

B. Defendants’ Subpoenas and the Original Motion to Quash

On or about September 14, 2010, Defendants issued the first four of the Subpoenas,
commanding the lead prosecuting attorney, the supervising examiner, and two examiners in the
FINRA Action to produce documents beginning September 28, 2010 and appear for depositions
beginning October 5, 2010. Shorris Aff. § 14, Exhibit 4. On October 4, 2010, Defendants
subpoenaed FINRA'’s custodian of records to cure a deficiency raised by the FINRA Employees
in their initial motion to quash about the propriety of seeking FINRA’s records from FINRA’s
employees. The fifth subpoena commanded the custodian of records to produce documents by
October 21, 2010 and appear for a deposition on October 25, 2010.

The Subpoenas include some 23 separate requests targeting privileged materials
pertaining to FINRA’s investigation of Defendants:

J documents exchanged between, and notes concerning communications between,
FINRA or FINRA employees and investors relating to McGinn Smith;

o recordings or transcripts of communications between FINRA and investors, or
provided by investors to FINRA, relating to McGinn Smith;

J documents and notes concerning communications between FINRA employees and
the SEC relating to McGinn Smith;
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o documents concerning communications between FINRA employees and the DOJ
concerning Joseph Bruno or McGinn Smith;

o documents and communications concerning Thomas E. Livingston;

o affidavits and sworn statements relating to McGinn Smith;

o internal FINRA reports relating to McGinn Smith or reflecting communications

among FINRA employees relating to McGinn Smith or the referral of FINRA’s
investigation of McGinn Smith;

o records regarding communications with investors and biographical information
regarding investors;

o documents identifying FINRA employees who engaged in communications with
the SEC relating to McGinn Smith or who were involved in the investigation of
McGinn Smith; and

o documents withheld from production in the FINRA Action pursuant to
investigatory privilege.

The vast majority of the requested documents have already been produced to Defendants
by FINRA in the FINRA Action. For example, as discussed above, FINRA produced to
Defendants on-the-record transcripts and tape recordings, as well as documents and
correspondence between FINRA and the SEC concerning the investigation of McGinn Smith.
The limited number of documents that FINRA did not produce are protected by the investigatory
privilege, and many are also protected by the attorney-client and work product privileges, though
the investigatory privilege covers all of the protected documents.

On October 1, 2010, FINRA and the FINRA Employees filed a motion to quash the
Subpoenas in the Southern District of New York district court.

C. FINRA and FINRA Employees’ Original Motion to Quash: Southern District of
New York Hearing

On November 2, 2010, after briefing by the parties, Judge Miriam Goldman Cedarbaum,
United States District Part I Judge for the Southern District of New York, held a hearing on
FINRA and the FINRA Employees’ motion to quash the subpoenas. Judge Cedarbaum “directed

[the parties] to seek [the] opinion of Judge in Northern District of New York™ and stayed the
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proceeding pending a decision by this Court.’
The parties have agreed to file new memoranda (starting with this) in an attempt to refine
the issues before this Court. Although FINRA and the FINRA Employees file this new

Memorandum, they submit in support the Affidavit of James S. Shorris (the “Shorris Affidavit™)

and the Supplemental Affidavit of James S. Shorris (the “Supplemental Shorris Affidavit”) that

they attached to their original opening and reply briefs, respectively, in the Southern District of
New York matter.* Concurrently with or shortly after filing this Memorandum, the parties have
filed or will file with this Court a briefing schedule stipulated to by the parties.

D. Recent Events in SEC v. McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc.

Just two weeks ago, on November 3, 2010, the SEC filed a motion for an order to show
cause why Defendants should not be held in contempt for violating this Court’s preliminary
injunction order. Dkt. No. 168-1. The SEC’s supporting memorandum, in which it argues that
Defendants continue to issue unregistered securities, reflects that the SEC continues to
investigate Defendants and their Firm as new facts develop.

On November 15, 2010, Defendants filed a motion to compel the SEC to answer
interrogatories, seeking to compel the SEC to identify each FINRA employee with whom the
SEC has had communications concerning McGinn Smith. Dkt No. 189.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

1. Defendants Have Failed to Exhaust Their Administrative Remedies

The Subpoenas should initially be quashed because, prior to their issuance, Defendants
failed to exhaust their administrative remedies with respect to their request for FINRA’s

investigation files. In the FINRA Action, Defendants had the opportunity to file a discovery

* A true and correct copy of Judge Cedarbaum’s November 2, 2010 order is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.
* True and correct copies of the Shorris Affidavit and the Supplemental Shorris Affidavit, with supporting exhibits,
are attached to this Memorandum as Exhibits 2 and 3, respectively.
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motion under FINRA Code of Procedure 9251(c) pursuing the withheld documents. Defendants
neglected to follow such procedure. Defendants were also subject to a scheduling order in the
FINRA Action that set an August 23, 2010 deadline to file motions relating to Enforcement’s
production of documents pursuant to FINRA Rule 9251, but Defendants also failed to comply
with that order.

Before seeking relief from the Court, Defendants are required to exhaust their
administrative remedies through FINRA, the SEC, and the appellate courts. See McLaughlin,
733 F. Supp. at 698 (administrative remedies doctrine applies to NASD, a FINRA predecessor).
The Second Circuit has recognized only one exception to the exhaustion requirement: when an
agency action “is plainly beyond [the agency’s] jurisdiction as a matter of law or is being
conducted in a manner that cannot result in a valid order,” in which case recourse to the courts is
available before administrative remedies have been exhausted. Id. (citing Touche Ross & Co. v.
SEC, 609 F.2d 570, 576 (2d Cir. 1979)). The circumstances of this case do not lie within that
exception.

IL. The Investigatory Privilege Defined and Applicable Legal Standards

Additionally, the Court must quash or modify a subpoena when the subpoena “requires
disclosure of privileged or other protected matter and no exception or waiver applies.” Fed. R.
Civ. P. 45(c)(3)(A)(iii). Federal courts recognize an investigatory file privilege, which is a
derivation of the law enforcement privilege. In re Dep’t of Investigations of City of New York,
856 F.2d 481 (2d Cir. 1988); Otterson v. Nat’l R.R. Passenger Corp., 228 F.R.D. 205, 207
(S.D.N.Y. 2005); In re U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., 459 F.3d 565, 569 (5th Cir. 2006) (citing
Coughlin v. Lee, 946 F.2d 1152, 1159 (5th Cir. 1991)); In re Sealed Case, 856 F.2d 268, 271
(D.C. Cir. 1988). While this privilege is typically limited to protecting civil and criminal law

enforcement investigation files from discovery, see In re U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., 459 F.3d
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at 569, “a similar policy has been recognized with respect to investigative materials generated by
industry regulatory organizations.” Apex Oil Co. v. DiMauro, 110 F.R.D. 490, 496-97 (S.D.N.Y.
1985).

Courts have specifically applied the investigatory privilege to FINRA because there are
strong policy interests in preserving the ability of SROs to function effectively and in
encouraging frank cooperation and discussions in internal investigations. See, e.g., DGM Invs.,
Inc. v. N.Y. Futures Exch., Inc., 224 F.R.D. 133, 140 (S.D.N.Y. 2004). For example, in Ross v.
Bolton, 106 F.R.D. 22, 23 (S.D.N.Y. 1985), the defendants sought all NASD (a FINRA
predecessor) documents related to the NASD’s investigation into an entity’s alleged illegal
trading of securities, including portions of unsworn depositions NASD had gathered during its
investigation. The court acknowledged that NASD was not a government body; however, it
found that “[t]his does not preclude the argument that the interests asserted by [NASD] in
encouraging witness cooperation and maintaining the integrity of its investigative techniques and
files are similar to those of a governmental regulatory agency.” Id. The court went on to observe
that “[t]here is a strong public interest in maintaining the integrity of effective industry self-
regulation. This interest would clearly be undermined by making [NASD] files fair game for any
of the thousands of private securities fraud litigants across the country who wish to shortcut their
own discovery efforts and instead to reap the benefits of [NASD’s] ongoing, statutorily governed
work.” Id. (citing 15 U.S.C. §§ 780-3, 78s).

The Ross court balanced this strong public interest against the parties’ need to obtain
information relevant to their lawsuit. It classified such information into two categories: (1)
factual or statistical data and (2) analyses or opinions drawn from such material. While NASD

was required to turn over factual data in the form of monthly blotters and confirmation slips, it
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did not have to turn over staff analyses of this and other data. The court further held that the
unsworn deposition transcripts “constitute[d] opinion and analysis work because the witnesses
deposed as well as the questions asked reveal[ed] the nature and direction of [NASD’s]
investigation.” Id. at 24. The court also found NASD’s analogy to the work product privilege to
be persuasive and further noted that the petitioner’s interest in the depositions was not so central
to its case as to overcome the strong interest held by both NASD and the public in keeping them
confidential absent a showing of extraordinary need. /d.

Other district courts have consistently applied the Ross analysis when evaluating requests
for SRO investigatory files. See DGM Invs., Inc. v. N.Y. Futures Exch., Inc., 224 F.R.D. at 138-
39; In re Adler, Coleman, Clearing Corp., No. 95-08203, 1999 WL 1747410, at *3 (S.D.N.Y.
Dec. 8, 1999).° In Adler, the petitioner sought to depose the head of an NASD department that
conducted an investigation in which the petitioner was eventually charged. Adler, 1999 WL
1747410, at *5. Although the petitioner assured NASD that the questions would be solely
factual in nature, NASD refused to produce the employee, and the district court denied the
petitioner’s motion to compel. /d. “Premature disclosure of factual information to the target of a
pending NASD investigation could impair the NASD’s ability to investigate its members,
thereby defeating the important ‘public interest in maintaining the integrity of effective industry
self-regulations’” and that the risk run by “prematurely disclosing the strategy driving an
ongoing investigation” was significant. /d. (citing Ross, 106 F.R.D. at 23). The court noted that
although NASD was not a party to the proceeding, it was potentially adverse to the petitioner in

any disciplinary action that might arise as a consequence of its investigation. /Id.

> A true and complete copy of In re Adler, Coleman, Clearing Corp., No. 95-08203, 1999 WL 1747410 (S.D.N.Y.
Dec. 8, 1999) is attached hereto as Exhibit 4.
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The investigatory privilege is a qualified privilege with a shifting burden. FINRA, as the
party invoking the privilege, bears the initial burden of establishing its applicability. In re Grand
Jury Subpoenas Dated March 19, 2002 and August 2, 2002, 318 F.3d 379, 384 (2d Cir. 2003).
Courts have consistently held that the initial burden imposed on FINRA is not significant and is
met where FINRA identifies the areas of documents it seeks to protect. DGM Invs., Inc., 224
F.R.D. at 140 (where an SRO asserts the investigatory privilege, the standards applicable to
governmental entities “appear to have been applied less rigorously, if at all”’); Ross, 106 F.R.D.
at 24 (reaching the merits and balancing the competing interests without evaluating the
sufficiency of NASD’s claim of privilege); In re Adler, Coleman, Clearing Corp., 1999 WL
1747410, at *3 (reciting established prerequisites but proceeding to a determination without
explicitly considering whether the requirements had been met). The burden then shifts to
Defendants, as the parties opposing application of the privilege, and such burden is significant
and requires Defendants to demonstrate a compelling reason why the investigatory privilege
should not apply. See DGM Invs., Inc., 224 F.R.D. at 140 (showing of application of
investigatory privilege may only be overcome by an adequate showing of a litigant’s need for
such information) (citing Apex Oil Co. v. DiMauro, 110 F.R.D. at 497-98 (same)).

III. The Investigatory Privilege Applies to Protect Production of the Documents
Defendants Seek Here

A. FINRA Has Met its Initial Burden of Showing that the Investigatory Privilege
Applies to the Requested Documents

FINRA has met its initial burden of showing that the investigatory privilege applies to the
requested documents. In Adler, the Southern District of New York district court outlined three
prerequisites to the assertion of the privilege by a governmental entity: (1) the head of the
department having control over the information requested must assert the privilege; (2) the

official in question must do so based on actual personal consideration; and (3) he or she must
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specify the information purportedly covered by the privilege, and accompany the request with an
explanation as to why such information falls within the scope of the privilege. Adler, 1999 WL
1747410 at *5. In DGM Investments, the Southern District of New York district court pointed
out that these three prerequisites are actually limited to governmental entities, such as the SEC,
not non-governmental entities like NASD or FINRA. 224 F.R.D. at 140. “Where . . . a non-
governmental self-regulatory entity has asserted the investigatory privilege on the basis of the
public interest in preserving the ability of self-regulatory bodies to function effectively, these
requirements appear to have been applied less rigorously, if at all.” Id. (citing In re NASD, 1996
WL 406826, at *2 (E.D. La. July 18, 1996)° and Ross, 106 F.R.D. at 24)). The court noted that
while Adler had listed these three prerequisites, it had not “explicitly considered whether the
requirements had been met.” /d. Instead, the court should balance the public’s strong interest in
the confidentiality of FINRA’s files against Defendants’ need for the files. /d.

1. FINRA Properly Asserts the Investigatory Privilege

Notwithstanding the relaxed requirements applied to non-governmental entities, the
Shorris Affidavit meets each of the requirements set forth above. First, Mr. Shorris, as Executive
Vice President and Acting Director of Enforcement of FINRA, is head of the department having
control over the requested documents. Shorris Aff. at § 1. Second, Mr. Shorris asserts the
investigatory privilege based on his actual personal consideration of, and familiarity with, the
FINRA Action. Id. q9 9, 11, 15 (discussing FINRA’s investigation of, and procedural
developments in, FINRA’s case against Defendants and their Firm), 14 (“I have reviewed and

considered the Subpoenas.”).

% A true and complete copy of In re NASD, 1996 WL 406826 (E.D. La. July 18, 1996) is attached hereto as Exhibit
S.
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Third, Mr. Shorris specifies in great detail both the documents covered by the privilege
and why such documents are protected. Shorris Aff. at Y 16 (“FINRA withheld from production
notes from interviews of investors taken in connection with the FINRA Action, internal
memoranda regarding the FINRA Action, internal communications with and among FINRA’s
Enforcement attorneys and investigative staff in connection with the FINRA Action, internal
examiner-prepared schedules in connection with the FINRA Action, certain communications
between FINRA staff and the SEC, including communications containing privileged
attachments, and a memorandum to the SEC regarding the FINRA Action.”), 17 (“Disclosure of
the privileged withheld information, which is essential to FINRA’s case against Defendants,
would reveal the nature and direction of FINRA’s case to Defendants. It would also inevitably
impair FINRA’s ability to present the strongest possible case at the merits hearing next May.”),
18-21 (describing negative precedential effects of disclosure). Mr. Shorris’ explanation, in no
less than five detailed paragraphs, as to why the requested documents are covered by the
investigatory privilege is the very “deliberate and precise invocation of the claim of qualified
privilege” required under applicable caselaw. See id. 49 17-21; Friedman v. Bache Halsey Stuart
Shields, Inc., 738 F.2d 1336 (D.C. Cir. 1984).

Finally, Mr. Shorris supplemented his original affidavit to describe in additional detail his
personal consideration of the issues and familiarity with the FINRA Action. Shorris Supp. Aff.
at § 2 (“[] I have supervised [FINRA’s] examination and inquiry . . . and also the enforcement
action . . .”; “I am personally familiar with the FINRA Action, which is separate and apart from

the SEC Proceeding.”). Accordingly, FINRA has properly invoked the investigatory privilege.
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2. FINRA Should Not Be Required to Produce a Privilege Log Under the
Circumstances

Defendants have previously taken the position that FINRA and the FINRA Employees
are required to produce a privilege log listing the withheld documents. While a privilege log is
sometimes relevant to the analysis of the attorney-client and work product privileges, FINRA
and the FINRA Employees should not be required to produce a privilege log under the
circumstances. As an initial matter, Defendants did not file a motion for withheld documents
under FINRA Code of Procedure section 9251(c). In addition, FINRA believes that no privilege
log is merited based on the generalized assertions previously put forward by Defendants.
Finally, FINRA remains concerned that producing a log of the investigatory privileged
documents (which are replete with FINRA’s analyses, opinions, and strategy) would reveal the
inner workings of a FINRA investigation. Shorris Supp. Aff. at § 7.

Nonetheless, out of an abundance of caution, Defendants are prepared to present to the
Court for in camera review (and will bring to the hearing on the motion) a privilege log and the
underlying communications with the SEC and investors withheld pursuant to the investigatory
privilege.’

B. Defendants Have Not Demonstrated a Compelling Need For the Requested
Documents

Defendants cannot meet their burden to show a compelling need for each of the
categories of documents that FINRA withheld pursuant to the investigatory privilege. The nearly
two dozen categories of documents that Defendants seek fall into three general categories:

(1) FINRA’s witness interviews and communications with customers and investors; (2) FINRA’s

" Beyond SEC and investor communications, Defendants’ requests for effectively every document created by
FINRA related to Defendants (Requests 8, 15, 16, 21, and 23) would likely require hundreds or thousands of entries
on a log. FINRA would prepare such a log if directed by the Court, but such documents are clearly within the scope
of the investigatory, and most likely work product and attorney-client, privileges such that no log should be
required.
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internal communications, analyses, memoranda, spreadsheets, and documents; and (3) FINRA’s
communications with the SEC.® Defendants cannot proffer any reason why the documents
requested in the Subpoenas are so central to their cause as to overcome the strong interests held
by FINRA and the public in keeping them confidential.

Witness interviews and communications with customers and investors. It is essential that

FINRA'’s transcripts and communications with investors be protected from disclosure because
witnesses privy to information in connection with alleged securities violations should be
encouraged to talk frankly and openly to examiners. Shorris Supp. Aff. atq 7. In addition, while
FINRA does not have subpoena authority, its rules give FINRA broad authority to obtain
documents and testimony from regulated firms and persons, enabling FINRA to obtain
information of great regulatory value. Shorris Aff. § 18. If this information is also available on a
real-time basis to civil litigants, firms and associated persons are much more likely to oppose
FINRA’s investigative requests, thereby making FINRA’s investigations longer and more
difficult to conduct. /Id. In addition, the confidential nature of FINRA investigations may
encourage persons of whom FINRA is not aware, or over whom FINRA has no jurisdiction, to
come forward with documents and information that they would not otherwise provide, and others
are less likely to come forward, depriving FINRA of an important source of regulatory
information. Id. § 19. Unsurprisingly, courts have protected such documents under the
investigatory privilege. See, e.g., Ross v. Bolton, 106 F.R.D. 22 (protecting unsworn deposition
transcripts and analyses and opinions drawn from such material).

FINRA'’s internal communications, analyses, memoranda, spreadsheets, and documents.

FINRA’s internal communications, analyses, memoranda, spreadsheets, and documents referring

¥ Defendants request an additional category of documents: communications with the Department of Justice (the
“DOJ”) (Requests 17 and 18). FINRA does not believe it has any written communications with the DOJ regarding
the FINRA Action. Shorris Supp. Aff. at g 6.
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to Defendants reveal how FINRA conducts its investigations and forms its litigation strategy.
Shorris Supp. Aff. at § 7. Not only do such documents constitute work product, but they are the
core “opinion and analysis work” contemplated by Ross and its progeny. See Ross, 106 F.R.D.
at 23 (noting “strong public interest” in finding that investigatory privilege precluded discovery
of NASD file materials constituting opinion and analysis); DGM Invs., Inc., 224 F.R.D. at 143
(protecting NYBOT’s internal compliance manuals from production under the investigatory
privilege).

Communications with the SEC. Caselaw has also protected communications between

SROs and the SEC from production because disclosure of such documents could compromise the
ability of an SRO to carry outs its statutorily assigned function. See, e.g., Securities and
Exchange Commission v. Thrasher, No. 92 Civ. 6987 (JFK), 1995 WL 46681 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 7,
1995)° (protecting from disclosure communications between the Chicago Board Options
Exchange and the SEC).

In the Southern District of New York briefing on this matter (and now in McGinn and
Smith’s motion to compel against the SEC in this proceeding), Defendants attempted to avoid
application of the investigatory privilege by suggesting FINRA is a state actor that violated
Defendants’ Fifth Amendment rights. This suggestion is misplaced and does not provide
grounds for obtaining additional discovery. Because FINRA is a private not-for-profit Delaware
corporation and an SRO registered with the SEC, it is not a state actor. D.L. Cromwell Inv., Inc..
279 F.3d at 162 (citing Desiderio, 191 F.3d at 206). Accordingly, in order to transform FINRA
into a state actor, Defendants must establish that FINRA has a “close nexus” with the SEC so

that the “seemingly private behavior may be fairly treated as that of the State itself.” Brentwood

? A true and complete copy of Securities and Exchange Commission v. Thrasher, No. 92 Civ. 6987 (JFK), 1995 WL
46681 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 7, 1995) is attached hereto as Exhibit 6.
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Academy v. Tennessee Secondary School Athletic Ass’n, 531 U.S. 288, 295 121 S.Ct. 924 (2001).
The state actor analysis looks to factors such as whether the SEC “has exercised coercive power
or has provided such significant encouragement, either overt or covert, that the [private] choice
must in law be deemed to be that of the State.” Blum v. Yaretsky, 457 U.S. 991, 1004, 102 S. Ct.
2777 (1982). However, as to seeking discovery to support such a claim, adjudicatory bodies
such as the SEC, acting in their appellate capacity relating to administrative proceedings, have
been careful to warn that defendants cannot “use the discovery process to go on a fishing
expedition in the hopes that some evidence will turn up to support an otherwise unsubstantiated
[state action] theory” and “[n]ot every defense of state action deserves discovery and a hearing.”
In re Application of Michael Sassano, SEC Admin. Proc. File No. 3-12903, Release No. 58632,
at 17 (Sept. 24, 2008)."° Indeed, the SEC has found discovery requests to be satisfied either
through allowing depositions or, as in this case, by FINRA providing an affidavit. /d.

As set forth above, the Shorris Affidavit and Supplemental Shorris Affidavit explain how
FINRA was acting as an independent SRO in investigating Defendants. In the face of the
Shorris affidavits, Defendants cannot articulate a basis for seeking additional discovery. First,
Defendants have previously suggested that FINRA’s discovery sought after FINRA’s referral
was for use by the SEC and that there is no explanation for the continued FINRA investigation.
Defendants conveniently focus on FINRA’s routine examination but not FINRA’s continuing
Enforcement investigation and how it directly resulted in the administrative complaint FINRA
filed. Even a cursory review of the FINRA complaint in its administrative proceeding, filed
before the SEC complaint, shows that FINRA’s on-the-record testimony was focused on the very

issues it had been investigating—such as the structure of the note offerings and Defendants’ use

%" A true and correct copy of In re Application of Michael Sassano, SEC Admin. Proc. File No. 3-12903, Release
No. 58632, at 17 (Sept. 24, 2008) is attached hereto as Exhibit 7.
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of the proceeds for improper purposes. See, e.g., Shorris Aff. Exhibit 2. at 44 15-23, 31-32.
Indeed, it is increasingly typical in FINRA investigations into fraud and mismanagement by a
member firm for FINRA to turn its focus to associated persons and registered individuals,
especially where those individuals themselves are suspected of shielding assets or personally
profiting from alleged securities laws violations. Shorris Supp. Aff. at § 5. As such, there is no
inference to be drawn from the timing and substance of the FINRA investigation. Second,
FINRA’s forwarding of transcripts to the SEC and continuance of its investigation after referral
to the SEC do not alter this fundamental point. It is not surprising that FINRA forwarded
transcripts to the SEC because often times, the SEC requests access to FINRA’s investigative
files where a member firm is under investigation by both FINRA and the SEC. See Shorris
Supp. Aft. at § 3; In re Application of Michael Sassano, SEC Admin. Proc. File No. 3-12903,
Release No. 58632, at 15. Additionally, as the SEC’s recently-filed motion to show cause why
defendants should not be held in contempt demonstrates, it is not unusual for an SEC (or
FINRA) investigation to expand over time. Such expansion does not indicate collusion between
the SEC and FINRA. Accordingly, Defendants cannot establish any specifics that entitle them to

discovery regarding communications with the SEC."'

' Caselaw in analogous circumstances further supports FINRA’s position. For example, in U.S. v. Solomon, 509
F.2d 863, 867-71 (2d Cir. 1975), the Second Circuit found no violation of a defendant’s Fifth Amendment rights on
facts substantially similar to those present here. In that case, the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”), a
securities self-regulatory organization (its regulatory arm was subsequently merged into FINRA), took testimony
under the threat of suspension or expulsion, and then forwarded the deposition to the SEC. Id. The Second Circuit
found no state action because the NYSE’s efforts were “in pursuance of its own interests and obligations, not as an
agent of the [government].” Id. at 869. Absent SEC involvement, the NYSE would have investigated anyway. See
also D.L. Cromwell Inv., Inc. v. NASD Regulation, Inc., 132 F. Supp. 2d 248, 253 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (declining to find
NASD state action based on “the chronology of certain events” in simultaneous government and NASD
investigation; NASD has independent obligation to investigate the matters and is conducting its own investigation);
Marchiano v. Nat’l Ass’n of Secs. Dealers, Inc., No. 00-0031 (HHK), 2000 WL 423810, at *2 (D.D.C. Feb. 28,
2000) (NASD rule did not violate Fifth Amendment rights where respondent was also under criminal indictment
because there was no evidence that government forced or encouraged NASD Regulation to adopt NASD rule or
prosecute respondent for its violation). Here, because FINRA had a preexisting and independent investigatory
mission, FINRA’s limited communication with the SEC did not constitute state action. A true and complete copy of
Marchiano is attached hereto as Exhibit 8.
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IV.  The Investigatory Privilege Applies to Protect the Depositions Sought

Finally, Defendants cannot justify how they are entitled to depose FINRA’s lead
prosecuting attorney, the supervising examiner, two examiners, and the custodian of records in
the FINRA Action under the circumstances. With respect to all of the subpoenaed FINRA
employees, the investigatory privilege “applies to both investigatory files and testimony
concerning their contents.” In re Adler, 1999 WL 1747410, at *5 (declining to compel testimony
of NASD employee, even where his testimony was sought only as to factual matters and not as to
either his opinion or analysis) (citing /n re Sealed Case, 856 F.2d 268, 271 (D.C. Cir. 1988) (“It
would make little sense to protect the actual files from disclosure while forcing the government
to testify about their contents.”)).

With respect to the lead prosecuting attorney, in particular, a defendant who wishes to
call a prosecutor as a witness must demonstrate a compelling and legitimate reason to do so.
U.S. v. Regan, 103 F.3d 1072, 1083 (2d Cir. 1997) (citing U.S. v. Schwartzbaum, 527 F.2d 249,
253 (2d Cir. 1975)). In May 2010, this Court recognized the investigatory privilege and allowed
a deposition of an SEC attorney to go forward in the SEC Proceeding on only very narrow
grounds that are not present, and are easily distinguished, here.'? The relief defendant (Smith’s
wife) had noticed for deposition an SEC attorney involved in the SEC’s investigation of McGinn
Smith, and the SEC attorney had previously submitted a declaration reporting her results of
interviews with unnamed investors. Id. At a status conference, the SEC objected to the
deposition on various grounds, including that her testimony was protected by the investigatory,
attorney-client, and work product privileges. Id. This Court found that the claimed privileges

had been waived to the extent reported in the attorney’s declaration and that the deposition could

12 See Dkt. No. 10.
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go forward only with respect to the results of the investor interviews reported in the declaration.
Id. at 2.

The case for quashing the subpoena of FINRA’s lead prosecutor is even stronger here.
No privilege has been waived by the FINRA Employees, and Defendants have not demonstrated
any reason, much less a compelling and legitimate reason, why they should be permitted to
depose Mr. Newman, especially when he and his team are preparing their case for hearing.
Defendants have likewise not demonstrated any relevant reason why the other FINRA
Employees and the FINRA custodian of records should have their depositions taken in the SEC
Proceeding. Those employees have no relevant, discoverable, information that has not already
been provided to Defendants, and no declarations of fact have been filed by any of the proposed
deponents here.

CONCLUSION

The Federal Rules do not permit a party to use one proceeding as a back door to
privileged and confidential investigatory materials unobtainable in another proceeding,
especially where—as here—the party has not exhausted its administrative remedies.
Accordingly, FINRA and the FINRA Employees respectfully request that the Court quash the

Subpoenas.
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Dated: November 17, 2010

Respectfully submitted,

NYO01:231401.3

By: /s/ Richard B. Harper

Richard B. Harper
(NDNY application to be submitted)
Baker Botts L.L.P.
30 Rockefeller Plaza, 45th Floor
New York, NY 10112
Phone: 212.408.2500
Fax: 212.408.2501
richard.harper@bakerbotts.com

Terri L. Reicher

Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc.
1735 K Street, NW

Washington, DC 20006-1516

Phone: 202.728.8967

Fax: 202.728.8894

terri.reicher@finra.org
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify under penalty of perjury pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Section 1746 that on the
17th day of November 2010, I caused the foregoing FINRA and the FINRA Employees’ Notice
of Motion to Quash Subpoenas, FINRA Employees’ Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion
to Quash Subpoenas, and supporting exhibits to be served by Federal Express on the following

counsel:

Martin P. Russo

Allison B. Cohen

Gusrae, Kaplan, Bruno & Nusbaum PLLC
120 Wall Street

New York, NY 10005

Attorneys for Defendants David L. Smith and Timothy M. McGinn

/s/ Richard B. Harper
Richard B. Harper
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Miscellaneous Docket No.: M8-85

Securities and Exchange Commission v.
MecGinn, Smith & Co., et. al; US.
District Court; Northern District of New:
York; Cause No. 10-457 (GLS/DRH);"
Judge Gary L. Sharpe, gesx%ing,
Magistrate Judge David R. C;Homer, &
referral I

T P S L L R SR L D O

FINRA EMPLOYEES® S
NOTICE OF MOTION TO QUASH SUBPOENAS

P_LEASE TAKE NOTICE THAT, pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 45(c),
upon the FINRA Employees’ Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Quash Subpoenas,
the Affidavit of .Iames R. Shorris, and any additional evidence or ai'gument that the Court
decides to consider at the hearing thereon, Gary Jaggs, Robert J. McCarthy Michael Newman,
and Randy Peariman (the “FINRA Employees™) hereby move this Court at the United States
Cqunhousc, 500 Pearl Street, New York, on October 19, 2010, at 11;00 a.m, before a Part 1

Judge, for an order granting the FINRA Employees’ Motion to Quash Subpoenas. *

ki R

NY01:230026.7
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

"IN RE SUBPOENAS SERVED ON Miscellaneous Docket No.: M8-85
FINANCIAL INDUSTRY . _ _
REGULATORY AUTHORITY, INC. Securities and Exchange Commission v.
EMPLOYEES McGinn, Smith & Co., et. al; U.S.

District Court; Northern District of New
York; Cause Neo. 10-457 (GLS ;.
Judge Gary L. Sharpe, r;p__eSId‘u{g\,
- Magistrate Judge David R H{ﬁng
referral . -~

(“FINRA”). I am responsible for managing the entire Enforcement Department, supervising a
‘staff of .more than 260 legal and investigative professionals nationwide, developing and
irﬁplementing enforcement policy, and overseeing investigations and litigation.

2. " FINRA is a pfivate not—for—proﬁt. Delaware corporation and a self-regulatbry
Organization (“SRO™) registered with the Securities and Exchange Cqmmission (“E”) under
Section 15A of fh_e Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). FINRA is part of the
Exchange Act’s highly interrelated and compreheﬁsivc mechanism for regulating the securities
markets.

3. As a registered SRO, FINRA has authority to investigate allegations that a
member firm is violating the Exchange Act, SEC regulationé, FINRA rules, or Municipal
Seéurities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”) rules. When FINRA determines that its members or
associated persons have violated FINRA rules, MSRB rules, or the federal securities laws,

FINRA has the authority to initiate disciplinary action. 15 U.S.C. § 780-3(b)(7).

© NY01:230240.3 1
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47" If FINRA becomes aware of evidence of potential violations of fed€ral securities
laws or other misfeasance by FINRA’s members or their associated persons, then FINRA
typically willl initiate an investigation. As part of its investigation of its members, FINRA
gathers documents, takes testimony, and performs other tasks to assess whether a mémber firm -
has violated statutes, regulations, or rules over which FINRA has jurisdjctio'n.- Investigatibns are
typically conducted by examiners in one qf FINRA’s District offices. FINRA’S- examiners
interview witnesses, gather and review documents, and work with Enforcement Department
counsel to analyze Whether there is evidencé of potential wrongdoing.

.5. FINRA ma.intait_ls an investigation file for each investigation. FII\-IRA’S.
investigation files typically coﬁtéin internal memoranda, analyses, and notes regarding the
investigation and interpretations of FINRA’s and the SEC’s rules and regulations. FiNRA’s
investigation files also may contain internal communications with and among FINRA’s
Enforcement attorneys and investigative staff. The documents in the file may also inc':_lude,
transcripts of “on the record” interviews, investigative s;[aff and attorney notes, and documénts

'__collected from FINRA members and associéte_d persons. Together, these documents reflect
FTNR_A’S investigators’ strategy and the leads pursued in investigations.

6. FINRA goes to great lengths to proteét the conﬁdentiélity of the materials
qontained in its investigation files.. Inside FINRA, only persoﬁs directly related to the
investigation and the Enforcement action and their supervisors are allowed access to the
information contained in the investigation files. If FINRA were forced to disclose the contents
of its investigation files to non-parties in civil litigétion, before a disciplinary hearing on the
fnerits of the investigation, FINRA would be hindered from presenting its strongest possible

case.

NY01:230240,3 2
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7. FINRA’s investigative procediités are described in Sections 8000-8330 of
FINRA’s Manual. The Rules set forth in the Manual have been reviewed and approved by the
SEC. Under the Rﬁles, the target of a FINRA investigation is afforded certain procedural

protections, including access to certain investigation files, to wit, transcripts of their testimony

- and -documentary evidence fhey submiited to FINRA. In the event that formal charges are

brought against the targets of open investigations, they are granted access to certain investigation
'ﬁl;:s, including such documents as on the record interviews.

8. Pursuant to FINRA Code of Procedure section 9251(b), FINRA may withhold
from production privileged documents and documents that constitute attorney work product. An
accurate copy of the FINRA rules cited by FINRA in its memorandum is attached as Exhibit 1.

9. Beginning in January 2009 and continuing into early 2010, FINRA investigated

the activities of David L. Smith (“Smith”), Timothy L. McGinn (“McGinn” and together with

~ Smith, the “Defendants”), and their firm McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc. (“McGinn Smith” or the

“Firm”). The results of that investigation are summarized in FINRA’s complaint filed on or

about April 5, 2010 (the “FINRA Action”). An accurate copy of the complaint is attached as

| Exhibit 2.

10. A hearing on the merits in the FINRA Action is scheduled for May 2011 in
Albaﬁy, New York. |

11. As FINRA &iscovered potentially serious securities law violations committed by
the Defendants and their Firm, F INRA réferred the matter to the SEC pursuant to its general
authority to refer investigations.

12. I understand that on or about April 20, 2010, the Securities and Exchange

Commission (the “SEC”) filed a complaint against the Defendants, their Firm, and six other

NY01:230240.3 3
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corporation§“and investment companies related to the Firm (the “SEC Proceeding™).” I have

reviewed the SEC’s complaint, and an accurate copy of the complaint that I obtained from the

SEC’s website is attached as Exhibit 3.

13.  FINRA did not take direction from the SEC concerning FINRA’s investigation of

_ the Defendants and their Firm, nor did FINRA coordinate its on the record interviews of

defendants and others with the SEC. FINRA and the SEC did not exchange oiltiines, questions,

or documents with respect to testimony taken in either the FINRA Action or the SEC

_ Proceeding. rPursuant to its authority to refer investigations, FINRA provided the SEC with

copies of transcripts of relevant testimony after such testiniony had been taken in the FINRA

Action.

14. In the SEC Proceeding, the Defendants have subpoenaed for depositions four

FINRA employées (the “FINRA Employees™) working under my supervision and direction in the

FINRA Action (the “Subpoenas™). The Defendants have also asked the FINRA Employees to

~disclose the contents of FINRA’s files relating to its investigation of Defendants and their Firm

(the “McGinn Smith Investigative File”). I have reviewed and considered the Subpoenas, and

accurate copies of the Subpoenas are attached as Exhibit 4.
15. On August 19,2010, FINRA produced all of the requested documents to the

Defendants and their Firm as part of the FINRA Action, other than a limited number of

. documents withheld because they are protected by applicable privileges. For example, FINRA

produced to the Defendants on the record transcripts and tape recordings, as well as certain

documents and communications between FINRA and the SEC concerning the investigation of

McGinn Smiith.

NY01:230240.3 ‘ 4
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16. FINRA withheld frém. production Tiotes from interviews of investors taken in
connection with the FINRA Action, internal memoranda regarding the FINRA Action, internal
communications with and among FINRA’s Enforcement attorneys and investigative staff in
connection with the FINRA Action, internal examiner-prepared schedules in connection with the
FINRA Action, certain communications between FINRA staff and the SEC, including
communications containing privileged attachments, and a memorandum to the SEC regarding the
FINRA Action. All of these withheld documents are protected from disclosure by FINRA Code
of Procedure section 9251(b) and the ihvestigative privilege, and many are also protected by the
attorney-client and work product privileges. |
| 17.  Disclosure of the privileged withheld information, which is essentiai to FINRA’s
case against the Defendaﬁts_, would reveal the nature and direction of FINRA’s case to the
Defendants. It would also inevitably impair FINRA’s ability to present the strongest possible
case at the merits hearing next May.

18.  Forcing FINRA to disclose documents from its investigation couid also have a
negative precedential effect on other FINRA investigations. FINRA conducts thousands of
investigations each year. Whﬂe FINRA does not have subpoena authority, its rules give FINRA
- broad authority to obtain documents and testimony from regulated firms and persons, enabling
FINRA to obtain information of great regulator; value. If this information is also available on a
real-time basis to civil litigants, firms and associated pérsons are much more likely to oppose
FINRA investigative requests, thereby making FINRA’s investigations longer and more difficult
to conduct.

19.  In addition, the confidential nature of F INRA investigations may encourage

persons of whom FINRA is not aware, or over whom FINRA has no jurisdiction, to come

NY01:230240.3 5
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forward with ddtiiments and infbrmation that they would not otherwise provide, and oth&rs are
less likely to come forward, depriving FINRA of an important.source of regulatory information.
| 20.  Finally, responding to civil subpoenas for FINRA files would increase the burden
. on FINRA, which would be forced to divert investigative staff and other resources to respénd to
| subpoenas.

21.  The purpose of the Exchange Act’s authorization of FINRA to conduct the
McGinn Smith investigation and other iﬁvestigations is to enforce the Federal securities laws and
rules as well as FINRA and MSRB rules, thereby protecting investors. Forced .discllosure of
FINRA’s privileged ihvestigation files could prevent FINRA from presenting the strongest
possible case at the hearings on the merits of FINRA’s investigations. _The impact of disclosure
upon FINRA would far outweigh any value that the Defendants could gain from disclosuré of

. this information.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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1 declare under .penalty of perjury pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746 that the foregoing is true and

[ correct. .

Executed on: ?/557/0. ;% ’% g

o 7 o @és S. Shorris

NY01:230240.3 7
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9251, Inspedtion and Copying of Documents in Possession of Staff

{a) Documents to be Available for Inspection and Copying

(1) Unless otherwise provided by this Rule, or by order of the Hearing Officer, the Department of Enforcement or
the Department of Market Regulation shall make available for inspection and copying by any Respondent, Documents
prepared or obtained by Interested FINRA Staff in connection with the investigation that led to the institution of
proceedings. Such Documents include but are not limited to:

(A) requests for information issued pursuant to Rule 8210;

(B) every other written request directed to persons not employed by FINRA to provide Documents or {o be
interviewed;

(C) the Documents provided in response to any such requests described in (A) and (B) above;
(D} all transcripts and transcript exhibits: and 7
(E) all other Documents obtained from persons not employed by FINRA,
(2) fhe Department of Enforcement or the Department of Market Regulation shall prompﬂy infofm the Hearing
Officer and each other Party if, after the issuance of a complaint, requests for information under Rule 8210 are issued

. under the same investigative file number under which the investigation leading to the institution of disciplinary
preceedings was conducted. If Interested FINRA Staff receives Documenis pursuant to a request for information

 under Rule 8210 after Documents have been made available to a Respondent for inspection and copying as set forth

in paragraph (a), and if such Documents are material-and relevant to the disciplinary proceeding in which such
Respondent is a Party, the additional Documents shail be made available to the Respondent not later than 14 days

. after the Interested FINRA Staff receives such Documents. If a hearing on the merits is scheduled to begin, interested
FINRA Staff shall make the additional Documents available to the Respondent net less than ten days before the
hearing. If Interested FINRA Staff receives such Documents ten or fewer days hefore a hearing on the merits is
scheduled to begin or after such hearing begins, interested FINRA Staff shall make the additional Documents
available immediately to the Respondent.

‘ '(3)'Noth'ihg in paragraph (a)(1) shall limit the discretion of the Department of Enforcement or the Department of
Market Regulation to make available any other Document or the authority of the Heéaring Officer to order the
production.of any other Document. ’ '

(b) Documents That May Be Withheld |
(1) The Department of Enforcement or the Department of Market Regutation may withhold a Document if:
(A) the Document Is privileged or constitutes attorney work product:

(B) the Document is an examination or inspection report, an internal memorandum, or other note or writing
prepared by a FINRA employee that shall not be offered in evidence;

(C) the Document would disclose () an examination, investigatory or enforcement technique or guideline

of FINRA, a federal, state, or foreign regulatory authority, or a self-regulatory organization; (i) the identity of a
source, including a federal, state, or foreign regulatory authority or a self-regulatory organization that furnished

- information or was fumnished information on a confidential basis regarding an investigation, an examination, an
enforcement proceeding, or any other type of civil or criminal enforcement action; or (iii} an examinationzan
investigation, an enforcement proceeding, or any other type of civil or criminal enforcement action under =
consideration by, or initiated by, FINRA, a federal, state, or foreign regulatory authority, or a self-regulatory
organization; or

{D) the Hearing Officer grants leave to withhold a Document or category of Documents as not relevant to
the subject matter of the proceeding, or for other good cause shown.

" (2) Nothing in paragraph (b)(1) authorizes the Department of Enforcement or the Department of Market
Regulation to withhold a Document, or a part thereof, that contains material exculpatory evidence,

http://ﬁnra.complinet.com/en/display/display_main.html‘?rbid=2403 &element id=3941&p...~:9/30/2030: 5005
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1 Amended by SR-FINRA-2008-021 eff. Dec. 15, 2008.
{ Amended by SR-NASD-99-76 eff. Sept. 11, 2000.

| Adopted by SR-NASD-97-28 eff. Aug. 7, 1997.

{ Selected Notices: 00-56, 08.57.
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(c) Withheld Document List

The Hearing Officer may require the Department of Enforcement or the Department of Market Regulation to submiit to

" the Hearing Officer a list of Documents withheld pursuant to paragraphs (b)(1)(A) through (D) or to submit to the Hearing

Officer any Document withheld. Upon review, the Hearing Officer may order the Department of Enforcement or the.
Department of Market Regulation to make the list or any Document withheld available to the other Parties for inspection
and copying. A motion to require the Department of Enforcement or the Department of Market Regulation to produce a list
of Documents withheld pursuant to paragraph (b) shall be based upon some reason to believe that a Document is being
withheld in viclation of the Code.

(d) Timing of Inspection and Copying

The Hearing Officer shall determine the schedule of production of documents pursuant to this Rule. Unless otherwise
ordered by the Hearing Officer, the Department of Enforcement or the Department of Market Regulation shall commence
making Documents available to a Respondent for inspection and copying pursuant to this Rule not later than 21 days after
service of the Respondent's answer or, if there are multiple Respondents, not later than 21 days after the last timely answer
is filed. If a Respondent in a multi-Respondent case fails to answer, the Department of Enforcement or the Department of
-Market Regulation shall make Documents available to ail other Respondents not later than the later of:

(1) 21 days after the filing date of the last fimely answer, or
{2} the expiration of the second period provided for filing an answer as set forth in Rule 9215(f).
(e} Place and Time of Inspection and Copying

Documents subject to inspection and copying pursuant to this Rule shail be made avaitable to the Respondent for
inspection and copying at FINRA office where they are ordinarily maintained, or at such other FINRA office as the Hearing
Officer, in his or her discretion, shall designate, or as the Parties otherwise agree. A Respondent shall be given access to

the Documents at FINRA's offices during normal businiess hours. A Respondent shall not be given custody of the
.Documents or be permitted to remove the Documents from FINRA's offices.

() Copying Costs

A Respondent may obtain a photocopy of alf Documents made available for inspection. A Respondent Shal_l be .
responsible for the cost of photocopying. Unless otherwise ordered, charges for copies made at the request of a

Respondent shall be at a rate to be established by the FINRA or FINRA Regulafion Board.

{g} Failure to Make bocuments Availabie — Harmless Error

fn the event that a Document required to be made available to a Respondent pursuant to this Rule is not made
available by the Department of Enforcement or the Department of Market Regulation, no rehearing or amended decision of
a proceeding already heard or decided shall be required unless the Respondent establishes that the failure to make the
Document available was not harmless error. The Hearing Officer, or, upon appeal or review, a Subcommittee, an Extended
Proceeding Committee, or the Nationat Adjudicatory Council, shall determine whether the failure {o make the document "
available was not harmless error, applying applicable FINRA, SEC, and federal judicial precedent.

Amended by SR-NASD-97-81 eff. Jan. 16, 1998.

©2008 FINRA. All rights reserved.
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9252. Requests for Information
{a) Content and Timing of Requests

A Respondent who requests that FINRA invoke Rule 8210 to compel the production of Documents or testimony at the
hearing shall do so in writing and serve copies on all Parties. Such request shall: be submitted to the Hearing Officer no
later than 21 days before the scheduled hearing date; describe with specificity the Documents, the category or type of
Documents, or the testimony sought; state why the Documents, the category or type of Documents, or the testimony are
material; describe the requesting Party's previous efforts fo obtain the Documents, the category or type of Documents, or
the testimony through other means; and state whether the custodian of each Document, or the custodian of the eategory or -
type of Documents, or each proposed witness is subject to FINRA's jurisdiction.

{b) Standards for Issuance

A request that FINRA compe the production of Documents or testimony shall be granted only upon a showing that:
the information sought is refevant, material, and non-cumulative; the requesting Party has previously attempted in good
faith o obtain the desired Documents and testimony through other means but has been unsuccessful in such efforts; and
each of the persons from whom the Documents and festimony are sought is subject to FINRA's jurisdiction. In addition, the
Hearing Officer shall consider whether the request is unreasonable, oppressive, excessive in scope, or unduly
burdensome, and whether the request should be denied, limited, or modified.

{c) Limitations on Requests

if, after consideration of all the circumstances, the Hearing Officer determines that a request submitted pursuant to
this Rule is unreasonable, oppressive, excessive in scope;.or unduly burdensome, he or she shall deny the request, or
grant it only upon such conditions as fairness requires. In making the foregoing determination, the Hearing Officer may
" inquire of the other Parties whether they shall stipulate to the facts sought to be proved by the Documents or testimony
‘sought. if the Hearing Officer grants the request, the Hearing Officer shall order that requested Documents be produced to
- all Parties not less than ten days before the hearing, and order that witnesses whose testimony was requested appear and -
testify at the hearing. If the Hearing Officer grants the request ten or fewer days before a hearing on the merits is scheduled ;
to begin or after such hearing begins, the Documents or testimony shall be produced immediately to all Parties.

.| Amended by SR-FINRA-2008-021 eff. Dec. 15, 2008.
| Adopted by SR-NASD-97-28 eff. Aug. 7, 1997.

| Selected Notice: 08-57.

©2008 FINRA. Al rights reserved.
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FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY _

OFFICE OF HEARING OFFICERS

DEPARTMENT OF ENFORCEMENT,

COMPLAINANT,

v. DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING

NO0. 20090179845
MCGINN, SMITH & Co., INC.

(BD No. 8453),

DaAvID L. SMITH
(CRDNO. 427284),

AND

TIMOTHY M. MCGINN
" (CRD No. 813935),

RESPONDENTS.

Note for Electronic Transmission of this Complaint: The issuance of a disciplinary
complaint represents the initiation of a formal proceeding by FINRA in which findings as to the
allegations in the complaint have not been made and does not represent a decision as to any of

' the allegations contained in the complaint. Because this complaint is unadjudicated, interested
persons may wish to contact the respondent before drawing any conclusions regarding the
- allegations in the complaint. '

COMPLAINT
The Department of Enforcement alleges:
SUMMARY

1. From in or about September 2003 through in or about November 2006 (the Offering
- Period), McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc. (the Firm), acting through David L-Smith

{Smith), the President and an owner of the Firm, conducted four fraudulent

AT e A5
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~ exemption from registration. In offering the notes, the Firm and Smith ostensibly

- Note investors were promised that their funds would be earmarked for a broad array

owned, controlled, and/or in which they maintained a financial interest (the Related

- Tevenues, or were in poor financial condition, at the time they received the offering

Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS -DRH Document 192-3 Filed 11/17/10 Page 15 of 90

unregistered securities offerings involving the sale of approximately $89 million in
income notes. The notes were issued by four limited liability companies (hereafter

Income Note LLCs) managed and controlled by Smith.

. The income notes, which are securities, were not registered or eligible for an

relied upon the exemption provided by Rule 506 of the Securities Act of 1933
(Regulation D), That exemption, however, was not available because, among other
things, the four income note offerings had, individually and collectively, in excess of

35 non-accredited investors.

of public and private investments. Instead, Smith, acting on behalf of the investment
advisor for the Income Note LLCs, misused the majority of offering proceeds for his

own needs and to benefit entities that he, Timothy M. McGinn {McGinn) and/or TL

Entities). Moreover, most of the Related Entities were illiquid and had little orno

proceeds from the Income Note LLCs.

. Smith misused approximately $51 million of investor tunds, directing approximately

~$17 million to the Related Entities and approximately $34 million more to make loans

to those companies. Smith and the Related Entities received a direct financial benefit
from these transactions. For example, Smith received personal loans of , P
. g ’ . .

approXimately $590,000 from the Related Entities that were funded by investments

made in the Income Note LI.Cs. Smith controlled, and had an ownership interest in,




ahs
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the investment advisor for the Income Notes LLCs. The Firm, acting through Smith,
failed to disclose the related party transactions and lending activity to the income note

investors.

5. During the Offering Period, the Firm and Smith also misrepresented to investors that
the Firm would only rece_ivc a tv?o percent underwriting/commission fee from the
income note offerings. In fact, the Firm received recurring annual commissiotis from
the inception of the offerings, totaling approximately $7.5 million (approximately

eight percent of the offering proceeds).

6. The Incorﬁe Note LLCs defaulted on the income notes. In 2008, Smith sent two
letters to the income note holders misrepresenting that the Firm and two of the
Related Entities, McGinn, Smith Advisors, LLC, and McGinn, Smith Capital |
I—Ioldiﬁgs Corp. (the McGinn Smith Afﬁliateé), would waive or forgo further fees and
commissions due to the poor financial condition of the income noté issuers. Cénﬂ-ary
to those representationé, howéver, the Firm and therMcGinn Smith Affiliates

~ subsequently took approximately $6.7 million in fees and commissions.

7. Thrqughout the Offering Period, the Firm, acting through Smith, alsq failed to |
establish and méintain a supervisory system, and failed to‘establish, maintain and
enforce rwritten supervisory procedures that were reasonably designed to—achicve
_oompliance.with thé applicable securities laws and regulations and FINRA rules
applicable to private securities offerings and related suitabilitjf, disclosure,

. verification of investor accreditation status and other sales practice-related f\_l;s,_s;'l\lcs.

-:’.; i

8. Finally, in response to a FINRA request for information in September 2009, the Firm,

- -acting through Smith and fellow owner McGinn, provided the staff with falsified
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documents, submitting copies of backdated promissory notes for personal loans they
(and others) received from two of the Related Entities from October 2006 through

QOctober 2009.

* This conduct violated NASD Conduct Rules 21 10, 2120, 2330 and 3010, IM-2310-2,

and FINRA Rules 8210 and 2010, and willfully violated Section 10(b) of the

~ Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.

10.

RESPONDENTS AND JURISDICTION

The Firm has been 2 member of FINRA since January 9, 1981. It is based in Albany,

New York and conducts a general securities business. The Firm derives most of it

revenues from private offerings and investment advisory services. The Firm is owned

11.

12.

13.

by Smith (50%), McGinn (30%) and TL (20%).

Smith has been the President and part owner of the Firm since it became a FINRA:

‘member. On April 9, 1973, he first became regiétered with FINRA as a general

securities representative. Smith was.the Firm’s President and Chief Compliance -

Officer during _the time period of the violations alieged herein. On November 25,

- 1980, Smith also became registered with FINRA as a general securities principal.: He

holds several other securities licenses as well.

Smith is the President and 50% owner of McGinn Smith Holdings, LLC, the holding

‘company that owns McGinn Smith Capital Holdings Corp. and McGinn Smith

Advisors, LLC.

McGinn Smith Advisors, LLC was th_e@fsole owner and investment advisor for the_

e

Income Note LLCs. Those entities paid an annual advisory fee of 1% to McGinn

Rt
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Smith Advisors, LLC. McGinn Smith Capital Holdings Corp. received a 0.25%

annual “Servicing fee” from the Income Note LLCs.

14. McGinn has been the Chairman of the Board and part owner of the Firm since it

became a FINRA member. On October 18, 1975, he first became registered with

FINRA as a general securities representative. On November 25, 1980, he also

became registered as a general securities principal. McGinn is a 30% owner of

McGinn Smith Holdings, LLC.

15.The F irm, acting through Smith, sold approximately $89 million in income notes
through four private offerings. In offering the notes, the Firm and Smith ostensibly
relied upon the exemption provi&ed by Régulation D. The issuérs, First Independent
: | Income Notes, LLC, First Excelsior Ingome Notes, LLC, Third Aibany Income

‘Notes, LLC and First Advisory Income Notes, LLC, were created and managed by

OVERVIEW OF FRAUDULENT OFFERINGS

Smith.

16. The four offerings occurred from on or about September 25, 2003 through on or |

about November 15, 2006 and raised the following amouﬁts: 7

»  First Independent Income Notes, LLC (FINN)
Offering Period: Sept 2003 — December 2004
Approximately $20 million

. ® First Excelsior Income Notes, LLC (FEIN)

Offering Period: January 2004 - January 2005
Approximately $21 million

e | Thz‘rdAlbany Income Notes, LLC (TAIN) ‘
Offering Period: November 2004 - Dccember 2005

Approximately $30 million
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o First Advisory Income Notes, LLC (FAIN)
Offering Period: October 2005 — November 2006
Approximately $18 million
17. Although the offerings commenced during different periods, they overlapped with
each other insofar as, after the first of these offerings, there was always at least one or
rﬁore of the other offerings ongoing at the time a new offering commenced.
18. All of the note offerings had the same structure and were sold pursuant to a
“Conﬁdential Private rPlacement Memorandmﬁ” {PPM) that contained Viftually
identical disclosures, terms and information. Each investor was also required to

complete an Investor Questionnaire and Subscription Agreement.

19. A total of approximately 515 investors purchased notes in the four offerings.

20. The PPMs for all four offerings were preparéd at Smith’s diréction and were - | i
reviewed by him for accuracy prior to clommencement_ of each offering.
- 21. Bach issuer pffered the sain_e secﬁrity (and structure), providing for th_ree classes or
- tranches of income notés with‘diﬁ‘erent maturity dates and interest payments. _

“Secured Senior Notes” typically were due within one year and offered interest

payments of 5% to 6%, while “Secured _Senidr Subordinated Notes” and ‘;Sccured
. Junior Notes” matured within three to five y.éars and paid the highest interest ranging |
from 7.5% to 10.25%7 The Senior Subordinated Note hqldérs’ and Junior Note
- holders’ rights to receive payments were subordinated in rights of payinent to the
Senior Note holders. |
22. The PPMs promised investors that they would receive quarterly interestlpayments.
23. Aﬁer raising app-roiimatél‘;‘fg@ milliéh; ‘the Income the L1LCshave défaﬁlted on

the notes. The vast majority of the investments held by the Income Note LLCs are
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illiquid and non-performing. In 2008, Smith, acting on behalf of the Income Note
LILCs, stopped all redemptions and has only made reduced quarterly interest

payments to one of the three classes of income note holders.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

 MISUSE OF PROCEEDS
{ NASD ConDUCT RULES 2330 AND 2110)

24. The Department realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-23 above.
25. The PPMs that the Firm distributed to purchasers of the Income Note LLCs’ notes
promised investors that the_ir funds would be carmarked for a broad array of public
and private investments. Instead, Smith, acting on Behalf of the investment advisor
i for--th_e Income Note LLCs, misused the majority _of offering proceeds for his own

needs and to benefit the Related Entities.

26. From in or about November 2003 through in or about October 2007, Smith, acting on
behaif of the investment advisor for the Income Note LLCs, misused approximately
- $51 million of investor funds,' directing approximately $17 million to 3 Related

Entities and approximately $34 million more to make loans to 23 other Related

Entities.
27. Most of the Related Entities were illiquid and had little or no revenues, or were in
poor financial conditiori, at the time they received offering proceeds from the Income
. Note LLCs. Some of the Related Entities used those funds to make"req‘uired

payments to investors in earlier offerings involving the Firm, Smith and McGinn.

I o R %

MosPof the Income Note LLCs’ investments and loans in the Related Entities haﬁie‘é;"‘f

“not been profitable and have yielded limited or no returns.
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28. Approximately $22 million of the loans to the Related Entities have still not been

repaid.

29. The PPMs for the Income Note LLCs failed to disclose that the LLCs would be

 making investments in any of the Related Entitics.

30. The PPMs for the Income Note LLCs failed to disclose that the LLCs would be
making loans to any of the Related Entities.
| _ 31. Smith and the Firm received financial benefits from the transactions involving the
-Relat_ed Entities. For example, Smith. caused the Income Note LLCs to use the
iﬁcofne note offering proceeds for some the following loans and investments:
. approxunately $2 million in loans in October 2007 to 107A, an LLC solely '
owned by Mchn Smlth Holdmgs LLC. These funds were used to make |
qan investment in another private offering involving one of the Related
‘Enfities; This in?estrﬁent allowed that ‘entity to meet its minimum offering
requirement and breé.k éscrow-, thereby allowing the Firm to receive

' appr.oximately $635,000 in underwriting fees. This loan remains

‘7 f-outstandiﬁg; -
. aﬁpro_ximately— $7 million in léans_ from.in. or about Noveﬁber 2004 through
“inor dbout January 2007 to CCL, an LLC in which Smith held an ownersﬁip
interest and also served as director;
; | approximately $1 million in loans from in or about Méy 2004 through in or
about March 2007 to MSP a general partnershrp that Smith co-owned with 7 '

. ‘9?'1

: Mchn Over $500 000 of this loan remains outstandmg, and



Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS -DRH ‘Document 192-3 Filed 11/17/10 Page 22 of 90

. a total of approximately $875,000 used to purchase preferred srock in the
an from in or about December 2004 through in or about May 2006.
32. From in or about.September 2006 through in or about March 2007, Smith also
received personal loans ofapproximately $590,000 from the Relateel Entities that

were funded by investments made in the Income Note LLCs.

33. From in or about February 2007 through in or about March 2608, Smith also misused
oﬂ"ering proceeds from the Income Note LLCs to make loans between the various
LLCs totalmg approximately $1.38 million. For example, on or about February 5,
2007 TAIN lent FEIN approximately $450,000 using funds received from the

' income note offerings. Approximately $355,000 of this loan is stiil outstanding.

34. The PPMs for the Income Note LLCs failed to disclose that the LLCs would be

lending to, or borrowing from, each other.

35. By misusing offering funds, the Firm and Smith violated NASD Conduct Rules 2330

‘and 2110.

' SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
: OFFERING FRAUD: MISREPRESENTATIONS/OMISSIONS
(WILLFUL VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 10(B) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 10B-5
- THEREUNDER, NASD CONDUCT RULES 2120 AND 2110 AND IM- -2310-2)
36. The Department realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-35 above.

37. The Firm and Smith failed to disclose the folowing material facts in connection with

the four income note offerings:

¢ Ttic Income Note LLCs would invest in Related Entities; o Hh

* The Income Note LLCs would be making {oans to Related Entities;
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47. There were more than 35 non-accredited investors in each of the offerings, making

‘them ineligible for the claimed Rule 506 exemption.

48. Furthennore, the four note offerings were not separate and distinct, and were,
therefore, subject to integration because, among other things: .(i) each successive
note offering was issued prior to the previous note offerings reaching its maximum
offering amount; (2) the terms and structure of each of the four note offerings were

. virtualiy identical; and (3) for at least a portion of the Offering Period, investor:funds

were raised concurrently for all four offerings.

49. The four integrated offerings had a total of approximately 250 non-accredited

_investors, which also made them ineligible for the Rule 506 exemption.

50. 'By selling unregistered securitics, the Firm and Smith contravened Section 5 of the
Securities A_ét and thereby violated NASD Conduct Rule 2110.

" FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Misrepresentations/Omissions
(NASD' Conduct Rule 2110)

51; The Department reailegés and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-50 above.

- 52.0n or around January 25, 2008, Smith sent to the Junior Note holders of all four
Income Note LLCs a letter informing them that their annual interest rate would be
reduced from 10.25% to 5% due to the effects that market conditions and the credit -

7 crisis were purportedly having on the LLCs.

iy

53. In this letter, Smith misrepresented that the Firm and the McGinn Smith_ Affiliates,

which had been receiving fees/commissions from the Income Note LLCs, would

12
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“suspend” collection of further fees and commissions to assist the financial condition

of the LLCs.

54. In fact, the Firm and the McGinn Smith Affiliates continued to take fees and

commissions, collecting apprdximately $6.7 million from 2008 to 2010.

55. In 2008, the Firm stopped redemptions for all note holders of tlhe Income Note LLCs,
On October 22, 2008, Smith wrote a letter to all of the note holders advising them,
' aﬂmng other things, that the Income Note LLCs would be unable to redeem notes on
November 15, 2008, due to the illiquidity of the investments made by the LLCs.
Smith again blamed this development on, among other thi-ﬁgs, the “current con-dition

in financial credit markets” and the “liquidity crises.”

56. In this letter, Smith rcpreéented that the financial condition of the Income Note LLCs,
and their ability to repay investors would be ré—_eValuated the following year. The

letier also announced a restructuring of the notes that substantially extended the

| maturity dates on all classes of the income notes. -For example, the maturity dates for

the Junior Subordinated Notes, typically five years from puréhaée, were extended

- until August 2023.

57. This letier also outlined a restructuring plan for each of the income notes that
substantially extended the maturity dates for several years for each of the classes of

 the notes and unilaterally lowered the interest payments for each.

58. In the January 25, 2008 letter to Junior Note holders and the October 22, 2008 letter
to ;1]1 note holdé;i‘:;:s‘";' Smith failed to disclose that the basts for the Income Note LﬁLé's’

o poor financial condition was due, at least in part, to his decision to lend/invest the

13

£

@
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majority of investor funds in one of the illiquid Related Entities that had limited or no

- revenues or were in financial distress.

759. In his October 22, 2008 letter to note holders, Smith also misrepresented that the Firm

| and the McGinn Smith Affiliates would be making their own “sacrifices” and would
“forfeit” all annual fees and commissions as part of the proposed note restructuring to
““improve liquidity.” As noted above, this was a false statement; the Firm received
approximate'ly $6.7 million in fees and commission after this letter was sent to

investors.

60. By making misrepresenting and omitting facts in communications with investors,

Smith violated NASD Conduct Ruie 2110.

FirrH CAUSE OF ACTION

Supervisory Violations.
{(NASD Conduct Rules 3010 and 2110)

" 61. The Department realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-60 above.

- 62. From in or about 2003 through in or about 2008, the Firm’s primary revenues were
derived from private placements, including thé four income note offerings.

63, Dhring this p_erédd, fhe -Firm, éicting through Sﬁith, failed to establish aﬁd 'maintain'r‘a
supervisory system, and failed to establish, maintain and enforce written sﬁpervisors/ |
procedures, that were reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the applicabie.
seéuxities laws and .regulati-ons'and' FINRA rules applicablé to private securities

offermgs and related sultablhty, dxsc]osure venf cation of investor accredltatlon

z«y

status and other sales practlce~related 1ssues

14
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64

. As the Firm’s Chief Compliance Officer and a supervisory principal, Smith reviewed

and accepted the individual investments for the income note offerings. In doing so,

- Smith relied almost exclusively on the information provided in the Subscription

65.

Agreements and Purchaser Questionnaires submitted by each investor. There was no

information in those documents relating to the investor’s liquid net worth or other
investments; therefore, Smith had insufficient information to assess the suitability of

the investment.

Many of the investor documents that Smith approved were deficient. They were

incomplete or missing financial information necessary to ascertain whether the

investor was “accredited” under Regulation D or whether the investment was suitable.

After the investor subniitted the questionnaires to the Firm, many of them were
altered to increase the person’s reported net worth and/or income to qualify them as

accredited.

66. Smith knew, or should have known, that the documents had beenaltered. At the -

very least, the obvious alterations should have caused Smith to question the accuracy

of the documentation and whether the investor was accredited.

67. Smith failed to ensure that the forms were complete and accurate and to otherwise

- 68

.. Teprésented that invegtments would only be accepted from accredited i_nvcstbr,s. BT

respond reasonably under the circumstances. Instead, Smith continued to approve the

income note investments notwithstanding these deficiencies.

. As alleged above, the PPMs and Subscription Agreements for the income notes

- Nevertheless, Smith approved and accepted approximately 250 investments by non-

accredited investors.

15
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-69.

70.

71.

By failing to establish, maintain and/or enforce a supervisory system and written

_supervisory procedures that were reasonably designed to achieve compliance with all

applicable regulatory requirements with respect to the note offerings, the Firm and

Smith violated NASD Conduct Rules 3010 and 2110.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Providing False Documents to FINRA
(FINRA Rules 8210 and 2010)

The Department realleges and incbrporates by reference paragraphs 1-69 above.

On or about September 30, 2009, the staff sent a letter fo the Firm requesting,

pursuant to FINRA Rule 8210, all documentation concerning loans received by

-Smith, McGinn and other Firm employees from certain Related Entities, including

- TDMCEF, and CCV, two LLCs controlled by McGinn and Smith.

72

73.

74.

5.

On or about November 16, 2009, the Firm, acting through Smith-and McGinn,
submitted to FINRA staff copies of 23 promissory notes relating to loans that Smith

and McGinn received from TDMCF and CCV.

Six of the notes were signed by Smith as the borrower and related to loans that he had _

received from TDMCF and CCV.

Fourteen of the notes were signed by McGinn and related to loans that he had
received from TDMCF and CCV. The remaining notes were signed by MR, a Firm

registered representative.

Each of the promissory notes signed by the Firm, Smith and MR included a signature
date that was during the time period from in or about October 2006 through in or

about October 2009.

16
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_ 76 Each note contained information regarding the specificsof the notes, such as the
~ amount of the loan, intel;est rate, maturity date (in all cases the maturity date is six
' years from the date of the original loan). The final page on each promissory note
stated “IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Note has been executed and delivered on the

date specified above by the duly authorized representative of the Maker.”

77. This certification was false. In fact, the subject promissory notes that the Firm
provided- were actually prepared, dated and signed by McGihn, Smith and MR from

in or about November 2, 2009 through in or about November 15, 2009.

78. The Firm, Smith and McGinn provided the subject promissory notes to FINRA staff
knowing that the dates reflected thereon were false. Nevertheless, the Firm, Smith
‘and McGinn did not advise the FINRA staff that the copies of the promissory notes

;- ~ they produced to FINRA staff had been backdated.

- 79. By provi_ding false documents to FINRA staff, the Firm, Smith, and McGinn violated

FINRA Rules 8210 and 2010.
'~ RELIEF REQUESTED

= WHER_EF ORE, the Departmént réspectﬁllly requests tﬁat the Panel:.
G A. order that one or more of the sanctions._ provided under F iNRA-Rule 83 1(-)(a)‘ be
| imposed, including that Respondents McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc. and David L.
Smith be required to disgorge fully any and all ill-gotten gains and/or make ﬁJIl
and cc“)_m_plete restitution, together with interest;
B. i order.:s}:lzat the Respox;dents Bear such costs of proceeding as are deemed fair and

appropriate under the circumstances in accordance with FINRA Rule 8330; and

17
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C. make specific findings that Respondents McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc. and David L.
| Smith willfully violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5

- thereunder.

FINRA DEPARTMENT OF ENFORCEMENT

Dated: April 5, 2010 ﬂ/%( //L’/"/

Michael J. Newman, Senior Regional Counsel
John M. D’ Amico, Regional Chief Counsel
FINRA Department of Enforcement

381 Main Street, Suite 710

Woodbridge, NJ 07095

(732) 596-2030; Fax: (202) 721-6557
michael newman@finra.org
john.d’amico@finraorg

18
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EXHIBIT 3




Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS -DRH Document 192-3 Filed 11/17/10 Page 31 of 90

GEORGE S. CANELLOS

REGIONAL DIRECTOR

Attorney for Plaintiff

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
New York Regional Office

3 World Financial Center

New York, NY 10281-1022

(212) 336-0174 (Stoelting)

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff, :
v. ' : 10 Civ. )
. McGINN, SMITH & CO., INC., EE
MeGINN, SMITH ADVISORS, LLC, : COMPLAINT

McGINN, SMITH CAPITAL HOLDINGS CORP.,
FIRST ADVISORY INCOME NOTES, LLC,
FIRST EXCELSIOR INCOME NOTES, LLC, : : _
FIRST INDEPENDENT INCOME NOTES, LLC, : JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
THIRD ALBANY INCOME NOTES, LLC, : '
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN, AND g
DAVID L. SMITH, ‘ : :
' Defendants, and :
LYNN A. SMITH,

Reliéf Defendant,

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) for its complaint
| agéinst McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc. (“MS & Co.” » McGinn, Smith- Advisors, LLC (“MS
Advisors”), McGinn, Smith Capital Holdings Corb. (“MS Capital”), F irsf Advisory Income
. N{_Qtes, LLC (“FAIN?), First Excelsior Income Notes, LLC (“FEIN”), First Inc_lgggpdent Income
| Notes, LLC (“FIIN"), Third Albany Income Notes, LLC (“TAIN™) (FIIN, FEIN, 'FAIN and

TAIN are referred to collectively herein as the “Four Funds™), Timothy M. McGinn (“McGinn™),
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and David L. Smith (“Smith™), Defendants, and Lynn A. Smith, Relief Defendant, alleges as _

follows:

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS

1. The Commission brings this action to stop an ongoing fraud orchestrated by
-defendants McGinn, Smith and entities they control. Since 2003, McGinn aﬁd Smith have used
- MS& Co., a registered broker-dealer and investment adviser, MS Adbvisors, an investment
advisor, and MS Capital, as well as dozens of affiliated entities they own or control (collectively,
“the McGinn Smith Entities™), to raise over $136 million in more than 20 unregislered debt
| offerings. The debt offerings, including the Four Funds and numerous trust entities (the
“Tnists"’), have been sold to more than 900 investors. The offering fraud already has caused
significant investor losses, and this emergcncy action is intended to stop t-lle fraud and preserve
the status quo for the benefit of the victims. - |
2. McGinn, Srllith, MS & Co., MS Advisors and MS Capital deceived investors in the
-Four Funds. They told investors that their l1ard~earned money would be invested and that the
profits would depeod on the spread between the cost of the investment and the rate of return.
In_stead, the Defendants secretly funneled investor money to entities they owned or controllod,
| even though this was not permitted by offering materials. Defendants concealed from investors -
the truth about the Four Funds, including the fact that investor money was being routed to in- |
house entities controlled by Smith and McGinn ancl to other non-public and 'illiquid investments,
.ar'xd that these actions were having a disastrous impact on the investors.
3. Inaddition to the Four Funds, Smith and Mchn dlrected a series of smaller-scale
oy . . . LML
offermgs prxmarlly through‘ varlous Trustish The Trusts also were used as vehicles to funnel -

investor funds to various companies controlled by Smith and McGinn, contrary to the ferms of .
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fhe- Private Placement Memoranda (PPMs)'. Investor money raised in offerings for the Trusts
was routinely diverted to other McGinﬁ Smith entities as liquidity needs of the enterprise
- dictated. The Defendants also used offering proceeds to make unauthorized investments in and
unsecured loans to speculative, ﬁnanc'ially troubled McGinn Sniith Entities, to make MS & Co.’s
_payroll, to pay commission and transaction fees to McGinn Smith Entities, to make interest
payments to investors in other entities, to support McGinn’s and Smith’s lifestyle, and to procure
strippers for a “sexually themed” cruise. o

4. The Defendants’ misrepresentations and omissions have had a devastating impact
en the investors. In 2009, Smith and McGinn received e-mails telling them the inyestors-Were

- ‘wondering “if they’ve bought into a Ponzi Scheme,” and a MS&Co. broker reported to McGinn

. and Smith that there are “many people who refer to our deals as a Ponzi Scheme.”

5. Asof September 2009, it appears that investors in the four Funds were owed at

. l‘ea.s-t $84 million, that the Foue Funds had less than $500,000 in eash on haﬁd,_ and thet their
remaining assets were worth only a small fracti.en of the amount owed to investors. Similarly,
the Trusts have a negatwe equity of approx1mately $ 18 mllhon and have never had the ability to

_ pay the interest rates promoted to investors and also pay back prmmpal Nonetheless Mchn

and Smlt_h have continued to raise money from investors, using' similar misrepresentations, as
recently as December 2009. Durixfg the first few fnonths of 2010, eontrary to representations fo
investors, McGinn and Smith have continued to drain what little casfl remains through payment
~ of “fees” to themselves.

6.  Inorder to halt the ongoing fraud maintain the status quo and preserve any assets
IR Y it o

for m_]ured mvestors the Commlssmn seeks emergency rehef mcludmg an asset freeze a

receiver over the McGinn Smith Entities; expedited discovery; and verlﬁed accountings.
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VIOLATIONS
'By virtue of the conduct alleged herein: | |
7. MS&Co,MS Advisors, .MS Capital, McGinn and Smith, directly or indirectly, |
singly or in concert, have engaged, are engaging, and unless restraine,d and enjoined will
continue to engage in acts, practices, schemes and courses of business that constitute violations
of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities 'Acf’) f15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)] and
Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)]
and Rule 10b-5 thereundet[17 C.F.R § 240.10b-5];
8.  MS & Co., MS Advisors, McGinn arid Smith directly or indirectly, singly or in
concert, have engaged, are engaging, and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to engage
' m acts, pr,actiées, schemes and courses of busing:ss that constitute violations of Sectionﬁ 206 ( 1),
.. 200(2) and 206(4) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (the*“Advisers Act”) {15 US.C. §§
80b-6(1)(2) and (6)] and Rule 206(4)-5 théreﬁnde_r [17CF.R. §275.’206(4)—8];
9. _ FAIN, FEIN, FIIN and TAIN have violated, are violating, and, upless restrained | |
 and enjoined, will continue to violate Section 7(a) of the Investment Company Act of 1940
. (“Company Act”) [15 US.C. § 80a-7];
10. | MS & Co., MS Capital, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, and TAIN, McGinn and Smith
directly or indirectly, Asinng/.' -or in concert, have violated, are violating, and unless rest_rained and
_enjoined wil_I continue to violate Sections 5'(aj and 5(c) of the Securities Actf15 U.S.C. § 77¢};
11.  MS & Co. violated, is vioIating and, unless restrained and enjoined, will continue
to VIOIate Sectlon 15(c) (1) of the Exchange Act[I5US.C. § 78(0)(1)] and Rule 10b-3 [17

}. "‘S.L

" CFR. § 240.10b-3], and Mchn and Smith have aided and abetted such violation; and
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12. Lynn Smith, as relief defendant, has received and retained ill gotten gains from

defendaﬁts’ fraud.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE | S

13. The .Commission brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred upon it by
Section 20(b) of the Securities Act [15 US.C. § 77f(b)], Section 21(d)(1) of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(1)], Section 209(d) of the Advisers Act, [15 U.S.C. §80b-9(d)] and Section
42(&) of the Company Act [15 U.S.C, §80a—41(d)] seeking a final judgment: (i) restraining and
permanenﬂy enjoining the defendants from engaging in the acts, practices and courses of "
. business respectfully alleged against them herein; (ii) ordering defendants to disgorge any ill-
_l _gotteﬁ gains and to pay prejudgment interest thereon, jointly and severally; (iii) prohibiting
McGinn from acting as an officer or director of any is:;uer that has a class of selcurities registered
_pursﬂaﬁnt to Section _12 ;f the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §781] or jhat is required to file reports
N pﬁréuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchénge Act[15US.C. §7So(d)]; and('iv)__imposmg civil |
money penalties on all defendants pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §

77i(d)], Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)], Section 209(e) of the

Advisers Act{15U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)], and Séction 42(e) of the Company Act [15 U.S.C. § 80a-
41 | ' |
7 .14. This Court has jurisdiction ove.r this action pursuant fo Sections 20(b) aﬁd 22(a) of
the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b) and 77v(a)], Sections 21(e) and 27 of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(e) and 78aa], Sections 42 and 44 of the Company Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 80a-41
- and 80a§2f:3:] and Sections 209 and 214 of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-9 and 80b+44]..
15. Venue lies in the Northern District of New York, pursuant to VSec-tion 22 (a) of the |

~ Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77v(a}], Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78aa], Section
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44 of the Company Act [15 U.S.C. § 80a-43] and Section 214 of the Advisers Act [I5US.C. §
'80b-14]. The Defendants, diréctly or indirectly, singly or in concert, have madé use of the means
- and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the mails, in connection with the transactions,
acts, practices, and courses of business alleged herein. Certain of these transactions, acts,

practices, and courses of business occurred in the Northern District of New York. For example,

the main offices of MS & Co., MS Advisors, MS Capital, the Four F unds, and the various Trusts.

were locéted in Albany, New York and ali of the Defendants, including McGinn ahd Smith,
transacted business at those offices.

DEFENDANTS

16. Timothy M. McGinn, age 62, is a resident of Schenectady, New York. He is the
chairmgn, secretary, and co-owner of MS & Co. as well as treasurer and indirect co-owner of MS
Advisors. From 2003 to 2006, McGinn served as Chief Executive Officer of Integrated Alarm
.Services Group, Inc; (“IASG”), a publicly traded cémpany. He left IASG and retumed tb MS |
& Co. in the fall of 2006. |

17. Dévid L. Smith, age 65, is a resident of Saratoga Spririgs, New York. He is the |
president of MS & Co. and the managing member of MS Advisors. Until 2007, Smith also was
the chief corﬁpliancé officer of MS & Co. Smith owns about 50% of MS & Co. and about 50%
of MS Advisors. | |

18. McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc. (“MS & Co.”), a registered broker-dealer and New
York corporation founded in 1981 by Smith and McGinn, has its principal place of business at |
99 Pine Street, Albany, NY. Itis currently owned by Smith (50%), McGinn (30%), another |
parfner (“Pe-lrtner 3”) (about15%) ;n§ a fourth pa;t};:er (“Partner 4”) (about 5%). In April 2609, -l

- MS & Co. registered with the Commission as an investment adviser, and replaced MS Advisors




Case 1:10-cv-0045?-GLS -DRH Document 192-3 Filed 11/17/10 Page 37 of 90

as the adviser to the Funds. Throughout 2009, MS & Co. had about 53 cmpioyees, including

* about 35 registered representatives, and branch offices in Clifton Park, Manhattan and Boca

Raton. On December 24, 2009, MS & Co. filed a partial BD—W_and has been winding down

much of its broker-dealer business. On March 9, 2010, it also withdrew its investment adviser

‘registration.

19. MocGinn Smith Advisors, LY.C (“MS Advisors”) is a New York corporation with
its principal place of business at 99 Pine St_regt, Albaﬁy, New York. MS Advisors is a Who_lly-.
owned subsidiary of McGinn, Smith Holdings LLC, which is owned 50% by Smith, 30% by
McGinn and 20% by MS Partners. MS Advisors was registered as an investment advisor with
the Commission from January 3, 2006 to April 24, 2009. It was the investment adviser to all of
the Funds until April 2009, when it was replaced by- MS & Co. o

20. McGinn, Smi'th-Capital Holdings Corp. (“MS Capital”) is a New York

. corporation with its principal place of business at 99 Pine Streét, Albany, New York. It-is owned

rby MS Holdings LLC (52%), McGinn (24%) and Smith (24%). It is the indenture trustee for the

Funds and the trustee for all the Trusts created between 2006 and 2009. Smith is president and

McGinn is chairman of the board. |

_ 21.  First Independent Income Notes LLC (“FIIN”); First Eqﬁity Iné(;me'Notes ,
LLC (“FEIN"); First Albany Income Notes LLC (“FAIN”) and Third Albany Income
Notes LLC (“TAIN”) are New York corporations and unregistered investment companies with

their principal places of business at 99 Pine Street, Albany, New York. They are wholiy-owued

by MS Advisors.
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RELIEF DEFENDANT

22.  Lynn A. Smith, age 64, is the wife of Da\(id Smith and a resident of Saratoga
Springs, New York.
| FACTS

23.  McGinn and Smith founded MS & Co. in 1980 and the firm registered as a broker-

dealer in 1981. McGinn sold 40% of his interest in MS & Co to Partner 3 in 2003 when he

became the chief executive officer of IASG, but he returned to MS & Co. in 2006. Since then,

he and Smith have actively controlled virtﬁally every aspect of the McGinn Smith Entities’

operations.

The Four Funds
24, Between September 2003 and October 2005, MS Advisors formed FAIN, FEIN,

FIIN and TAIN, MS Advisors held 100% of the membership interest in each Fund and was their

sole managing member. MS Advisors also served as investment adviser to.the Four Funds.

Smith was responsible for the majority of the investment decisions for the Funds. Among other

functions, McGinn served as signatory on behalf of various McGinn Smith Entities that received

-loans from the Fuﬁds. s

25. MBS & Co. acted as the placement ageht_for debt offerings by the Four Funds,
raising a total of approximatély $90 million. MS Capital served as Trustee and Sefvicing Agent
for each of the Four Funds. The Funds each had between 150 and 300 investors.

26.- Each Fund invested more than 40% of its assets in securities. MS & Co. was

* required to, but did not, register each of the Funds as investment companies.

P
¥

i

27. The terms of the offeriné;by the Four Funds, as disclosed in their “Confidential

Private Placement Memoranda (“PPMs™), are summarized below:




Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS -DRH Document 192-3  Filed 11/17/10 Page 39-0f 90

AGGREGATE

TYPES OF NOTES SOLD

OFFERING | DATE OF PPM
PRINCIPAL
AMOUNT
FIIN Sept. 15, 2003 $20 million 5% Secured Senior Notes due 2004

7.5% Secured Senior Subordinated
Notes due 2008
10.25% Secured Junior Notes due 2008

FEIN

Jan. 16, 2004

~$20 million

5% Secured Senior Notes due 2005
7.5% Secured Senior Subordinated
Notes due 2007

10.25% Secured Junior Notes due 2009

{ TAIN

Nov. 1, 2004

$30 million

5.75% Secured Senior Notes due 2005
7.75% Secured Senior Subordmated

-| Notes due 2007

10.25% Secured Junior Notes due 2009

FAIN

Oct. 1, 2005

$20 million

6% Secured Senior Notes due 2005
7.75% Secured Senior Subordinated
Notes due 2007

10.25% Secured Junior Notes due 2010

28.  Bach note holder was entitled to quarterly interest payments. The Secured Senior

Subordinated and Secured Junior Note holders® rights to payments were subordinated to the

rights of the Senior Secured Note holders.

 29.  The PPMs contained essentially identical disclosures, terms and conditions. They

were prepared at Smith’s direction and were reviewed by him for accuracy prior to

commencement of each offering. Each PPM disclosed that the issuer was:

formed to identify and acquire various public and/or private investments, which
may include, without limitation, debt securities, collateralized debt obligations,
bonds, equity securities, trust preferreds, collateralized stock, convertible stock,
bridge loans, leases, mortgages, equipment leases, securitized cash flow
instruments, and any other i mvestments that may add value to our portfoho

30. Although the PPMs include broad disclosures about the risks of investing in the

. Four Funds, the disclosures regardmg potential affiliated transactlons aside from payment of fees

¥ B

and commissions to affiliates, was hmlted to the follovag language

i.s"“ He

-

[The F und] may acquire Investments from our managing member or an affiliate of
our managing member that has purchased the Investments. If the Investment is
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purchased from our managing member or any affiliate, we will not pay above the
price paid by our managing member or such affiliate for the Investment, other
than to reimburse our managing member or such affiliate for its costs and any
discounts that it may have received by virtue of a special arrangement or
relationship. In other words, if we purchase an Investment from our managing

. member or any of its affiliates, we will pay the same price for the Investment that
we would have paid if we had purchased the Investment directly. We may also
purchase securities from issuers in offerings for which McGinn, Smith & Co., is
acting as underwriter or placement agent and for which McGinn, Smith & Co.
will receive a commission. :

- 31.  The PPMs did not disclose that the Funds would make any loans to, transfers, or

- investments in, affiliated entities.

32.  The Funds increasingly made unauthorized loans and transfers to and investments

in affiliated McGinn Smith Entities. By Septembér 2009, approximately one-half of all Funds

‘assets had been loaned to or invested in affiliated, often cash poor and financially desperate

McGinn Smith Entities. The PPMs suggested that the Funds were created to identify and invest
in a wide spectrum of public and private inv:estménts that would “add valueto our portfolio.” In
fact, the Funds served the more limited purpose of loaning or investing the majority of their

Funds in financially troubled McGinn Smith Entities. Only about $3.6 million qf the

 approximately $106 million raised by the Four Funds was invested in liquid, publicly traded

companies.

33. The PPMs did not disclose that most of the McGinn Smith Entities were illiquid, |

~ had little or no revenues, or were in poor financial condition when they received the proceeds

from the Four Fund offerings. The investments appear to have been preceded by little due
diligence (none of which was done by persons independent of MS & Co.). The investments were

generally dictated by liquidity needs of the: McGinn Smith.Entities.

".’,

34. For example, between 2005 and 20(_)7, MS Advisors caused three of the Funds to

loan nearly $8 million to alseT IP, a start-up entity partly owned and managed by Partner 3. At

10
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least $700,000 of fhose loans was imfnediately transferred to Partner 3 as. salary. AlseT never
ma.de a penny, and never repaid any of the loans. By December 2067, an internal MS & Co.
email shows that the chief financial officer placed the value of the Funds’ loans to alseT ét Zero.
Nonetheless, MS Advisors caused two of the Funds to “loan” alseT an additional $250,000 in
' Febru.ary 2008, so that alseT could make additional payments to certain individuals.

35. By no later than 2006, as the Defendants knew or fccklessly disregarded that the
Four Funds could not redeem i:_wéstor notes when'they became due. For example, on December
21, 2006, an MS & Co. employee sent an email to Smith telling him that a TAIN investor wanted

to re&eem $100,000 in TAIN nbtes due December 15, 2006 and purchase $100,000 in one of the

Trusts (TDM 9.25%). Smith replied that the broker “needs to replace the $100,000 before doing -

the trade.” He continued: “I am running on fumes with all of these redemptions and cannot
afford any more.”

.' 36. By the énd éf 2007, each éf the Funds had aireédy pa_id ouf millions miore than the
Fuﬁds had received in income from investments. As of September 30, 2009, since inception the
Funds had revenues bf only $12.9 million and spent a total of $37 million, for a combined total
loss from operations éf $24 million. - |

' 37.A By the. end of 2007, the Funds’ assets were worth a__ﬁaction of the amount owed to
* investors. According to an analysis in December 2007 by MS & Co.’s then-chief financial

officer, the combined “book value” of the F unds was then only $69,384,870 compared to total

notes payable of $86,046,000. Moreover, the CFO calculated that the “net realizable” amount in -

the Funds combined as only $37,160,299 , nearly $48.9 million less than the amount owed to

R T L t.[’d_,_",_ R

investors. Nonetheless, the Funds continued to raisc money from investors without disclosing

' _ these facts.

11
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Additional Misrepresentations and Omissions

38. On Januéry 13, 2005, Smith wrote to a prospective investor that the purpose of TAIN

'“is to make investments, primarily in the form of secured loans, to private and public entities for

purposes that include acquisition, equipment purchases, receivable financing and general corporate
growth.” At the time Smith wrote this Ietter,-TAIN had made three investments. Only one of those

three investments was secured, a loan for only $830,000 out of a total of $13.1 million in

outstanding investments.

39.  Smith steered another investor away from investing in blue chip stocks like General
Electric as too risky, and told him that the Fund private placements were safer investments.
40. On Jul_y 6, 2004, an MS & Co. broker told a prospective investor that:

The [FEIN] Notes represent a basket of asset backed securities with substantial
cash flow, a history of performance and limited liquidity in the marketplace. The

. portfolio includes securities from both the public and private sector. Asset classes
consist of bonds, notes, preferred stock, leases, mortgages, limited partnerships,

~and securitized cash flow instruments. Our most active market of ideas comes
from small private placements ($25 - $50 million) offered by investment banks
primarily to institutional investors. We take comfort in these ideas due to the fact
that these offerings are usually proceeded [sic] with substantial due diligence,
scrutinized by product and industry professionals, and underwritten by top-tier
investment banking firms with an ongoing capability to assist with additional

~ capital if necessary. . . . I feel this investment is a great way for you to earn an
attractive yield while minimizing risk.

41. Infact, the “basket” of securities in which FEIN invested consisted mostly of
promissory notes from MS & Co. affiliates that did not have “substantial cash flow” or “a history
of performance.” There is no evidence that any of the investments in FEIN resulted from “small

private placements . . . offered by investment banks primarily to institutional investors”, There is

no evidence of any “due diligence,” “scrutin[y] by product and.industry professionals,” or

underwriting by “top-tier investment banking firms™ for any of the investments made by the Four

Funds at any time.

12
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4. In addition, MS & Co. did not provide other investors with the relevant PPM prior to
their investments. |

43.  In order to maintain sufficient monies in the.Funds to continue to make interest
payments, MS and Co. encouraged investors to rollover their notes when they became due. Asa
result, Defendants were able to use what was, in effect, principal, to continue to make periodic

interest payments.

Four Funds Restructuring
44. By as early as 2007, McGinn and Smith generally refused to honor investors’
requests for the retum of principal at the maturity of the notes, unless the customer’s broker was

able to find a new investor to replace the outgoing investor.

45. In January 2008, Smith sent a letter to certain Fund .investors Stating that the Funds
had run into difficulty, which he falsely' and misleadingly b!amed as “primarily on liquidity”
 caused by the subprime crisis. In Apnl 2008, Smlth sent a seeond letter mformmg Fond
investors that the problems cited in the January letter have “become more acute” and that,
because two 1nvestments had eliminated their dividends or ceased distributions, the F unds were .

“forced” to eliminate the interest payments to Secured Junior Notes holders for the quarter The

- letter also noted that MS Advisors had been advised by counsel that “chstrlbutlons at this time
._ quite probably refiect a return of capital and not interest, and therefore distributions at this time
. might be considered an invasion of principal due to the Senior and Senior Subordinated Note
~holders. This is a result of not knowing how and where to price our investments in these very
illiquid markets.”

sl i wa .

46. -In October 2008, Smith sent a letter to all Four Funds’® note holders that falsely and

Lol

misleadingly blamed the financial condition of the Funds on, among other things, the “current

13
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~condition of the financial credit markets” and “financial crisis.” It further stated that “the lack of
liquidity in the credit markets . . . is the major issue that impacts your investment in the [Funds].”
47.  These statements by Smith were false or misleading. The letters did not mention
that affiliates of MS & Co., many of which were insolvent, owed the Funds tens of millions of
dollars. These letters also omitted the material information that the value of the Funds’ assets-
was only 50 % dr less of the amount owed investors, and falsely suggested that note holders had
areasonable proepeet of eventually receiving their principal, pursuant to the resfructuring elans. '
48.  The purported restructuring plan extended the maturity ciates of the notes, some
until 2023, and unilaterally reduced interest payments for all the note tranches. Since the 2008
restructuring, MS Advisors has made_only reduced interest payments to the Seeured Senior Note
holders.
~ %49, Smith also mlsrepresented that MS & Co. and the McGinn Smith Entities would be
' -makmg their own “sacrifices” and would “forfeit” all annual fees and commissions as part of the -
note restructuring to “improve hquldlty.” In fact, MS & Co. received approx1mately $700,000 in
fees in 2009 and $275,000 in fees in 2010, after this letter was sent. V
- 50. Notwithstanding the insolvency of the Fupds, MS & .Co.. eontinued tosell and
rollover invesfefs’ notes in these Fundé., including junior notes. Internal MS & Co. documents
show new and roilover investments, including investments By customers of Smith, of at least
$736,500 in 2008 and $130,500 in 2009. The firm apparently used these new investments in part
to permit certain preferred investors to cash out. |
51. Despxte the dire condition of the Funds Smlth and McGinn and MS Adv1sors

¥ 13 1.

continued to divert the remaining moneys in the Funds to other ﬁnanmally troubled McGinn

14




Case 1:iO-cv-00457-GLS -DRH Document 192-3 Filed 11/17/10 Page 45 of 90

Smith Entities, such as Cruise Charter Ventures LLC (“CCV™) and_TDM Luxury Cruise Trust 07
(“TDM Luxury™). |

52. The PPMs also stated that the notes were being offered only to “accredited
investors.” By MS & Co.’s own records, however, the Four Funds each had many unaccredited
investors. ‘According to MS & Co.’s records, as of March 20, 2006, FAIN had 30 unaccrédited
7 investors; F EIN had 46 unaccredited investors; FIIN had 31 unaccredited investors; and TAIN
" had 75 unaécrcdited_ investors. |

THE TRUST OFFERINGS

53. Between 2006 and 2009, MS & Co. acted as placement agent for: four rFirs’cline Jr.
and St. Trusts 07 offerings '(“Firstline Trusts ), TDM Cable Trust 06 (“TDM Cable 06”),TDM
| Luxury Cruise Trust 07 (“TDM Cruise”j, TDM Verifier Trust 07 (‘;Veriﬁer 077), TDM Verifier
Trusf 08 (“Verifier 08”); Cruise Charter Ventare Trust 08 (“CCV Trust”™), Fortress Trust 08
(“Fortrcss Trust™), Integrated Excellence rJr. and Sr, Trustsr 08, TDM Cable Tru_st 08; TDM

Verifier Trust 09; TDMM Benchmark Trust 09 (“Benchmark 09"), TDMM Cable Jr. and Sr.

Trusts 09 (“TDMM Cable 097), TDM Verifier Trust 07R; and TDM Verifier Trust 0R and
other offerings, including affiliate McGinn Smith Transaction F undéng Corp. (“MS'IF’;). .

54. - The Trusts issued o_né o.f rﬁore tranches of notes and.promoted interest rates fanging ,
from 7.75 % t013% per annum. Maturity dates varied from approximately 15 months fo five years
from the date of the offering.

55. Many of the Trusts were created to loan the offering proceeds; minus placement agent

fces to another McGinn Sm1th Entlty (“the Conduit Entlty”) which would then use those funds

_!e.._.

minus substant1al additional fees to purchase specific contracts or recelvables from a third entity,

such as contracts for burglar alarm services or “triple play” (broadband, cable and telephone)

15
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services, or luxury cruise chartem. The Trusts were generally left with only a promissory note and a
“security” intercst in the asscts to be purchased by the Conduit Entity.

56.  The Declaration of Trust typically defined “Permitted Investments” to mean a
“promissory note (“the Note™) e\?iderlcing a loan from the Trust to [the particular Conduit Entity].
In addition, to the extent not employed for the loan from the Trust to [the Conduit Entity],_ the
Declaration permitted temporary investments limited to (1) certificates of deposit; (2) regularly

traded short term AAA rated debt obligations; or (3) U.S. Treasury obligations.

The PPMs Misled Investors As to The True Purpose of the Trusts
57.  The true purpose of the Trusts was to structure a series of transactions that would
alxlow various McGinn Smith Entities to siphon off millions of dollars in {ransaction fees and
commissions and to serve the -intcresf of McGinn Smith Entities, not the Trust investors. MS & |

Co. extracted enormous fees from these Trust deals, which were not clearly disclosed inthe PPMs.

* The Trusts rypicaily paid placement agent fees to MS & Co. of 5% 10 9.5%. When the Trusts

_transferred funds fo the Conduit Enﬁty, that entity paid .large fees to MS & Co. that were variously

.charactcrlzed as, among other things, “trust administration fees,” “acqms:tlon costs,” “investment
~bankmg fees,” “legal fees ” and “clue dlhgence fees.” Those fees were sometlmes as much as 20%
or more of the gross proceeds of the offermg |

| 58.  Although many of these fees were dlsclosed in the Trust PPMs, the PPMs failed to

disclose that certain of these fees, commissions or transaction costs overstated the true market value

- of'the services performed, were unnecessary or were paid for services not performed or not

pcrformed with the customary degree of professional care a.nd due dlhgence

¢1

59. The PPMS also falled to disclose that, contrary to the terins of the Trust PPMs,

large‘- portions of the proceeds would be diverted to financially struggling McGinn Smith Entities,

16
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. repay principal, given the large percentage of proceeds siphoned off in commissions and
transaction fees by McGinn Smith Entities before any investments were made, combined with

- unauthorized loans to affiliated entities.

to TDMM Cable Funding, Whlch would use the Ioan proceeds to purchase the operating assets
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commingled with the offering proceeds of other Trusts, used to pay interest and principal to |

 investors in other Trusts and to keep the financially failing McGinn Smith fraud scheme afloat.

60. While the Trust PPMs often disclosed that there “was a high degree of risk”
associated with the investment, the PPMs failed to disclose that it was virtually certain that the

Trusts would not be able to meet their obligations to pay the promised interest payments or to

61. McGinn and Smith have fraudulently maintained the iltusion of success by funding

interest payments with prmcnpal raised in other Trust offermgs at the expense of these investors.

The followmg examples demonstrate how the Trusts have been used to benefit the McGinn

-Smith Entities, at the expense of Trust mvestorS'

Benchmark 09 Trust PPM. Mlsrepresented How Proceeds Would Be Used

62.  On about July 27, 2009, MS & Co. launched an offermg for the Benchmark 09

Trust. The PPM states that approximately $1,950,000 of the $3 mitlion raised would be loaned '

s 'a.nd “trlple play” contracts of Benchmark LLC ‘I‘DMM Cable Fundmg would then purportedly

use the earnings from this investment in Benchmark LLC to repay prmc1paI and interést due on

the loan from the Benchmark 09 Trust.

63. According to the PPM, MS & Co.’s fees and expenses would total $1,050,000, or

: 34% of the oﬁ"ermg proceeds.

64, Conttary to the representatlons in the PPM, the net proceeds of the offermg were

used for many unauthorized purposes. For example, notwithstanding the PPM’s representation

17
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that money loaned by the Trust to TDMM Cable Funding would be used to acquire the assets of
‘Benchmark LLC, McGinn directed that some of the money in the TDMM Cable Funding
account be diverted to affiliated entities, including TDM Cable 06 and TDM Verifier 07 and
TDMM Cable Sr Trust. Those funds were presumably used to pay “interest” to the various
| Trusts investors.
65.  The Benchmark 09 Trust promised investors 10.5% interest on the notes, with a .

materity date of five years. Given that defendants took 34% of the proceeds to themselves in fees
- and diverted additional monies to affiliated entities in unauthorized transfers, their representation
that investors would be repaid out of the investment in Benchmark LLC was false, and McGinn,
'anith, MS & Co. and MS Capital knew, or recklessly disregarded, that this represeﬁtation was
false. Nevertheless, McGinn contieued to personally raise money for this offering as recently as
Deeember 10, 2009. ' _ _ | e

The TDMM Cable Trnst 09

_66. On January 19, 2009, MS & Co. launched an offermg of $1,550,000 of 9.00%

three-year notes in TDMM Cable Semor Trust 09 (“Senior 09 Tranche”) and an offermg of
' -,$1,325,000 of 11% 54-month notes in TDMM Cable VJu‘mor Trust 09 (“J umm:' 09 Tranche,”
coiiectively “TDMM Cable 09’_’).j The Senior and Junior offerings sold out.

| 67.  The PPM stated that after MS & Co. took a placement egent fee of 5% of the
'emount raised for Senior 09 Tranche an'd 8% of the amount raised for Junior 09 Tranche, the
* . balance, about-$2.7- Ieillion, would be loaned to TDM Cable Funding, which would usé the
| proceeds to acqulre all the operating assets and customer contracts of Broadband Solutions LLC
and HipNET LLC (both of which purportedly provided “trlple play” service to communities in -

-Florida). The PPMs also state that TDM Cable Funding would pay MS & Co. an additional

18
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$400,000 for “acquisition negotiations, legal and due diligence activities™- making MS & Co.’s
total fee $583,500 or 20.3% of the gross proceeds of the offeri.ng.

68. Not satisfied with the disclosed fees, MS & Co. used a total of 'at.]east 54% of the
funds raised to: (i) make payments to McGinn, McGinn’s son, Smith, reiiefdefendant Lynn
Smith, MS Partner 4 and an AIbany politician; (ii) to cover MS & Co.’s payroll between January
and April 2009; and (iii) to pay investors in other Trust entities. The folloWing is a summary of
| McGinn’s misuse use of TDMM Cable 09 investor funds:

69. During January 2009, MS & Co. raised the ﬁrsf $554,000 from investors for the
Senior 09 Tranche. On January 30, 2009, McGinn transferred $475,000 from the Trust to TDM
Cable Funding, and transferred $413,000 from the TDM Cable Fundmg to MS & Co., where it
was immediately used to cover the ﬁrm s payroll

70. 1In February 2009 McGinn again transferred large sums of money from the TDMM
- Cable Senior Trust account to TDM Cable F unding and then to MS & Co to make MS & Co.’s |
| mld-February and end of February payroll. The followmg months, McGinn again transferred
substantial amounts from the TDMM Cable 09 Trust accounts to MS & Co. to cover the March
" 31 and Aprll 30. payrolls

71. McGinn also transferred a total of at least $99, 000 to McGinn’s personal account;
more than $21,000 to McGinn’s son (apparently a lawyer who worked for MS & Co.); more than
$10.5,000 to a MS & Co. affiliate called Mr. Cranberry; $18,750 to an Albany politician’s law
firm; at least $70,000 to MSTF: $26,500 to Verifier 07; $10,000 to Firstline Trust; $25,000 to a
senior MS & Co. ofﬁcer $24,000 1o Smlth and more than $335,000 to Smith’s wife, relief

defendant Lynn Smlth

19
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72.  The transfers described above total $ 1,646,040 -- nearly three times the fees to
‘which MS & Co. Entities were entitled pursuant to the PPMs, and more than half of the gross

offering proceeds.

The Verifier 08 Trust

73.  In December 2007, MS & Co. launched an offering for the TDM Verifier 08 Trust.
Verifier 08 offered up to $3.85 million in 18-month notes and 36-month notes, with returns of
8.5% and 10%, respectively. The offering sold out.
| 74. The PPM represented that the net proceeds of the Trust, $3,484,500, (after
subtraction of MS and Co. 9.5% fee of $365,750) were to be “advanced” by the Trust to McGinn
| Smith Funding .LLC (“MS Funding”) for the purpose of purchasing $3,000,000 face value of
R “guaranteed payment lunitss’ issued bi/ Veriﬁer Capital LLC, a company that “provides capital to
security alarm-dealers by purchasing some or all of their security alarm monitoring accounts® A
‘seriior .managing- -directof—éf MS & Co, was the Chaiﬁnan and 1.2.5% owﬁer of Verifier Capital
| iLLC. |
75.  The Trust has had to borrow money from other McGinn Smith Entities to make its
: | scﬁedu led interest payments; | |
76.  Verifier 08 investors were deceived about the success of the V.eriﬁef 08 Trust_-with
thé ﬁrsf quarterly “interest” payment, which was actually a return of iﬁﬁestor'capital.
77.  Thereafter, in order to make quarterly interest payments to Verifier 08 investors,
tﬁe Verifier 08 Trust repeatedly borrow.ed. funds from other MS Entities. Furthermore, despite
having income insufficient to make inte;rest payments to investors, the Trust made numerous

-“-unauthcrized loans to other MS Entities.

20
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The CCV Trust

78. McGinn, MS Capital and MS & Co. also deceifred investors into unwittingly
investing in a sexually-oriented charter cruise venture created by McGinn. In February'2008,
MS & Co. launched a $3,250,000 note offering for an entity 50% owned by an MS & Co.
affiliate cailed CCV. The PPM stated that CCV “is engaged in the business of procuring whole
ship charters and selling the bcrthé to various affinity groups.” The PPM stated that the net
proceeds of the offering would be used to charter a ship and to “underwrite the marketing, sales
and administrative expenses associated with selling [the] berths .f(;r the crﬁise.”

79.  The PPM did not disclose that CCV operated u;lder the name YOLO (Y ou Only
Live Once) Cruises, that the affinity group was sexually oriented, that strippers aﬁd go-go
dancers would be pro;:ured to entertain'passengers, that investor money rwlould be used to buy

insurance for these individuals and that YOLO was rurby a woman with whom McGinn was

" romantically involved.

80.  The PPM failed to disclose that instead of marketing charters to an unlimited

variety of “affinity groups™ as represented, the charters would ohly be marketed to 2 narrow

 niche of potentlal customers mterested in crulses “mvolvmg sexually themed activities among

' and between consenting adults” (as belatedly disclosed in a PPM for a later oﬂ'ermg) and that the

charters would involve legally and morally questionable activities that investors mlght not want
to be assomated with.

81.  McGinn was the managing member of CCV. He was involved in its day-to-day
operations and was keenly interested in the activities aboard the cruise. McGinn ‘?bonﬁwed”

from other Trusts and Funds to fund CCV.
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-and McGinn diverted the proceeds as needed to meet the cash needs of other McGinn Smith

TDMM Cable 09 offerings to TDM Cable Fﬁnding, and then transferred those funds to MS &
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86. A December 7, 2009 email to McGinn reveals that Firstline loaned another

McGinn: Smith affiliated entity, known as Mr. Cranben'y, more than $2.27 million. Mr.

“Cranberry does not appear to be involved in the security alarm business.

MS & Co. Did Not Disclose that the Proceeds Would Be Commingled.-

87. A common feature of most of the Trust offerings was that the proceeds -~ rather
than being direcﬂy invested -- were “loaned” to an intermediate entity, most often TDM Cable
Funding (see, e.g. Verifier 07 (for the éurchase of alarm contract receivables); TDM Luxury
(luxury cabin cruise receivables); and TDM Cable 06 and TDMM C;lble 09 Junior.and Senior

(triple play receivables). However, instead of using the proceeds for the stated purpose, Smith

Entities.

' 88. . Asalleged above, on several occasions, McGinn transferred funds raised in the

Co. for payroll.

McGinn and Smith Have Taken Large Personal “Loans” from Various McGinn
Smith Entities ' o

89. McGinn, Slﬁith and apothcr-senior MS &. Co. employec frequently received |
substantial “loans” from the McGinn Smith Entities. Between Octéber 2006 and Octobér _2009,.
TDM Cable Fun&ing “loaned” McGinn $830’,341, Smith $694,000, and the senior MS & Co.
employee $563,000, for a total of nearly $2.1 million. None of these Iéans'has; been repaid, and
it does not appear that any rir-lterest has ever been paid.
90. McGinn and Smith each took‘é $200,000 loan from the Firstline Trust. Firstline M

Securities filed for bankruptcy a few months after the four Firstline offerings raised about $7
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million. Although Firstline Trust investors are owed $5.9 million, McGinn and Smith have not
repaid the loans.

91. McGinn also authorized the following addftional personal loans, none of which
were evidenced by loan documentation: (i) from NEI, a McGinn Smith Entity, to Smith totaling
$360,000, to the senior MS & Co. emﬁloyee totaling $285,000 and to McGinn totaIing $340,000;
and (ii) from TDMM Cable Funding to Smith totaling $74,000, to the senior MS & Co. |

employee totaling $25,000 and to McGinn totaling $82,500.

McGinn and Smith Sﬁbmitted Backdated Documents to FINRA
92, While under investigation by FINRA, McGinn, Smith and MS & Co. submitted

numerous backdated promissory notes after FINRA requested loan documentation during its

£xam.

MS &*Co. Has Paid for Luxurles for Smith and McGinn and Transferred L
Funds to Smith’s Wife

93. From at Ieast January 2004 through at least December 2008, MS & Co. made

monthly payments on two cars for Smith (a Lexus and a Mercedes) totaling about $89,000,

_including payments of about $17,000 in each of 2007 and 2008. MS & Co. made monthly

payments on McGinn’s behalf to exclusive country clubs, including the Schuyler Meadows Club,

 the Fort Orange Club and the .Pine Tree Golf Club. In 2007 and 2008 alone, those payments

“totaled more than $22,000.

94. MS Capltal transferred $335 000 to accounts in the name of Smith’s wife, relief

A defendant Lynn Smith. "Lynn Smith recelvcd many other payments from McGinn Smith

‘Entities.£On May 4, 2009, for example, Smith directed that a $100,000:check be issuedito his

wife’s account at National Financial Services. Smith also testified that his salary was generally

‘paid to his wife, Lynn.

24




Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS -DRH Document 192-3  Filed 11/17/10 Page 54 of 90

Iﬁe Misuse of Funds and Deception Has Become More Desperate
95.  The audited financial statements for MS & Co. for 2008 state that the firm had a

loss of more than $1.8 million, and includes a “going concern” clause-._ Virtually 'efrery day in
2009, McGinn obtained from his accounting staff a summary of the cash available in the bank

accounts controlled by MS & Co., and a report of the immediate “funding needs.” The
| documentary evidence reveals a constant moverneﬁt of money among dozens of MS & Co.
 affiliates and scores of bank accounts, designed to use any cash available to satisfy the most

pressin'g‘ funding needs — primarily the firm’s payroll, and payments to the personal accounts of
" McGinn and Smith, along with interest payments and redemption requests by investors

threatening to complain to authorities.

~ 96. Internal MS & Co. emails in 2009, including many by McGinn and Smith, reveal é _

- constant need to raise millions of dollars, a growing desperatm‘n to make payroll meet interest
-payrﬂents and éssuage investors complammg of a Ponzi scheme in order to keep their house: of
A | cards from collapsing. For example, on F¢bmary 24, 2009, Smith emailed McGinn regarding an
upcoming payroll. He stated: “We-have been living 6n the edge for some _u‘;ime and Tim’s deals
: _-ﬁave kept us alive by fronting our _pfoﬁt. However, the $200,000 -+ that we are iosing every
month is jﬁst too difficult to keep pace with.” On February 25, .2009, another MS & Co. Partner 3
| emailed A_Smith: “In our many conversations over the last yeaf, I came to undefstaqd the depths to
which the firm has sunk relative to its revenue.” The liquidity problems were so sevefe that one
- outside broker wa§ forced to invest $10,000 of his own money so one of his elderly customers
éould be redeemed.
' e ¥ S

97. Notwnthstandmg these financial woés, McGinn and Smlth contmued to SOlIClt

investors for the Four Funds and the Trusts throughout 2609 and into 2010, using the original
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SEVEN TH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Relief Defendant)

140.  Paragraphs 1 through 139 are realleged and incorporated and incorporated by
reference as if set forth fully herein.
141. Relief .Defeedant Lynn A. Smith was a recipient, without consideration, of
proceeds of the fraudulent and illegal sales of securities alleged above. The Rehef Defendant
' proﬁted from such recelpt or from the  fraudulent and illegal sales of securities alleged above by
obtalmng illegal proceeds under circumstances in which it is not just, equitable, or conscionable
_.for her to retain the illegal proceeds. Consequently, Lynn Smith has been named as a Rellef
Defendant for the amount of proceeds by which she has been unj ustly enriched as a result of the
fraudulent scheme or iliegal sales transactions. |
142. By reason of the foregving, Lynn Smith should dlsgorge her ill- gotten gams plus
' pre_]udgment mterest -

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WI{E_‘,_REFORE, the Commission respeetﬁllly requests that the Court grant.;the following
relief:
| L
Enter a Final Jud_gmenf finding that the Defendants each violated the seeurities laws and

rules promulgated thereunder as alleged against them herein;

1I.

o .
2y ol

‘A- 4 e
Enter an Order temporarily and preliminarily, and a Final Judgment permanentiy,

restraining and enjoining the Defendants and their agents, servants, employees and attorneys and
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- such extension of time as the Commission staff agrees in writing or as otherwise ordered by the
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alllpersons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of the
injunction by personal service or otherwise, and each of them, from committing future violations
of each of the securities laws and rules promulgated thereunder, or alternatively, from aiding and .

abetting such future violations, as respcctively alleged against them herein.
L.

An Order freezing the assets of the Defendants, the Relief Defendant, and éll McGinn

‘Smith Entities pending further Order of the Court.

IV.
An Order apfointing temporary and preliminary receivers over the Defendants and all
McGinn Smith Entities.
“ 1v.
An Order-dirccting the Defcndﬁhts, the Relief rDefer;(:iant and all,McGihn Smith Entities

to file with this Court and serve upon the Commission, within three (3) businéss days, or within

Court, a verified writter_l accounting, signgd bf cach of them under penalty of perjury.
An Order permitting expedited discovery.
VL.
An Order permanently restraining and cn_joihing the Defendants, the Relief Defendant,

‘the McGinn Smith Entities and any person or entity acting at their direction or on their behalf,

from destroying, altering, concealing, or otherwise interfering with the access of the Commission

to relevant documents, books and records.
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A Final Judgment directing the Defendanté and the Relief Defendant to disgorge their ill- |

gotten gains, plus prejudgment interest. |
VI[[..

A Final Judgment directing the Defendants to pay -civiI money penalties pursuant to
Sec.tion 20(d) of the Securities Act [15.U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange
Act [15U.S.C. § 78u(d)3)]. |

IX.

A Final Judgment permanently prohibiting McGinh from acting as an officer or director

of any issuer that has a class of secﬁrities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act

- [15 U.S.C. §781] or that is required to file reports pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act

[15 US.C. §780(d)]; .

TR it 3 . : ' s e

34



Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS -DRH Document 192-3 Filed 11/17/10 Page 58 of 90

<
Gfanting such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.

Dated: New York, New York
April 20, 2010 ' :

' s/ David Stoelting
Attorney Bar Number: 516163
Attorney for Plaintiff
Securities and Exchange Commission
3 World Financial Center, Room 400
New York, NY 10281
Telephone: (212) 336-0174
Fax: (212) 336-1324

- E-mail: stoeltingd@sec.gov

Of Counsel:
Andrew Calamari
Michael Paley
Kevin McGrath
Lara Mehreban
Linda Arnold
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SCHEBULEA

» _
& Communieation. The term “comumunication® mensy the tansmittal of
information (in the formn of facts, idaaé, inquiries or Gtherivise).
5. Doommept, Theterm “document” s used héreln shall mean and include all trye
copics, all originaly and alf non-identicat éopies, whether different fom ihe original by
satson of slterations or notations iuade on such copies or otherwise, whether in draft or
fing} fosin, selnding Hut not Timited fo: Tetters of other correspondencs; mamoranda;
spread sheets; reporis; aotes; Coniracts; agreements; proposals; telegtams; tefexes; # mxm,
ezec!mmc mail of eanafl; cables; mﬁgzmns messages; file folders; lists; schedules;

-tbles: mdﬁ:es, ianseripis; affidavits; bibylafing; ﬂmm; calendars; aalyses; instant

-mmg;agw; comgiarisons; records; books; booklets; ciroufars; bulletins: nolices; records or
recotdings of teiep‘ﬁoge orother cofversations, nont“m-mces' oF mestings; photographs; |
il 'i:mhm@ éatéic'gs; iitstrocony; charts; graplis; video or rudio tapey; compiiter
iapes and disks and CD ROMs; [VI¥s orother alﬂmnfic data compilations. The tann

“document” also moans #ny offier written, recorded, transeribed, punched, printed, typed,
taped, filmed or g‘&pﬁm mntter, however wduw& or reproduced. The term “document™

reflecty, refers to or refates fo any document fhe proiuction of which is-suught hereunder,

A draf or nog-identical copy is & separate docunesnt within the memnisg of this ferm_

c. Identify (with respect tg ,pgrsuné), When refersing to a pason, "to identify”

rdesns io gwe, to the exient known, the person's full name, present or last ktiowii address

and wleahone numiber and when referring io a natural person, a&dmmz;uv the present o
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dast kanown place of eniployment. Once & person bas bees identified in aceordence with
this subparagraph, only the nsine of that parsott nieed be listed in response 1o subsequent
discovery requésting thie ideniification of that person,
4 Idantity [with respeet 6 docments), When re referring o docprents,
"to identify” meary to give, to the extent knows, the (5} type of document; (i)} general
- subject matter; {iiiy date of the aacnmmt, {i%) nuithor(s}, addresese(s) and regipient(s) and
{v) custodian of the docurient,
.e:r Poraon, -‘Iihe term "person™ I3 defined ag #ny natoral person ot any business ; Tegal
or gwementﬁi enfity or association, '
f Loneerning or Relafing #n. The term “concemning® or “relating 0™ meang
pertaitiing to, referving to, degeribing, shasing, analyzing, reflecting, evidencing or
. cotistituting. ‘
g | AmdfOr, Thet fermg “and™ and “of” shaft be construed erﬂwes siug;m ively or
cgn}wwtzvelyas necessary {o bring within the scope of the discovery request all
Tespienses that might otherwise be constened to be ouiside of iy seape.
| b Yrodues, W}xan referrinig 1o docoments, “prodice® g™ means to make avatlable for
inspection and copying, or altermatively, fo-defiverlegible copiesto couvisel pmpanm;fng
- theserequesis, afl responsive docaments within your possession, custody or control, AJI
. documents o be produced st be praduced withsin: the tine allocated fo respond to these
voquests,
i FINRA. The terin “FINRA® shall iiean the Finaneial nidugiry Regulatory
| Authority,

j- MeGinn Smith, The term “MeGinn Smiﬂx"’_shan;ancGimz, Smith & Co,,
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Inc,, its officers, directors, employees, agents, sffiliates, subsidiarics, related entities,

successers, assigns, and representatives. |

k. MeGinn The term “MoGing™ shell mean Tistothy M. McGiin, his affiliates,

employees, associates, agents and repregentatives, _

i. Smith. Thetenm “Smith” shall mean David I, Slmth, Hig afﬁhatﬁ cmployees,

associsies, agents and representatives.

m Invesior, Theterm ‘fiavestor" shall menn any person, 3313 orher affiliates,
| eaaplayees, associstes, agen's and representaiives, or any entity, its officers; directors,

enployess, parkuers, agents, affilises, subsidiaries, related entities, Successors, assigns,

and veprosentafives who rade fuvestments or purchised products, services, or securities,
inctuding but withont Hinitstion, andaterestin FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAT, orthe Trusts,
through MeGinn Smith, |

n . FAIN. The term “FATN™ shiall tnean First Advisory Ixzéome?{ozeé, 11 dts

ruentbers, employess, agents, affifiates, subsidiarics, relsted ¢ntiffes, SuCeBIsors, assigns,

- Tepresentatives,

o  FEIN, Thetsim “FRON" shull mean First Excelsior Inconie Notes, LLC, its
menbes, einployees, sgents, affiliates, szi&siﬁiaiiw,-mi&téﬁ entities, sucteasors, assiéﬁ%,
. ead represeniatives, | | .

p- PN, The térm HETIN® shali maﬁn First Independent Iﬂcb!z_aeNatﬁ, LIC, its
membess, employees, agents, affiliates, suﬁsicii'axics,- relaied entities, snobasgors, Hssigns,
and repregentalives,

q. TAIN. The ferm “TATN shall mean Thied Albany Incomie Notes, LLC, #is

gmbers, employges, agents, affiliates, subsidiarics, refated entities, successots, assigily




o
.z,
L5
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and represersntives,
I Trusts. Thotorm “‘I‘zﬁsts” shell mean the Firstline Jr. and St, Trusts 07
offerings, TOM Cabie Trust 06, THM Lugury Criise Tiust 07, TDM Verifier Trust 07,
TDOM Verifier Trust 08, Crutse Charter Venture Trust 08, Fodresy T:ust 08, Integrated
Excellenca Ir. and Sr. Trusts 08, TOM Cable Txué.t 08, TDM Verifier Trust 69, TDMM
Benchimark Trost 09, TDMM Cable Jr, and Sr. Trusts 09, TDM Verifier Trust O7R, or
TOM Verifier Tenst :'}S'R. |
5. BEC, 'The ternt “SEC shalt tnean e United Statey Securities and Exchange
Commission.
Instruciions
i Ifany information or docusent reguesied Izmm is withheld from production for
any feason, state iizar rason, gnd ieatly fie nfiomation or docament,
u, ‘Whers an obhizction is made to any Reguest, tie objection shs}zstaie with
 spevificify all grounds for the abjection,
v, Wheroadofense or clabm ofprivilege is ssserted in-objeition o any Reqnest, voy
arsdiregted to provide a complete statement of fise factual aid logal basis of the cimm of

-t

privilege. _
Cw. W any information o éamenﬁeqncsfed, or any portion thereof, is not known to
o ymz orignotin Your possession, tnstody or confrol, but v known or beixeved by you to |
be Imown byorin tthassmmﬂ ot ¢ontrol of another person ot entity,. identify the
person of estity kiiowa orbelieved by you to kunow the information or Have: posséssion,
custody or mntm_? of the information or docutnent,
. ThesoRequests shll be decmed contifuing and shall equire furthecand
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T

supplersertsl response by you in the event that you discover or obtain additional
resnﬂnswe mformaﬁﬂn of documents betweet the time ofthe inftial tésmnsa and the

tirme the actfon iy conciuded,

LY

Reoueeis

Documants provided by Investors fo FINRA selating 46 MeGing Smith, Smith, MeGinn, -

FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN sind the Trusts,

Dogutients canceming communications between FINRA traployees and Investore

Telating to McGina Sumith, Smith, MoGinn, FAIN, ¥EIN, FIIN, TAIN; and the Truats, _
inciuding but withont Emitation, smails, fixes, and jetters,

Dovuments eoncening communicaticng betwecnm cmpioyeas and the 8EC
reiatmg to MeGinn Smiih, Smith, MeGim, FAIN, FERN, FIN TAEJ and the Trists,

incuding but withont lumtahon, emails, faxes, and Istters,

_Afﬁdmis or adty other sworn statements pravided fo FINRA z‘clazmg {0 hdoGinn Sriith,

SBmith, McGia, FA}N FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, and the Trusts,
Recoidings of transcriptions of xecordings of commmications between FINRA and

- Tnvestors refating to Mc{“imnsﬂzziﬁ, Smxtﬁ, Woling, FAIN, FEIN, FIN, TATN, and ﬂie‘

Trusts.
Recordings or transeripiions of recordin 25 Investors provided to FINRA relating to
commiinications between Investors aad MoGinn Smith, Sorith, or MoGim conceriing
any Investments held af McGinn Smiﬁi, or PAm FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, and the Trusts,

£=%




Tl
s
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- 8. Internal reporss sslating to MeGinn Smith, Smith, MeGinn, FAIN, FEIN, FOIN, TAIN,

and the Trusts, | |

. Records demonsteafing fhe time, frequenoy and duration of comutiumicstions with
Investors, |

20. Documsnts reflecting aft fnvestors FINRA contected or sttenipted to contact,

1. Documents reflecting the list known centact informiation for ail Investors FINRA,
-contacted or attempied o contact, tnclnding but withont Hnitation, addresses, phone
‘numibers, fax sitmnbets, and email addressos.

12. Docurnents reflecting testimony faken fom Investors. 7

12. Documents coneming communigations betwesa FINRA eunployees and the SEC
solating 16 McGing Smith, Sith, MefGing, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, sud the Trusty,
including but wzﬁmﬂt Hisiitation, alf docnments fom FINRA, referring informiation
gﬁmae& infsi mvwchgatwn of B M’cﬁzm Stiith, Snrith; Mﬂﬁ!ﬂﬁ, FAIN, FEIN, ;FHN,

TATH, and the Trusis o the SBC,
14. Notes of cﬁmuaicgﬁans between FINRA employees and the SEC relating to MeGinn
Sutith, Setft, MoCing, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, and the Trosts, -

Intzmai reports reflecting cemmcatmn mnong FINRA nmnloyees relating to MeGinn
szth Smith, MsGmn,FAlN FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, and the Trists,

16, Iaternai teports refiecting communications among FINRA employees relating to. the

refma! of FINRA's investigation of ‘\dﬁ(}iﬁn Stnith, Smith, McGing, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN,
TAIN, and thie Trusts to the SEC.
17. Bocumsnts tonceming cqz’rﬁmﬁii&eﬁm between FINRA ‘:szhpioym and the Department

- of Justics concerning Joseph Bruno, including Wilwithout Hmithién, cotamunitations
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with persons affiliated with the United States Attornoys’ Office for the Northern District
- ofNew York.

18: Decuments concerning eonununieations betwoon KINRA eiployecs and the Depariment
of Justice concerning MeGim Stait Swith, McGirn, FAIN, FER, FIIN, TAIN, and the
Tiusts, ingluding bt writhnst 3 Hrivitgtion, conuntnicaiions with persons affilfated with the
United States Attormsys® Offics for the Nositem Diswictof i‘daw’&'ﬂri:
18. Docnments concerming Thomas B, ﬁvings:on 7
26, Documests concetning sormivinications bebween FINRA &inloyses mz& Thomss B.
-Livingston or his agents, _
21, Documends wiihﬁéi& from production in FINRA Disciplinaty Proceeding No.
7 2000017984501 pursuant to 4 ciaim of i mvesﬁg&tw; priviies, ;.e
22 BPocuments which identify e&dxaﬂd avery FINRA employeo whe m@g@d in

coninfunications with the SEC releting to McGiun Sith, Suih, MocGins, FAIN, FEDN,
28. Docements whidk identify each and every FINRA, eployee who was Involved 3 fhe

iitveasxgﬁ"ﬁﬁ of Mctiinn Smith, Senith, Mdszs, FARY, BEIN, FIIN, TAIN, aud ﬁ;e
Trusts,

i
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RS SO AN PRI A Sy

Bank of America

‘ ACH RIT 021200339 14692
4 &K INVESTIGATIVE SERVICES INC., o Sl
SOMEFW!LLE.'NJ 08976 2//-4] / /O
PRLTS “"E%W Cf W//'ﬂm%/f) | §7/-00
\;\ ﬁﬂfﬁ&’]?’?j &/?L AA'KZW;&/ M"/ DOLLARS §

MEMQ%:&_ S0 ]4@

FOLLES 2 GO02L20033% 0095068 300L 5
;;‘11?\#21“ $h‘t;ai'., Smw *° ’
wmmg;,mams

f} _,‘..:"ﬁd ARE COMMANDED ko apprar int o Umied Smies'ﬁisaietﬁourmt thaplare, date, and fipe: spsclﬁ'ed heiowle tcs!ﬁin ﬂienhavc asn

PLACE OF TESTIMDNY COURTROONM

T

[E] Y"OUARB Cervzmmst}tommﬂmplmm aned mnemﬁum:zwm msﬂij. m ﬂm!skﬁ:gafpd&pmm T o hoave anse

© PLACE DATE AND TToE TIME
Gusnc, Raplan, Brtno & Nasbaun PLLC Dtéhar &, 2050
120 Wall Strect j 930w,
Mew' Youk, Mew York 10005

T YOU ARE COMMANDED tn produes and p— inspceﬁon Snicopying e FToWIng Gocaments of oo a{mepiaee, itz and Tt

specifiud Sdlow {!%sammmmch;wts} .

FLACE BATEANBT%ME

Guszae, Kapli, Brano & Kushmes PLIL § Gotabsr 1,2000

$20 Wall Sticet Fpam.

Tew York, New York 10065 ) N
5ed bolow.

!

i1 YG’L!AREmwmm&snmpmnxﬂmn%efd!ewmgpmsesazﬁ:eéawardm _
" DATEANDTME .

'nxmssas

&nyargxnizaﬂan 0L A sty b G118 St Hhat 14 s.lbpdenmd mrt!zatakﬂgg ofa dqmﬂtmn shell dmgmtw;me o oo DERCESS, duéclow, urﬁsanagmg
agents, or gther fresHIs Who corisent fo-testify orl 714 behalf, and may sot forih, for each parson Ssipaated, the Matters on which the pasols will

_festify, Federal Ridles of il Procoturs, SUH)E). .
"T35UING OEFICER BIGH wasamm{mmrﬁmAﬂaRmFak BATE
PLAINTIFZEIR DEFENDAAT, . -

. F Bepteinber 13, 2010
Afiorgy or | jeteadons Dxmcll.. Smimm*rmomm'mc&m 7 ] o o

1550 FEICER'S MAME, ADDRESS AND PhONE MUMBER
Alison B. Cohen, E3g.

Girieas, Waplse; Bioas & Nusbaum PLLC

130 Wall Strect

Hew Yorit, New York, IGD{}S
Q160

v (g

oL

(Eo Ruteds, Fodtral foales of Cril Provedure, Pars © & D o Hoxt Fage)
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T e fssued b}“ the
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN BISTRICT OF NEW YORK
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, S _
Plainift, 10-857 {GLS/DRIY)
 {Pending inike United States District Coust for e Nositiern
District of New York)
_ _ _ SUBPOENA IN A CIVIL CASE

MeGINN, SMITH & €O, INC., et al., _

Defendants.

LYNN A. SMITH, and NANCY McGINN,
' Relief Defondunts, and

DAVID M. WOTESKI, Tatstos of the David L and
Lynn A. Simith Tresyooable Trust U/A 8704704,

Intervonor,
- TG: Robent §. MeCanby
' o/o Fingreial Indusiry Regulatory Anthoriy
381 Miin Sireed., Syite 710
'Wco&bridgge NJ 07995

i YOU ARE COMMANDED to appear in the Uniied States Distict Cour at the placs, Tie, and Gime specitied below 1o tosiity i G Above Fase.

PLACE OF TES TIMONY COURTRGOM
' DATE AND T1ME
[X] VOU ARE COMMANDED fo sppermi Bog place, daic, and fime specitied beiow to Gy  the kg of  deparition in s abuve sase:
PLACE - | DATE AND TIME
' Gusrae, Raplaa, Bruoo & Nisbaum PLLC Octaber 8,2010
120 Wall Sircce : 930 mm.
New York, New York 10085 -

{X] YOU ARE COMMANDED t prodics and peowit Inpection amd sopying oF e Toilowing dbcuments o hjects at the place, date, and Tone
spécified befow (Hst docurments or objocts); _ :

FLACE _ DATE ANDTIME
Guscae, Kaplan, Brono & Noshanis PLLC Deiober £, 2070
120 Wall Street 5pam,
. _Hew York, New Vork 10605 e . e
{1 YOUARE COMMANDED to permit inspection of the folfowing premises of e date and timespocified bolow.
PREMISES DATEAND TIME e

- Ay orgnizalitn 10t 2 party (o this sult a4 svbpoered for Ove taking of a deposion sl desiguats o or o BREes, dinecions or faanaging
agents, or ofhier persons who consent o LBl on its behalf, and may set forih, for each persoit designated, the matiers on which the person ‘will
- _testify. Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, 30(hi6). : : _ o

 ISSUING OFEICER STGNATORE AND THLE (INDICATE IF ATTORNEVFOR DATE
PLAINTIFEDR DE . .
1 { Seplerber 13, 2010

Attamby for [fetendants David L. Smith and Timothy M. Mctian

ISBUINGOEEICER'S KAME, ADDRESS AND PHONE NUM BER
Alison B. Cohen, Feq.
Gusrse, Raplan, Brono & Nusbapm PLLC
© 120°Walf Serces
New York, New York 10003

(212) 269-1400 e
' (See Rule 45, Fedeeal Rulos of Civil Protediims, Pasg G & D on Newt Pagey:
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s - PROOF OFSERVICE  ~ — Fo5n
" TTSERVED DATE , PLACE ‘
" SERVED ON (PRINT NAME) ' T MANNER OF SERVICE

SERVED BY (PRINTRAME) T TE

T T DECLARATION OF SERVER

§ destare ynder panalty af gegury unider the Iawsofihc United States of America that the foregoing TnPormation contined in he Proofef
Sesvice s tme and corsct,
Extecntedon__
. DATE SIGNATURE OF SERVER.

. ADDRESS OF SERVER

Rl 33, Fodere! Rtz of Covil Fracaoms, Pams CE D — o -
.mmﬁwar@&@mﬁmmm_w@;m

{4 PROTECTIONDF !’SRSGNS SURIECT TO SUSPOENAS. Saibeit o dhd plovisicay of chivss {CIEKBIET of this role, such a FeTson may in
arder torsttend trind borommanded &5 frave! fous any suck plode within ihe snte in

T A pocdy or i sty e ﬁfﬂmimamemmot‘z-mtpm; "hich (e sral ivheld, or ] .
tndl tedee pescaehle sieps 1o 2veld fmposing undue bunle OFedponse on & “{Eyroquiints disclosure of pivilipd or tihir pebiestid nistter
| e dobjock o that slbpoem “Tha oqtron pebadfol wiich i fubpotea was aad a0 exeepifon or waiver applics, or
Essiiond sl enforce thip duty wul post aport B paty couttomney #n breachiof v) sulifects o persomto mchee Hitdon,
s dhny tin appbspetade sunetion, which moy fncliks, bet s not Smied &, Ymr (5} ffasibpoent -
‘ {3} reequirs diselossdive of 5. vadn soret o othey confidentia )

AZEAY A perstn contmanded o presfises 1wl peimii frspection and copringol . research, devclopifisht, ot comtmenciol information, o

MM%MWWW@#MWW o pidiites Ui requires Sisclostine o on werelinid cxpiat's opinion o fn- :

w-mﬂmmmﬁmmormcdwmawmm ﬁtmﬁﬁmm&ﬁénﬁ?agw&nmﬁswm'?nmcwmm

Lommryrded o myser e deposithn, besding octrdst, - imhmm&mmn;hmuimcmwnfmymﬁy,&

o . . ﬁk}maﬁmupamw%bisﬂmapnyw#@g}iﬁaﬁ:aﬁpaﬂy

(B Subect Io parwgraph (4){2) of iz mule, 2 persan comitisided 10 prodiee and t Iocur sulbstantisd expense fo tavel mony iha 106 miles 16 aftend triad, the cotot

pevnit dngpection and copeying may, within 14 days pfiee senvie of the smlpramm gy, W0 CIE & perto suboct {oor-atfrciod by iy subposns, sl of diodity the

ot hefire the time specilied for socplizton i snch time 1 ot R 142 days pller suhpoenadr, ifike iy in whoserhebalf te subpoce it feoed thiver  mbaantial

mcqmm-@pmymmmdwgmdhmmbpmwm peed for (e tedinony or woatedaf St connof bo-otorwiz wck withoat umize

Aobjuﬁm;aimm&mﬁgormmaaam:wmmmawur Tiedehln sind asinmbs et the-paeson 1o wham e Solpom: i edinieid will b

#he prémiises, [oloction s made, (he paviy serving the 2ubposnd s fnot ke reasonably conpaninied, this et srisy crder dippearance or prodartion only upos

eaiifled fo mspoct and Copy e maeials o st he presniscs aetept purstent ipecdfod tonditions, -

lewn order of e com by which e subgoema ws svod. Hobjectimbssbees -

e, th party servitg the sobpoens may, upen votiortohe person commanded 1) DUTIES IR RESPONDING TO SUBASENA.

"0 profiies, fve f Sny fEwe oy o0 ordtr te compel the priduetion, Suchan .

wﬁam-m!maimsiqnpmm any prarson whe i riol 2 pariy or an (L) A persil vespoinding to o subpocnia to prodiee danmeite -

officee of 3 pany Fors sighifient wpene reriliing Fom e fspestivn ond Rkl produce them as thy.ane kaptin % sl cse of businers orshol trgonize and
wmisnded, ‘ abel thent ta eorrespund Wit the Sategores i tho lemand,

- copylogoon )
1204 On timcly motion, the ot by withh 1 Subysouns wie Fssoedd shall quash {E}Wﬁmwmimsabjxtmsmbpomkwmﬁd&muhm .
ot aodify the sibpociit it 16t & s geivilogrod or subjeet 4o protection s ikl proption fuiterints, the Clain shall
b made eypresdy and whall be suppoited by & dosrdplion of tic Rabire of e
1i} Faiks to altire vossgisble e Bor eimpliones; - doburiients, ovoarmications, of things nor producsd that i sl 1o enoble the
{iyresgidied o porson who 76 n0d b pary o 2 officer of & party dummgm.mwmemm ’ C

totravei io 2 plos moreiban 100 miles from theplice whaethat
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- &’ - Commanleation. The tenn "communication™ means e transmittal of
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SUCHEDULE A

Hlons

information (in the form of facts, ideas, inguires or othervwise).
b, Bocument. The term "document”® as used herein shali mean and inclode all frue

copies, ail otiginals and sl non-ideéntical copies, whether different From the eriginal by

© raason of alieratmns or notations made on such copies or nttwrw;se whether in drafl or

final foumn, mc!udmg but not timited to; letters:or other correspondence; miempraida;

_spread sheets; reports; notes; contracts; agreements; propovals; telegrans; telexes; fixes;

electronic mail or e-mmil; cables; tnaflgrams; messages; file folde:s, Hsts; schedules;
tables; indices; wanseipts; aﬁidaw%s tabubations; dartes; calendaxs anaiyses ingtant
messages; comparisons; records books; buoklets; circulars; hu]{eﬁns, potices: recordg i or.
recordings of telephone or other conversations, mﬂfcreum or meetmgs, phurogmphs'
il brochures; eatalogs; § mstj.‘ﬂc!zons; charis; graphs; video or sudio tapes; computer
tapes and tiisks-a‘nd €D ROMs, DVDs or other elecimmc daticompilations. The ié‘m
*docuinent” 5o means aity other wiitten, recorded, transcnum, gunched, pnnted, Wcsl,

‘taped, Slired or grapiuc wattet, however produced ar reproduced. The teret "document”
furthéer means any document that in whole orin pert cotiiptites, -cdntam’s, menﬁons,

 reflects, refers 1o ot relates to any docurnent the production of which is sought hereunder.

A deaft vr non-identical copy is 2 separate document within the meaning ot fhis ferm.
C. identify (with respect fo persons). When referring fo a pegsen, "G ide:nﬁﬁ’
mieans o give, to the extent known, the persan’s full n&me, prment or last knovm address

and telephorie number zmd whcn referring to 4 natuml person, addiiwnaiiy, the prescnt or
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last known place of smployment. Once a person has been identified in accordance with
ihis sebpsragraph, only the niame of that petson niced be tisted in response to subsequent
| discovery requesting the identification of that Derson,
¢, Identily (with respect to documents), Whet refeiring to documents,
"to Identify” means to give, to the extent knows, the (i) type of decument; (ii) gerteral
subject matfer; (iiiy date of the docusieit; (iv) author(s), addressee(s) and mczpzant{a) and
) nustsém ofthe 6ocument, _
€.~ Person. Theterm “person” is defined as any natural pexson or auy business, legal
or governmental eatity or association. _
f. Cancerning or Reiating to. 'The term Teoneerning” of “relating 0™ mearns
pertaining 'tp, referring to, deseribing, shasing, analymng, reflecting, evidencing or
| cofnstituiing, | _
: ‘g. AHEGr. The terins “and” ﬁnd‘ Yo sﬁél be conshued eithier disjﬁﬁcﬁve!y of
| corjanctively as necess&ty to bring W:ﬂzm the seope of the discovery reqnest aﬂ
responses that might otherwise be constmcd 1o be outside of'iis scope,
h Produce. When: fefemng%o decumenté ‘jmdzme means to make avaztab!e for
inspeclion and mpymg, or a}tmname! y, t deliver legzble sapics o emmsel pmpaundzng
. these requests, s respuns:ve -ducu:ments ‘within your possession, custody or control, Al
dosiiients to e produced must be pmﬁmxz thhm ﬁ:c ﬁﬁie-‘aﬂacateﬁ {o tespond zmi:esa
i FINRA. The term ‘F}NRA*’ shaﬁ mesn the Financial Industry Re,gulabary

_ auﬁmmy

i MchnSnuth The term “McGino Smith” shiill mean MeGian, Smith & Co,,




Vo

e
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Inc., its oificers, directors, eniployess, agents, affiliates, subsidisries, rolated entities,
successors, assigns, and z:epre‘s;éﬁt&tives. |
L MeGinn, The teom “MeGinn” shall mean Timothy M. MeGinn, his aftiliates,
mpiaym associates, agents and Tepresentatives.
i Smith, The térm “Staith” shiall mean David L., Smith; his affiliates, employees,
associates, agents and representatives,
m. Tnvestor. ‘The tesm “vestor” shall mean any person, hils orher affilintes,
enaployees, assooiates, agents dnd reprewenmﬁvw; ot any entiy, its officers, direc.tors,

' eznpfoyeas, pattiters, agénis, affiliates; subsidiaries, related entities, SUCCESsoTE, Assipns,
and representatives Who made investments or purchased prodacts, servides, or secuities;
mcludmg bui: without Ixrmtntmn, an interest it FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, orthe Tmsts,

| 'tﬁrough MeGinn Smith, ' ‘ |

f. * FAIN, Theterm “FA}N” shalf yean Fizst Advizory Income Ho*es, LIC,its B

| mmnbers, employess agents, aﬁhatas, subs;dlanes, re!at@d gntificg, succ&ssms, ass:gns,

and represeritatives,
o, FEIN. The term “FEIN" shall mean First Bxcelsior Income Naotes, LLC, itz

-t

thembers, empioym #gents, a&ihat%, subsidiaries, velated eat;iws, auc:cf;ssam, assxgns,

and represantahves. :
-' B FIIN. The term “FIIN" shall mean First Bdependent fnccme Notes, LLC, its
| Amessbers, employees, agenty, affiliates, subgidinifes, related entities, successory, aﬁigns,
anid representatives,
4 TAIN. The term “TAIN" shall mean Third Albany Income Notes, LLC, its

members, employees, agents, affilistes, subsidiaries, relafediéhiities, succeSit, assions,
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and representatives,

r. Trusts, Theterm “Truste” shall mean the Firstline Jr. and Sr. Trusts o7
offerings, TDM Cable Trust 06, TDM Lty Craise Trust 07, TDM Verifier Trust 07,
TDM Verifier Trust 08, Cruise Chartes V, enture Trust 08, Fortress Trust 08, Integrated
Excelence Ir. and St. Trugts 08, TDM Cable Trust 08, TDM Vedifier Trust 09, TDNM
Benchmark Trust 09, TDMM Cable e and Sr. Trusts 09, TDM Verifier Trust O7R, or
TDM Verifier Trust 08R, |
3 SEC The term “SEC” shalf mean the United States Securitics and Bxchange
Commission,

L Hany information ﬁr&écﬁzﬁznt requested hamm is withheld fiom production for
any resson, staty the reason, and identify the i‘nfmaﬁon or docurnert,

E Where ag Chiestion is made to any Ret;uest, the ohjection shall state with

7 | specificity all groimds for the objecton.

v Whem & defenss or claim of privilege is asserted in objection to aty Request, you
are directed 1o pmwde ammpietc statement-of the factual and legal basis of the olaim of

-
M

pm'ﬂeﬂe.
W, If any in_smm%wn or dscumaﬁt aequestad, or * any portion thereof, is not known fo

- youorisnotin your possession, custody or control, but is known or beljaved by you to

be known by or i the possession or contral of another person or entity, identify the

Porson of entity known or believed by you to know the inforination of have possession,

custody or conttol of the information o décument,
X.  These Requests shall be d effiied continving dnd sha]i require firther and




-

&
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supplernental response by you in the event that you discover or obtain additional

tesponsive information or documents betwesn the time of the initia response and the

- tinig the action §s conchided,

Requests

Documents provided by Investors o PINRA rolafing to MeGinn Simith, Smith, McGinn,
FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAT and the Trusts, '

Docussents concerning commuications between FINRA employess and Tnvestars
Telating to MeGinn Sxmth, Smith, McGinn, FAIN, FEIN, FI‘L‘N TAN and the Trusts,
including but writhout Iimtahon, emails, faxes, and leHers.

Bacmnems -cdnce’ming commutications betwesh FINRA gmployees aad tha SEC
selating to MeGinn, Smith, Smith, MeGinn, FATN, FEIN, FHN T AN and the Trusts,

mciudxngmxthﬁwui Iun_tat:.aﬂ, emaily, faxas, and letiers.

Aftidavits or any other sworn staternents provided to FINRA telating to. MeGian Sm;th,

Sraitl, Mchu, FAIN, FERN, FIN, TAIN, and the Tiusts,
Reeord:ngs or transeriptions of recordings of c‘:ommhnicaﬁous between FINRA and

 Bavestors wlating t MoGini: Soith, Smith, MoGinn, FAIN, FEIN, EIIN, TADN, snd the

ReQOfdmgs Or iranseripors of xecordings Investors provided to FINRA relating to
wertmisications iseﬂveea Invesiors and MeGim Bumith, Sm:ih, or McGinn concerning
any investments held ot MocGinn Smith, or FAIN s FE{N, FI, TAIN, and the Trusts,

7. Notes of communications between FINRA employees and Tnvestors relating fo MeGing

Stmith, Suiith, McGinn, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, and the Trusty, .
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& im'améi rsgﬁrts relatling to McGinn Smith, Smith, McGinn, FAJ-\I, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN,‘
and the Trusts,

9. Records demonsteating the time, Frequency and duration of communieations with
Invesiors. _

10. Documents reflecting all Investors FINRA -contacted or attempted 1o contact,

11 bocumeﬁts teflecting the last known contact infermation for alf Invesiors FINRA
contacted or affempted o contact, including but without izmxtatmn, addressgs. phone
niaberd, fax numbers, gitd ematl addresses.

12, Documents i'eﬂecﬁng testimony taken from Investors.

13. Documents conceming communications between FINRA employses and the SEC
relatmg to McGinn Smith, Sm:th, Mchu, FAIN, FEIN, FHN, TAIN, and the Trnsts,
inc}udmg biig without hm:mnan, all docnments from FINRA refemag infoimation

" obtained i its investigation of McGitin Saifh, Smith, MeLins, PAIN, FEIN, FIIN,
TAIN, ané the Trusts o ﬁuf: SEC.

14 ﬁot&s nfcenuﬁufﬁmﬁéﬁs belween FINRA empiﬁyées and the SEC relating o Melinn
3lmﬂl, Smith, McGinn, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, mnd the Tmsts .

15, Intemal teports reﬁecung commanication among FINRA employses relating to Mot
- Seith, Buiith, MeGinn, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, and the Trosis,
6. Internal r&pﬂr!s reflecting communications smong FINRA employees relafing to the
* referral of FINRAs investigation: of MoGinn Semith, Smith, McGinn, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN,
TAIN, and the Trusts to the SEC. |
| 7. Eocmnenis concerning-communications between FINRA employess and the Depariment

. of Justice conceining Jph Brunw, intiading but without Himitation, communicationy
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with persons effiliated with the United Siates Adtomeys’ Office fot the Northern Distriet
of Mew York,

18, Documents concerming communications between FINRA employees and the Department
of Justiva concerning MeGinn Smith, Smith, MeGinn, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, ad fhe
Trusts, incloding but without imitatios, camcaﬁom with persongs affiliated with the
Usiited States Attorneys’ Office for the Northern District of New York.

15. Documents conicerning Thomas &, Livingstan,

20. Documents coneerning communicaﬁoﬂshetwcéﬁ FINRA employees nad Thomas B,
Livingston or s agents. _ |

e anfaeﬁts withtield fmmiim&ucﬁeﬁ in FESIEA Disciplisnary Proceeding No,
’?{3090179344501 pursuant toa claxm ofi mveshgatwe privilege.

22, Becumenfs which identify cach and every FINRA employee who engaged in
.ﬁummumcatzqns with the SEC relating to MoGinn Smith, Smith, Mcﬁimﬂ FAIN, FEIN,

P, TATN, ad the Trasts. |

23. Documents which identify each and svery FINRA employee who was involved m the

‘Tavestigation f MeGlan Staith, Smith, MeGinn, FARN, PEIN, FIN, TAR, end the

e

et

Trusts,

s o
B A




~
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J & K INVESTIGATIVE SERVICES INC.
. P.O.BOXes
SOMERVILLE, NJ 08676

ZZQ//WW?/

" PAYTO THE

Bank of America
AGH R/T 021200339

14694

- B-33n212 NI

Yo
1§ //-90 |

QRDER OF

i 227

e .

3

DOLLARS f

| \Jzﬁ}r"mﬂ'/ ﬂ/l,e_
Vs

| ﬁnsmo'ﬁle_:g&@[z.’i.?

rORLEQLEt 1202 L 2003359 0DSA0 B8 3004 51

- prmme——_ Aty 3n

%81 Mioin Street.. Suite 710

__Woodbrides, NEQP005 _ : :
13 YOU ARE COMMARDED &5 tppest 1n the Urdted biates Disiriol Courrat the placs, daie, sod fms spontieed iclow (o 1cs0ly i 1o Fhove sase
PLACE OF TESTIMONY i GOURIRGOM

“DATE AND TIME

XL YOl ARE COMMANDEN 15 pprear o o plcs, dbie ool Gt spoiaed baow o sty B g o7e S i s

PLACE TATE AND TIAE :
Gusrae, Kaplen, Brono & Musbayn PLLC Tetobor 5, 2010

150 Wall Steest ' { 0.0
How Youk, Now Yok 10005 '

L8] YOU ARE EOMMANBED (o prodice s pornit speouon B popying oe SoEowing dociiments.or objects 8 1BE flace, Gats and Gme

- specified below ist documeuts or ohjeotsy:

BLACE . . :
Giestde, Xabilan, Brmo & Nushaom PLIC
20'Wal] Street

Hew Yok, New York 10005

] BATERNDTHE
Sepiembar 28, 28910
Spm

[ 1 YOUARE CORFTANDED t penidt nspoion ot s il ovrine Dromises apihe Gdte aud e pecihed Below

-t

" DREMISES

| BATEARDTIME

s
ey

Asiy greauization noka pariy (o 149 soit Hag is subpochard for the tdking of & degosition-shalf desititate one or mare Gfﬂwts,&uectom, or matagiig

v.

Rt o other prsatis Whe kit to Testify on its behalk, and way sec Ry, fov each person desipnated, fhe matiers o which the person will

Jeatify. Fadertl Rules 6F Eivit Procedure, 30060, .
IEBUING QFFICER SIGNATURE AND THTLE QNDICATE IF ATTORNEY E08

"DATE
] Seéptember 13, 2010

- i Y 3k, mi
L@' CER'S NAME, ADDRESS AND PHONE NUMBER

JSBUIN

Alisen B Coken, E5q, ‘.
Gusree, Kaplan, Brune & MNosbapm FLLO
120 Wall Streer
New York, New Vark 16005 o .
S2Eas0dee v Y i

{Set Rt 35, Fedarol Rules o Civil Priediare, Parts C & B o Nevi By
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. Issued by the
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SCUTHERN DISTRICT DENEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

{22 2691400

Plainiify, , 10-457 (GLS/DRH)
{Pending in the United Stabes Distict Court for the Northem
District of New Yoik)

' SUBPOENA TN ACIVIL CASE
MEGRYN, SMITH & CO, INC, etal,
Diefendany,
| LYINN A SMITH, atd NANCY MGINN,
Relief Defendants, and

DAVID M. WOSESK, Trosiee of the David L. and
Lyan A Swilh Frrevocable Trost T/A 8/04/D4,
’ ) Titervenor
T Michael Revonan
</6 Fineusjal Indusfry Repulatory Aithority
381 Mein Street., Suite 710
Woodbridge. NS 07085

I} YOI ARE COMMANDED b sppai ih 116 United States Diswiot Cowr at fhe place, dare, omd fos spositied brlow t1cstfy i the shove Case

PLACE OF TESTIMONY

COLRTROOM

DATE AND TIME

) YOUJA:I@COMMANDED@WQ}!;&Mdatqand:iﬁi;apmiﬁedbﬁmvmms&?aimcmkmgsjfamﬁmiu fheshove case,

PLACE ‘ DATE AND TIME
Gusrae, Keplay, Brumo & Musbanm PLLC Ocitober’3, 2018
" 120 Wl Stroet ' ] 930 a.m.
_New Yotk New York 10005 - -

{X} YOU ARE COMMANDED. & prodacz and peanit ir;spaeﬁaﬁ atef ija:\guf fi1é fotfowing doa.zummls o'roiziaﬁsntﬁ‘:e placs, date, and fiie

- specified Below list documents or objects):

PLACE ) ~Y BATEAND TIME
" Gustne, Kaplan, Bomo & Nusbaum PLI.C Septeibar 28, 2010
120 Wall Stresy 5 pm,
Mew York, Mew York 10005
- "I 1 YOU ARE COMMANDED (o panit nsporiion of e Tollowing preadsss st e doie and time specifiod below,
PRERTISES GATE ANDTIME Pzaa

Any orgarization not o party to this .-_.ui'tAd'm is subpocnzed for the taking of & deposition Siall Gesigrate onc oF Fore officers, dirérﬁfm;i, or mataging
Agents, or other porsons Wh consent 16 1e4ify on its behwlf, and may sex ford, for-each person desigmated, fhe hidtiers oo which the person wilt

estity, Federl Ruten oE Uil Procodure, J0(BKE).

"ISEUING OFFICER SIONATURE AND TTTLE (INDIEATE IF ATTORNEV FOR BATE
ﬂ.mm? GRDEPENTAS A :
' September 13, 2010

Alisvn B, Coken, Bgq, .

Gustae; Kaplan, Bront & Nusbapm PLLC
120 Wil Sireet :
New York, New York 10005

{Sex Rulc 43, Federal Ryles of Civil Prwedire; Pars € & D on Nest Pagoy
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— ~ T PROOFOR SEBVICE
SEAVED DATE [ PLACE.
SERVED ON {(PIINT NAME) TIANNER OF SERVICE
SERVED BY (PRINT NAME) TIILE
o DECLARATION OF SERVER T T
¥ dleclaze under penalty of pérjury under the laws of the United States oF America that the Toregoing infowmation contpined i the Prook of
Bervie is true add corrict.
Executed on
DATE SIGNATURE OF SERVER
ADDRESS OF SERVER

Haks 5, Federal Rubor ol (v il Tons C A T

s} PROTECTURNOF PERSONS SUBISCT TOSUBPOENAS.

{375 pty or ag attwray resporeibie fiu shis fastaned aid ervice of 5 #ubpocoa.

shalt fake resgonabile st 10 gvosd fapocing undus birden o wrpunss o a

R sublect 10 dve subnocna, T oot o Sehalf o Prdifc: the subzaens wes

‘sz shiffl enforoe this duty and fmpossupon she party o sy In brack of

s duty di sppadpriste sunclion, wiich may fnclode, bur & got Hited 1o, lost
- weniings e ekl dwmeys e

CTHAY A om0 Comandas 16 prisict rid pemdt fngpection 4 copylng of
designnted Books, pepers, documseeds os fangitfla Hings, o Topeiion of prmiss

need 6k appear In porson a1 e 'gbfphoduéﬁmurit@t_ﬂ'n?;mkif

Forwidod o upear i depastilon, heming ormisl

BT o i e sl s

pormit-ingpcd copying may, within v ' BYVICE

o bofbee the time spciffed for conplinnes iauch tioe {5 lees fhan Haduyrafice
Service, SOV updn the party oc atiomey desfgivted in the subpoens writicn

chfectin o fupaotion S opyingg 4t s or 28 of ho Sesignuied matvridltor of

be premises, {Fobjection i trede, fhe posly serving the sulpot shafl not he
" entithed to inspoct znd copy ke matecialy o frrpost the promises encem pumuanl

{o an ardderrof thi-rouit by wiich tho subpoens was fsusd. Ifphjsction ik besn

mdm}»mmm;hsa&mmﬁmmﬁwampmm

1o producd; move atany fme for e orkr o compe) the prdusticn. Such @
., S 1 compel produciion shall protect any prrian who is nol 2 pariy vr an

offiwt of x party fioit Sijnificant experse resulting From the inspection vad
£0pying commarsdbd,

TI{AY O tiniely mosion, thasaust by whizh 4 Subpoesa was.ixucd Sl guash
or modify the subpotea i3 :

{1} il ta wHerar reasodabli tice for compllance;
- {isymoquines 3 pevson who is et party:or an officer 682 party
o ieavet 1o 2 ploee moretfin 14 ratfes from the place where that

Loy

reryen sesides, 5 ity o regulaly tmnssots Buisiiicns-in persom, except that,
sdfipeet s fhe provislons of chause (HANBRH) oF iz mile, swch o petsvin oy in
ke to attcnd sl be communded & travel from ooy <uch place withis the'state In
Which the detgl ks held, or _ ‘

 (Rfnequirer disclosunr ol ptivTiefid or tther profected manter
458 vy Exeophion.or walver oF

- {hvsubfecisn porson io padise Blidn,

) Wasubpoena

Lot disiiining 672 finds secret o sy confidential
reseitdy, divelopmeny; o costenercial inforfstion, o

{if) sequires disclopure of i tmratained experts opiiiion ot in-
formathin nol disoribing mesife cventy o waapmieS In dispute and fesultig
Srom the expert shady sadonot at the ségoest of sny nurty, or

i} recuiines s persen WhoTasota panty oron officer ot ey ]
o focur substmtinl wm:; }Zt;:vél miore fliga 100 mifes tostiend frial, ﬂmm
g, 1o profuct 4 priton sl raffeelad by the subpotm, quosh or mod
Fulrpena oz, 3 the parsy T ke Bedodi e suibpoema ds lased shguws & dbsiatitial
wed @g&g!ﬁﬁmwﬁmﬂw{mﬂ&mwﬂw}ﬂmﬁm
hondiide aod pepires $hat $ha peron o b o sulipecid i addremsed will be
‘teasarulily epenponisatéd, fhe-court oy order appeasee o prodétion Saly wpos
spodﬁcﬁmﬁﬁm ‘ - '

{3 DUTIES massmﬂamzémam

13 A peoscn repoeading o3 subipocn so gradups documants

ehall prodice thein as they are kept in fha vewat ennrseof business bé whiall argantsd and
‘bt shemn o cueresiund Wit the BMestdos i thdomand. )

{2 Whica fsrination suliject toa subpocna i withield oa.0 cleiin

Brar it i privileged-or sibject fo profection as t5i4] preparation meterias, fhe ofum <hell
be made egnecely dnd shall be supportsd by o Geswipfion of i mapme of dhe

camminleations, §¢ Hilngs vot podoced thys, s sulficient 1o spabhle the

_dotunonts, f 2
Jeitionuling pary o edtsest the cim,
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SCHEDULE A

Beflnitlons

a, Communication. The term "comumunication” mieans ths transmmal of
information {in the form of facts , ideas, ingufrics oF otherwisel.
b, Brocument, The term "do ct:tmeﬁt_-" 33 ised hereln shall mean and include it true
eopes, all orginals and a not-dentical copies, whether ifferent from he ariginal by
raason of alferations or iimaﬁoﬁs imade on such copies or otherwise, whether in draftor
‘final form, including but not limited to: leters orother correspondencs: s memoranda;
spread sheets; reports; notes; cofiliacts; apreements; propusa!s* telegrams; telexes; faxes;
sleotronic mail or e-mall: cables; ‘maiigrams; messages; file folders; lists; schedules;
tables; indices; trausoripts; affidavits; tabulations; dinries; calondars; analysis; fustast
meﬁsag‘éc'; cotnparisons; records; books; ‘booklets; circulars; bulleting; net;cm, recmds or

mmgs of telephone of offier conversations, conferences o¢ meetings; pho_togmphs;
' ﬁig_z; brochures; catalogs: i tstrugtions; charts; graphs; video or #udio tapes; computer
tapes and disks and CD ROMSs, DVDs or other electronis data compilations, The term
“docurmant® alsd meshs any oﬁzer written, recorded, transcibed, putiched, printed, @ped,
‘taped, filmed or grapbm reatter, howeves pmduced or reproduced. The tefm “document™
further means any document that inwhole orin part comprises, contains, mentioris,
| zeflects, rofers to or relates o fny docinent the production of which is sought hereunder,
4 dmit or non-identieal copyis 4 separate document within the meaning of tis term,

e Identify (with respect fo peisons). When refarring to a person, “to identify”

 Eeang i6 give io the extent kaown, ma person’s mil ‘nate, present or last known address

e

~ and teiephone number and when referving toa natum! person, add.maaaﬁy, the preserit or
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inc., its officers, directors, employces, agents, affiliates, subsidiaries, related entities,
successors, assigns, and répresentatives, ' '

k. McGinn. The term“Mc(Ginn™ shall mean Timotlly M. McGinn, bis affiliates,
employess, assoclates, agents and repmﬁntatm:s

i Ssitith, The term “Smith” shall mean David L. Stmith, his affilistes, mpiby;&s,
 associates, agents and representatives,

- m Envestor. The temr “fnvestor™ shall aean any pcrson, his or her afﬁiiat&s,
employees, associates, agents and frépté’cé&taﬁ%m, of eny entity, §ts officers, directors, |
employess, partiers, agents, affilistes, subsidiarles, selated entifies, successors, assigns,
and represeniatives who tade mvcs&nem‘s or purchased products, services, or securities,
inciuding but without linitation, an interest in KFAH\I, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, or the Trusts,
throtigh MeGins Smith, '

- n FA}?&. Tire term “FAIN shall mean First Addvisory Iaeomefiiiom, LLC, its
sieinbers, employees, agents, affilistes, subsidiaties, related enfities, successors, ngsigna,
and vepreseniatives,

o. IN. The tec “FRIN" shall mean First Bxcelsior Tacome Notes, LUC, its

members, employees, agenis, aﬁha‘tes, subsidiaries, related enﬁﬁm, SUCCESSOLS, asszg:ﬁz,

P

| ‘and representatives, |
' p FIN. The term “PHN" shall meat First Tidependeéiit Income Notes, LIC, its
' members, emiployees, agents, atfiliates, subsidiares, related entitics, successors, assigns,

and mpresentaﬁvas |

4. TAIN, lee tetrii “TAIN stiall snesan Third Albdny fncome Notes, LLC its
“members, empaoyees, agents, aiﬁuatcsi@bszdmnm reiated entities, successors, assigns,
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with persons affiliated with the United States Attorneys® Office for the Northern District
of New York,

13. Documents conceming cﬁmmmﬁcg&onsbeﬁ#eezi_FmRA employees snd the Depattiient
of Justice concerning MoGin Smith, Smith, McQinn, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, and the
Trusts, including but without limitation, coramunications with persons affiliated with the
United States Attorneys® Office for the Northom District of New York,

19, Documents coneetiing ‘I’tltzimas E. Livingston. '

20. Bewmenté concerning communications between FINRA employees and 'i'hgmas E
Livingsion or his agents, | '

21. Documents. vwﬁzhcid fromi production in FINRA b:scipimmy Proceeding fs?o
266901 7984501 pursuant to a claim of investigative privilege. l

22. Dovurents which xdenixﬁrsmh and every FINRA employee who -::agagad i

+ wompications w:th the SEC relating to MoeGini Sihitly, Seith, Mcﬁmn FAm, FEIN,

- Fil, TAmY, and the Trusts.

23. Documents which identify each and every FINRA employes who was invoivéﬁ in the
investigation of MeGinn Swith, Smith, McGing, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TATN, and the B

-t

Trusts,

e
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i ﬁ ¢ Defendants Devid L. Smithand Tintothy M. McGion

@IDTIEE e : e
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Issuedbythe
UNITTER STATES DISTRIET COURT
SOUTHERN BISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURFTIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff, 10-457 (GLS/DRE)
. -(Pending in the United States District Court for the Norhern
District of New York)
SUBPOENA IN & CIVIL CASE
MG, SMITH & 0., INC., ef af, '
Defendants,
LYNN A, SMITH, md NANCY MeGINN,
. : . Reliaf Drftndants, smd

DAVID M. WOJESKI, Trustes of the David L..and
Lyon A. Smith Yrevocable Trust UzA 8/63/04,

Intervenor.
T0: - Randy Pearlman o
' <lo Finmneiat Industry Repulstory Authority ~
581 Main Street., Suits 716

Woodbridge, NI 07093 L s -
[} YOU ARE COMMANDED 10 sppear it the United States Disirict Court ot the place. date, and Hingspecified below 1o testify in the above case. o
PLACE QF TESTIMONY ' ) ‘ COURTROOM . )
DATE AND TIME
- IX) Yi:lu ARE COMMANDED tpm;éaé arthe phice, date, and ﬁmaépg;iﬁcd below o m#i@vat the taking ef'.a'i_igmsfﬁqn inthe éhaveease.
PLACE ' - | DATEANDTIME ' i
Gusrae, Kaplan, Bruno & Nisbaum PLLC § Oclober 7, 2010
. 120 Wall Serect 2:38 a.m,
- Wow York, New York (605

I3 YOU ARE COMMANDED to producs and pamit iospection snd eopying of e foTloming docmmmnts or Objocts a1 the place, datc, and Gme
specificd below (fist documents o objects): : o ' ) 7

FLACE 7 7 " DATE AND TME
Gusize, Kaplan, Broso & Mesboum PLLC September 36, 2010
120 Wall Street . - ) Spm.
- Mew York, New York 10685 . :
T 1 YOU ARE COMMANDED 15 porenat Trspesiton of e Tollowing prermisss at the date 2nd Amé spodied Bolow,
“PRERIISES e ‘ ' T DATE AND TIME - e

. Ary organization oot-a party to this suit fhzt & shbﬁocmsdfér ﬂmvmkin.g of & deposition shall degignate one 01: ware -qﬁioors, directors, or mnnagmg

agents, or uiligr persons whto consent to testify on dis behalt, qud Ty %ot forth, for cach person Jdexignate], the nisiters on which fie peon wifl

_iestify, Fademi Rules of Civif Frocedure, 3H66),

SSSUING OFFICER SIGNATURE AND TITLE (INDICATE IF ATTORNEY FOR DATE
R DEER ) ' : ' _
' September 13, 2610

s,

\ISSUIMG OFFICER'S NAME, ADDRESS AND PHONE NUMBER
Alhn B, Cohen, R ’
Gusrae, Ksplan, Brino & Nusbaum PLIC
T20 Wall Street ,
Nesw York, New Yok 10005 e

et
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and representatives. |
*.  Trusts. The term “Trusts” shall mean the Firstline Jz. and St. Trusts O7
| offerings, 'I‘?'}M Cable Trust 06, TOM Lusxry Craise Tiust 07, TDM Verifier Trust o7,
TDM Verifier Trust 08, Cruise Charter Venture ‘I’mst U8, Fortrass Trust 08, Integrated
Exoelence Jr. and 8z. Trusts 08, TDM Cable Trust 08, TDM Vefiﬁef’i"méw, TDMM
Benechmerk Trost 89, TDMM Cable I and Sr. Trusis 69, TDM Verifier Trust O7R, or -
TDM Verifier Trust 08R. |
s SEC. Theterm “SEC” shall mean the Uﬁii&d States Securities aid Exchange
Conunission. 7 |
. Instritetions
t | Hany iﬁfoﬁﬁaﬁdﬁ oF décmncnt tequested herein iz withheld fom production for
any reason, state ;:‘16 reason, and Wentify the mfe*ma“cn or document,
| o .-Wheﬁe an objection {8 made fo any chuest, the objection shall sfate with -
- spéciﬁc.:ityraﬂ grounds for !he:objecﬁon.
v Whare a defense or clafin ofi:rivilega 1 asserted i ob_;‘eé;-;cn fo any Request, you

are directed to provide a complete staterienit of the factual and Tegal basis of the claim of

e

e

privilege. |

: w; if any inﬁ!rméﬁon or docoment requested, or any poriion thereof, is not knows to
you ot s not in your possession, custody or t:onir(ﬂ, but is kivown or believed by you to
baknown by or in the possession or conirgl ef another person or entity, identify the
PEISOR.Or enti_tyknovm x believed by you to Jmow the information or have possession,
custody or conttj&i of the information or docamett.

X .. 'These Requests shall be decmed ciinuing and sHifbrequire Furthor and
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supplemental response by yout in the event that you discover or obtain additional
respopsive information or documents beiween the ime of the iniifal responsé and the
time the action i3 coneluded,

. Begueste

Decuments provided by Tovéstors to FINRA refating to McGinn Smith, Smith, McGinn,

- FAIM, FEIM, FHN, TAIN and the Trosts,

5,

Documents concemning comnicfions between FINRA ernployees and Investors

relating to MeGinn Smith, Smith, MeGina, FAIN, FEIN, FUN, TAIN, dnd the Trusis,
inelnding but without limitation, emails, faxes, and letters,

qumenis conrcerning communications between FINRA etuployees and ihe SEC
relating to MoGinn Stnith, Smifth, M{:Gmn, FA&"I, PEIN, FIIN, TAIN, and the ’Z'rz'réts‘, '
including but without limitation, crmails, faxes, and Yetters,

Affidavits or any other swom statements provided to FINRA relating to McGinn Smith,

- Sprith, MoGinn, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, and the Trusts.

Reécordings or transcriptions of recordiias of communications between FINRA and
Invesfors refating 1o MeGinn Smith, Smith, McGinn, FPATN, FEIN, FIIN, TAMN, and the.

Recordings or transcriptions.of recordings Tivestors provided io FINRA. telating to

-communications between Investors and MeGinn Smith, Smith, or McGinn COnCERting

- any investmests held at McGian Semith, or FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TADN, and the Trusts.

?;f'.

Notes of communications between FINRA émployees and Investors relafing to MeGinn -+ -

- Smith, Smith, McGinn, PAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, aad the Trusts, m
;- . ?_’ﬁ? ;v, . e 3 N N oy
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8. Internal reports relating to MeGinn Smith, Smith, Mc€ing, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN,
and the Trusts, |

8. Records demonstrating the time, frequency and duration of communications with
Investors. |

10, Documents reflecting all Tavestors FINRA céntacted or attempted to contact.

11 Documents yefiecting the st known contact information for a1t nvestors FINRA,
| coptacted of sitempted to contact, including but without Hmitation; addresses, phone
| numbets, fax nurnbers; and. ennail addresses. . |

12. Documenits reflecting testimony faken from Investors.

12, Docuiments can%ningoomnnmicﬁﬁa‘ns between FINRA employess and the SEL
relaiing to McGinn Strith, Smiith, McGinn, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, and the Trusts,
including but ivitﬁaut'}imitaﬁon, all documents fiom FINRA xé{‘mﬁﬁg tnformiation
obt_aiﬂed in its 'iizvest_i gation of McGinn Siith, Smith, MeGing, FATN, F EIN, FIN,
TAIN, and the Trusts fo the SEC.

1. Mates of commmunications between FINRA -emPioyegs and the SEC relating to McGina

Smith, Smith, MeGinn, FAIN, FERN, FON, TAIN, and the Trusts.

-

15. Internal teports reflecting comisunication among FINRA employees relating to Mchﬁ"
 Sith, Smith, MoGits, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, and fae Trusts,
16. Internal reports reflecting mmuﬁ%m’ammg FINR A employees relating to the
teferral of FINRA's investigation of McGina Smith, Smith, McGinn, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN,
- TAIN, and the Trusis to the SEC. |
17. Dosuments concerning commimnications ﬁ:taveen FINRA employees and the Department

o s of Justice concerning Joseph Biitio, ‘ih_dudiuﬁ?ﬁui; without lifnifation, communications
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with persons affilisted with the United States Attorneys® Office for the Northern Disfrict
éf New York.
18. Documents conceming communications befween FINRA employees and fhe Deparient
of Justice concerning MeGinn Sraith, Stith, McGinn, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, sqd the
Trusts, including but without Himitation, conmunications with persons affiliated with the - -
United States Attorsieys” Office for the Northein District of New York.
19. Documents concerning Tfmi;m}s E. Livingston.
20, Documents concerming bﬁjhmunicnﬁﬂus‘ between FINRA employees and Thomas E.
~ Livingston or his agens.
24 Documents withield from production fn FINRA Diseiplinary Proceeding No,
| 2009017984501 pursuant to a claim of investigative privilege. o .
2%, Documents which identify each and every FINRA einployee who engaged in
commumcataons with the SEC r./!atmg o Mc{imz: Smith, Smith M"Gmn, FAINLF :_IN; | &
FﬂN TAIN and the Trusts. | |
23, Drocuments which identify cach and every FINRA employee who was inw!véti in the'
‘investigation of McGiny Stith, Smith, McGirs, FA IN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, =nd the

Trusts, ' . - -
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
- FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

- 8
IN RE SUBPOENAS SERVED ON g Miscellaneous Docket No.: M8-85
FINANCIAL INDUSTRY § : _ _ o
REGULATORY AUTHORITY INC. - § Secut:ities and. Exchange Cqmmlsswn v.
EMPLOYEES i @ E' u \_/ E § McGinn, Smith & Co., et. ‘al.; U.S.
B § District Court; Northern District of New
' . 277010 l § York; Cause No. 10-457 (GLS/DRH);
[}CT : Judge Gary L. Sharpe, presiding;
‘ ul g Magistrate Judge David R. Homer,
| compietep | g referral -

'SUPPLEMENTAL AFFIDAVIT OF JAMES S. SHORRIS

1. My name is James S. Shorris. On October 1, 2010, I submitted my original

_afﬁdawt (the “Shorris Affidavit™) in support of four Fmanc1al Industry Regulatory Authority,

Ino (“FINRA™) employees’ Motion to Quash subpoenas issued on them individually by David

L. Smith and Timothy L. McGinn (together, the “Defendants”) ina Securities and Exchange

Commission (“SEC”) proceeding (the “SEC Proceeding™). On or about October 4, 2010, the

.Defendants dlrected a fifth subpoena to FINRA’s custodian of records. (collectlvely with the

-.prev1ously-1ssued subpocnas, the “Subpoenas”) in the SEC Proceedmg This supplemental

affidavit is 1r1tended to address all of the Subpoenas and to supplement statements I made. in the
Sﬁonfis Affidavit. I have personial knowledge of the facts stated in both the Shorris Affidavit and
this supplemental affidavit, and I am personally familiar with the documents in question. _

2. As Executive Vice President and Acting Director of Enforcement, I have

| supervised the examination and inquiry of the Defendants and McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc.

(“MecGinn Smith” or the “Firm™), which comrienced in early 2009 (the “FINRA Inquiry”), and

also tt_le enforcement action against McGinn Smith initiztted on or about April 5, 2010 (together

NY01:230941.3 ' 1
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‘with the FINRA Inquiry, the “FINRA Action”). I am personally familiar with the FINRA
Acﬁon, which is separate and apart from the SEC Proceeding.

- 3. After referring McGinn Smith to the SEC in 2009, FINRA continued to pursue
the_FINRA Inquiry for its bwn purposes but communicated with the SEC in cdnnection with a
‘separate inveétigation the SEC commenced of the Defendants and their Firm. In conmection
therewith and pursuant to a reqﬁest ffqm the SEC, FINRA provided Vthe SEC with copies of
transéripts of relevant testimony after such testimony had been taken in the FINRA Inquiry.
Often times, the SEC requests aécess to FINRA’s investigative files where a member-firm is
under investigation by both FINRA and the SEC. . |

4, As I previously stated, FINRA did not take direction from the SEC concerning
FINRA’S ir_x_vestigation of the Defendants and their Firm, nor did FINRA coordinate its on-the-
| record intérﬁews of the Defendants and others with thé' SEC. FINRA and the SEC did not
| exchange ouﬂines or questions with respect to testimony to be taken in either the FINRA Action
or the SEC Proceeding. Additionally, the SEC’s requests to FINRA for information from
FINRA’S files were not coerced, suggested, or encouraged—they were simply requests by the
SEC for information thét FINRA had collected for FINRA’s own investigation.. No SEC or other
govemnient employee asked FINRA employees to pursue any particular line of questioning iﬁ
the F}NRA Action. No SEC c;r government employee ever attended 6r participated in aﬁy o;f
FINRA’s on lthe record interviews. ‘No SEC or other gﬁvernm;*nt employee suggested any sort of
timing or schedule for FINRA’s on the record interviews, or that FINRA coordinate its interview
schedulg with that of the SEC.

5. I‘understaﬁd that during the interviews of McGinn Smith personnel, FINRA asked

questions about both Firm and individual employees’ assets. It is increasingly typical in FINRA .

NY01:236941.1 ) N 2
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| 1uvesngatlons into fraud and/or other mlsconduct bya member firm for FINRA to turn its focus
.to associated persons and registered md1v1duals espec1a11y where those individuals themselves
are suspected of shielding assets or personally profiting from alleged securities laws violations.
6. 'fhe' productiou in the FINRA Action included over 317,250 pages related to
"FINRAs investigatiou of the Defendants and their Firm. FINRA beiieves it has effectively
- produced all non-privileged documents that are responsive to the Subpoenas. FINRA does not
‘believe it has any written communications with the Department of Justice regarding the FINRA
Action. FINRA withheld from productjon (@A F INRA’S witness interviews and communications
with customers and investors taken in connection with the FINRA Action, (b) FINRA’s internal
communications, analyses; memorauda, soreadsheets, and ,documﬁnts'in connection with the
- FINRA: Action, and (c) 'c_ertein communications between FINRA and the SEC regarding“the
investigatiou'of Defendants and their Firm. | |
7. The witness interviews and comniunications with customers and investors should
_. be protected to allow such persorns to talk frankly and openly with inVestigat’ors. The internal
coﬁmuxﬁcaﬁons, a.ualyses, memoranda, spreadsheets, and documeots should be protected
because they are replete with FINRA’S internal opinions and analyses ahd would reveal how
FINRA conducts its 1nvcst1gat10ns and forms its lmgatlon strategy. The relatively mxmmal
communications between FINRA and the SEC should be protected to allow FINRA to

communicate and trapsfer information to the SEC in furtherance of and to facilitate FINRA’s

referral.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

NY01:230941.1 ‘ ) 3
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S

I declare under penalty of perjury pursi_lant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746 that the foregoing is true-and

-correct.

ﬁefz’g. Shorris

NY01:230941.1 . ‘ , 4




Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS -DRH Document 192-5 Filed 11/17/10 Page 1 of 8

~

EXHIBIT 4



Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS -DRH Document 192-5 Filed 11/17/10 Page 2Rsigg 2 of 32

Westlaw,

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 1999 WL 1747410 (SD.N.Y.)

(Cite as: 1999 WL 1747410 (S.D.N.Y.))

H

Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

United States District Court, S.D. New York.
Inre ADLER, COLEMAN, CLEARING CORP.,
Debtor.

FIERO BROTHERS, INC., Plaintiff,

v,

Edwin B. MISHKIN, SIPC Trustee for Adler, Cole-
man Clearing Corp., and the National Securities
Clearing Corporation, Defendants.

No. 95-08203 JLG.

Dec. 8, 1999,

Gusrae, Kaplan & Bruno, New York, New York,
for Fiero Brothers, Inc,

National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.,
Washington, D.C ., Defendant, pro se.

John T. Moran, Delray Beach Florida, Milbank,
Tweed, Hadley & McCloy, New York, New York,
for National Securities Clearing Corp.

Cleary, Gottlieb, Steen & Hamilton, New York,
New York, for Trustee,

MEMORANDUM DECISION ON PLAINTIFF'S
MOTION TO COMPEL

GARRITY, Bankruptcy J.

*1 Fiero Brothers, Inc. (“Fiero™) moves for the
entry of an order purswant to Rules 9014 and 7037
of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure and
Rule 37(a)2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Proced-
ure (“Fed. R. Civ.P.”) (a) compelling Cameron
Funkhauser, Esq., an employee of the National As-
sociation of Securities Dealers (“NASD™), to ap-
pear for a duly noticed deposition, or alternatively,
directing the NASD to make Funkhauser available
for deposition, (b) directing Funkhauser and the
NASD to pay costs incurred by Fiero in connection

Page 1

with this motion, and (c¢) compelling John T. Moran
to answer certain questions that he refused to an-
swer duting the course of a deposition held on
January 30 and 31, 1996. We deny the motion as to
the NASD and Funkhauser and grant it as to Moran.

Facts

The following facts are undisputed. On February
27, 1995 (the “Filing Date™), the Securities Investor
Protection Corporation (“SIPC”) commenced a li-
quidation proceeding under Section 78eee(b) of the
Securities Investors Protection Act, 15 US.C. §
T8eee(b), against Adler, Coleman Clearing Corp.
(the “Debtor”} in the United States District Court
for the Southern District of New York. District
Judge Loretta A. Preska ordered that the liquidation
proceeding be removed to this Court, appointed Ed-
win B. Mishkin as trustee (the “Trustee™) to liquid-
ate the Debtor's remaining assets, and authorized
the Trustee to retain the law firm Cleary, Gottlieb,
Steen & Hamilton (“Cleary, Gottlieb™) as counsel.

Fiero is a registered broker/dealer of securities. By
complaint dated March 20, 1995, Fiero and Joseph
Roberts & Co., Inc. jointly commenced an ad-
versary proceeding against the Trustee, the National
Securities Clearing Corporation and Cleary, Got-
tlieb. Fiero was severed from that action pursuant
to a stipulation so ordered by this Court on Septem-
ber 29, 1995. It commenced this adversary proceed-
ing by complaint dated September 12, 1995 (the
“Complaint”). In the Complaint, Fiero seeks an
award of conseguential damages resulting from the
named defendants' alleged wrongful manipulation
of securities prices in connection with the Trustee's
liquidation of the Debtor's assets.

On January 23, 1996, Fiero caused a subpoena to be
served on Mr. Funkhauser directing him to appear
at a deposition on February 6, 1996. See Affirma-
tion of Martin H. Kaplan in Support of Motion to
Compel, dated March 4, 1996 (the “Kaplan Af-

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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firm.”} q 2. By letter dated January 31, 1996 (the
“January Letter), Thomas P. Moran, Esq., an attor-
ney in the Office of the General Counsel of the
NASD (who is not related to John T. Moran), ob-
jected to the subpoena and informed Fiero's counsel
that Funkhauser would not appear at the scheduled
deposition becanse his testimony is protected by the
attorney-client, attorney work product and law en-
forcement privileges. See Kaplan Affirm. Ex. B.
Funkhauser has been involved in an ongoing NASD
investigation into trading by Fiero in certain secur-
ities underwritten by Hanover Sterling & Co.
(“Hanover”). See NASD's Memorandum in Opposi-
tion to Motion to Compel, dated March 22, 1996
(the “NASD Mem.™) at p. 3. Fiero disputes the
NASD's assertion that Fiero is a target of the in-
vestigation. Kaplan Affirm. § 7.7 By letter dated
February 1, 1996, Fiero asked the NASD to recon-
sider its position, explaining that Fiero did not seek
privileged information because Funkhauser would
be called on to testify only as to factual matters re-
lating to his contacts or discussions with Hanover,
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC™),
the Trustee, the New York Stock Exchange
(“*NYSE™), the SIPC and certain other third parties,
rather than his analysis or opinion. Kaplan Affirm.
Ex. C. Funkhauser did not appear at the scheduled
deposition, and the NASD failed to seek either a
protective order from this Court pursuant to
Fed R.Civ.P. 26(c) or an order quashing the sub-
poena pursuant to Fed. R.Civ.P. 45,

FN1. In fact, we understand that in a com-
plaint filed in or about April 1998, the
NASD alleged that Fiero and three other
brokerage houses made $6.4 million in il
legal profits by selling short stocks for
which Hanover made a market,

*2 Pursuant.to a subpoena issued by Fiero, John T.
Moran appeared pro se at a deposition held on
January 30 and 31, 1996. During that deposition,
Moran refused to answer various questions pro-
pounded to him concerning the identity of certain
individuals or entities with whom he may have dis-

Page 2

cussed matters that are the subject of an ongeing
NASD investigation. Kaplan Affirm. q 8; Kaplan
Affirm. Ex. E. In doing so, he did not assert any
privilege, and has not sought a protective order.

Discussion

We base our subject matter jurisdiction of this mat-
ter on 15 U.S.C. §§ 78eee(b)(2)A) and (b)(4) and
the district court's February 27, 1995 order refer-
ring and removing the Debtor's case to this court.
This motion is a core proceeding pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 157(b)(2)(A).

Motion to Compel Deposition of Funkhauser

Fed R.Civ.P. 26(b) provides that a party “may ob-
tain discovery regarding any matter, not privileged,
which is relevant to the subject matter involved in
the pending action.” FedR.Civ.P. 26(b). Notwith-
standing the assertions in the January Letter, the
NASD does not contend that the attorney client
privilege is applicable herein. It does claim that the
information sought by Fiero from Funkhauser con-
cerns matters relating to an active, ongoing NASD
investigation and is insulated from discovery under
both the “investigative file privilege” and the attor-
ney work product doctrine.

The party secking to invoke a privilege bears the
burden of establishing “those facts that are the es-
sential elements of the privileged relationship.” In
re Grand Jury Subpoena Dated Jan. 4, 1984, 750
F.2d 223, 224 (2d Cir.1984). This burden cannot be
“ *discharged by mere conclusory or ipse dixit as-
sertions.” * Id. at 225 (quoting fn re Bonanno, 344
F.2d 830, 833 (2d Cir.1965)). Once this burden has
been satisfied, it is incumbent upon the party seek-
ing discovery to demonstrate that its need for the
information and the harm that it would suffer as a
consequence of non-disclosure outweigh the injury
that disclosure would cause either to the other party
or the interests cited by it. Apex Oil v.. DiMauro,
110 F.R.D. 490, 496 (8.D.N.Y.1983); see also In re
Sealed Case, 856 F.2d 268, 272 (D.C.Cir.1988)

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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(interest in non-disclosure must be balanced against
the need of the party seeking discovery for access
to the information sought); Black v. Sheraton Corp.
of America, 564 F.2d 531, 545 (D.C.Cir.1977); Se-
curities and Exchange Commission v. Thrasher,
No. 92 Civ. 6987, 1995 WL 46681, at *10
(S.D.N.Y. Feb. 7, 1995), gffd No. 92 Civ. 6987,
1995 WL 456402 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 2, 1995),

The attorney work product doctrine is set forth in
Fed.R.Civ.P. 26(b)(3), which provides in relevant
part as follows:

[A] party may obtain discovery of documents and
tangible things otherwise discoverable under sub-
division (b)(1) of this rule and prepared in anti-
cipation of litigation or for trial by or for another
party or by or for that party's representative
(including the other party's attorney, consultant,
surety, indemnitor, insyrer, or agent) only upon a
showing that the party seeking discovery has sub-
stantial need of the materizls in the preparation of
the party's case and that the party is unable
without due hardship to obtain the substantial
equivalent of the materials by other means. In or-
dering discovery of such materials when the re-
quired showing has been made, the court shall
protect against disclosure of the mental impres-
sions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories of
an attorney or other representative of a party con-
cerning the litigation.

*3 Fed.R.Civ.P. 26(b)(3). Thus, in appropriate cir-
cumstances, the doctrine prevents disclosure of ma-
terials generated in anticipation of litigation, sée,
e.g, Hickman v. Taplor, 329 U.S. 495, 511-13
(1947}, as well as the mental impressions, conclu-
sions, opinions or legal theories of an attorney con-
cerning litigation. See, e.g, Upjohn Co. v. United
States, 449 U.8. 383, 399-401 (1981}, John Doe
Corp. v. United States (In re John Doe Corp.), 675
F.2d 482, 493 (2d Cir.1982).

The “investigatory privilege” is a qualified com-
mon law privilege protecting civil as well as crim-
inal law-enforcement investigatory files from civil

Page 3

discovery. See Friedman v. Bache Halsey Stuart
Shields, Inc., 738 F.2d 1336, 1341 (D.C.Cir.1984);
Black, 564 F.2d at 541-42; Frankel v. Securities
and Exchange Commission, 460 F.2d 813, 817 (2d
Cir.), cert denied 409 U.S. 889 (1972); United
States v. American Telephone & Telegraph Com-
pany, 86 FR.D. 603, 639 (D.D.C.1979). It is pre-
dicated on a “public interest in minimizing disclos-
ure of documents that would tend to reveal law en-
forcement investigative techniques or sources.”
Black, 564 F.2d at 545. The privilege applies to
both investigatory files and testimony concerning
their contents. See Sealed Case, 356 F.2d at 271
(“It would make little sense to protect the actual
files from disclosure while forcing the government
to testify about their contents™).

The privilege -has been extended to quasi-
governmental or non-governmental entities, like the
NASD, entrusted with the enforcement of rules of
conduct and procedure promulgated by self-
regulating industries. See Ross v. Bolton, 106
FR.D. 22, 23 (S.D.N.Y.1985) (motion to compel
production of NASD files denied where NASD had
already agreed to produce factual data and remain-
ing documents, including chart of trading activities
and transcripts of unsworn deposition testimony
taken during NASD investigation, represented staff
analyses of data or opinions such that they were
protected by investigatory privilege); see also
Thrasher, 1995 WL 46681, at *12 (disclosure of
documents of Chicago Board of Exchange and New
York Stock Exchange in possession of SEC barred
by investigatory privilege); Apex Oil, 110 FR.D. at
497 (protecting investigative files of New York
Mercantile Exchange).

There are three prerequisites to the assertion of the
privilege: (i)} the head of the department having
control over the information requested must assert
the privilege; (ii) the official in question must do so
based on actual personal consideration; and (iii) he
or she must specify the information purportedly
covered by the privilege, and accompany the re-
quest with an explanation as to why such informa-

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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tion falls within the scope of the privilege. Sealed
Case, 856 F.2d at 270 (citing Black, 564 F.2d at
542-43; Friedman, 738 F.2d at 1341-42). Once
these conditions are satisfied, the information
sought will not be disclosed unless the party seek-
ing disclosure establishes that its need for the in-
formation outweighs the public interest in prevent-
. ing disclosure. See Raphael v. Aetna Casualty &
Surety Co., 744 F.Supp. 71, 74 (S.D.N.Y.1990)
(where qualified common law privilege invoked to
defeat discovery, balancing of competing interests
required),

*4 The NASD claims that application of the invest-
igatory privilege bars Funkhauser's deposition be-
cause Funkhauser's testimony “will reveal, directly
or indirectly, to Fiero, a target of the investigation,
what information confidential sources are supplying
to the NASD and the direction the [NASD] invest-
igation is, or is not, taking.” NASD Mem. at p. 5. It
also asserts that “premature disclosure of investig-
atory information, with all its attendant dangers of
witness intimidation or retaliation and the conform-
ing tainting of testimony, may potentially prevent
the NASD from presenting its strongest case if
formal disciplinary action is deemed necessary,
thereby frustrating the important public interest in
vigorous enforcement of the securities laws.” Id
Fiero counters that it seeks to depose Funkhauser as
a “fact wimess” rather than for his “work product”
or for “inside information”. See Reply Affirmation
of Martin H. Kaplan in Support of Motion to Com-
pel (undated) (the “Reply Affirm.”) ¥ 9.

Neither the investigatory privilege nor the attorney
work product doctrine ordinarily prechudes discov-
ery of factual or statistical information, as opposed
to mental impressions or opinions, even if such in-
formation is embodied in privileged materials or
serves as the basis for opinions of the investigator
or attorney involved. Sée Hickman, 329 U.S. at 507,
513 (noting that “either party may compel the other
to disgorge whatever facts he has in his possession”
but finding that facts learned by attorney from sur-
vivors in tugboat mishap in action against tugboat
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company were not discoverable under work-product
doctrine where information was readily available
elsewhere); Ross, 106 F.R.D. at 24 (factual or stat-
istical information not protected by investigative
privilege);, Ford v. Philips Electronics Instruments
Co., 82 FR.D. 359, 360 (E.D.Pa.1979) (work
product doctrine furnishes no shield against discov-
ery of facts that adverse party's lawyer has learned
or existence or nonexistence of documents, even if
documents themselves may not be subject to dis-
covery); Xerox Corp. v. International Business Ma-
chines Corp., 64 F.R.D. 367, 381-82
(S.D.N.Y.1974) (“[a] party should not be allowed
to conceal critical, non-privileged, discoverable in-
formation, which is uniquely within the knowledge
of the party and which is not obtainable from any
other source, simply by imparting the information
to its attorney and then attempting to hide behind
the work product doctrine after the party fails to re-
member the information™); Banks v. Lockheed-Geor-
gia Co, 53 F.RD. 283, 285 (N.D.Ga.1971)
{denying discovery of written opinions and conclu-
sions of defendant's “research” team, which in-
cluded attorney, under work product doctrine, but
ordering defendant to provide plaintiffs with any
factnal or statistical information that was available
to team).

However, when disclosure of facts would effect-
ively reveal the mentdl impressions or opinions of
an attorney, those facts have been protected from
disclosure pursuant to the attorney work product
doctrine. See Shelton v. American Motors Corp.,
805 F.2d 1323, 1329 (8th Cir.1986) (work product
doctrine barred deposition of opposing counsel
where mere acknowledgment of existence of docu-
ments selected in process of compiling documents
from among voluminous files in preparation for lit-
igation would reveal mental impressions), N.F.A.
Corp. v. Riverview Narrow Fabrics, Inec., 117
FR.D. 83, 85-86 (M.D.N.C.1987) (“even seem-
ingly innocent questions, such as the existence or
nonexistence of documents or queries concerning
which documents counsel has selected in preparing
a witness for deposition ntay implicate opinion
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work product™),

*5 This concept was addressed in Securities and
Exchange Commission v. Morelli, 143 FR.D. 42
(S.D.N.Y.1992). In that case, the defendants in an
insider trading action sought to depose the SEC or a
member of its litigation team under Fed R.Civ.P.
30(b)(6) in an effort to discover factual information
upon which the SEC's allegations were predicated,
including the time and place of the defendants' al-
leged receipt of the inside information, the source
and substance of the information and the identity of
other individuals to whom the information was al-
legedly transmitted. /d. at 44. The SEC moved for a
protective order, claiming, among other things, that
the information was protected by the work product
doctrine. /4. In finding that the proposed deposition
constituted an impermissible attempt by the defend-
ants to inquire into fhe mental processes and
strategies of the SEC, the court stated:

Given plaintiff's swom, uncontroverted statement
that all relevant, non-privileged evidence has
been disclosed to the defendants, the Court is
drawn inexorably to the conclusion that
fdefendants'] Notice of Deposition is intended to
ascertain how the SEC intends to marshall the
facts, documents and testimony in its possession,
and to discover the inferences that plaintiff be-
lieves properly can be drawn from the evidence it
has accumulated.

Id at47.

The same concerns that motivated the court in Mo-
relli to deny deposition discovery because it
threatened the sanctity of mental impressions, opin-
ions or strategic deliberation under the work
product doctrine are present in this case. Premature
disclosure of factual information to the target of a
pending NASD investigation could impair the
NASD's ability to investigate its members, thereby
defeating the important “public interest in maintain-
ing the integrity of effective industry self-
regulation.” See Ross, 106 F.R.D, at 23 (noting
“strong public interest” in finding that investigatory

Page 5

privilege precluded discovery of NASD file materi-
als constituting opinion and analysis).

This argument is rendered no less compelling
merely because Morelli involved an attempt to de-
pose opposing counsel, and the court's decision was
accordingly influenced in part by the general disap-
probation with which this practice is viewed due to
its adverse effect upon the efficacy of the adversari-
al process and the significant risk that the attorney
will be forced to reveal his theory of the case or
strategy to an opponent. 143 F.R.D. at 47. Although
the NASD is not a party to this proceeding, it is po-
tentially adverse to Fiero in any disciplinary action
arising as a consequence of its investigation. See
NASD Mem. at pp. 7-8. Thus, whether it consists
of revealing an attorney’s legal theories developed
in anticipation of a disciplinary proceeding or pre-
maturely disclosing the strategy driving an ongoing
investigation, the risk is equally significant. We ac-
cordingly find that the scope of the investigative
privilege should be extended to encompass the in-
formation sought by Fiero in this case.

*6 Fiero contends that its need to obtain the inform-
ation from Funkhauser outweighs any public in-
terest in preventing disclosure because allegedly
confradictory deposition testimony by John Cor-
siglia, Esq. (then, a Cleary, Gottlieb attorney) calls
into question the veracity of the testimony given by
Moran, and Funkhauser's testimony is therefore ne-
cessary to determine whether Moran is telling the
truth. Reply Affirm. § 13. However, Fiero does not
identify the relevant Corsiglia testimony, and the
record is otherwise devoid of any evidence whatso-
ever to support a finding that Moran has been any-
thing other than truthful in his testimony. Fiero's
unsupported allegations are inadequate to overcome
the important public interest served by maintaining
the confidentiality of the NASD's investigative files,

Apex Oil, 110 FR.ID. at 490, is instructive on this
point. In denying access to investigative files main-
tained by the New York Mercantile Exchange, the
court stated: '
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[Pllaintiff argues that it needs the information in
question to assess the accuracy and truthfulness
of previously obtained deposition testimony. In
this regard, plaintiff argues that any witness state-
ments made shortly after the events in question
will be more detailed and accurate than depos-
ition testimony long after those events, and that
the statements might, in any event, diverge from
the testimony offered in pre-trial discovery. On
balance, I conclude that plaintiff has not made an
adequate showing of need. Plaintiff's principal ar-
gument-that statements made to the Exchange in-
vestigators may differ from testimony given by
the same witnesses in pre-trial depositions-if ac-
cepted would eliminate any requirement of a par-
ticularized showing of need. There is always a
possibility of divergent testimony, and if such a
mere possibility were sufficient to waive any pro-
tection for the investigative files, it would neces-
sarily do so in every case. Speculation of this sort
is simply inadequate to justify overcoming the
presumptive protection accorded the investigative
files.

Id at 498 (footnote omitted). Moreover, Fiero has
not demonstrated that it is unable to obtain the in-
formation it seeks from other sources (e.g, the
Trustee, the SIPC, the NYSE, the SEC or “other
third parties™). See Friedman, 738 F.2d at 1341
{(whether information is available from other
sources is factor in determining degree of litigant's
need to obtain it); Collins v. Shearsow/American
Express, Inc., 112 FR.D. 227 (D.D.C.1986) (denial
of motion to compel production of Commodities
Futures Trading Commission files where docu-
ments were privileged, CFTC asserted that disclos-
ure could harm investigation in progress and
plaintiffs made only weak showing of need or that
documents unavailable elsewhere).

Citing Fed.R.Civ.P. 37(d), Fiero also seeks to im-
pose reasonable costs (including attorneys' fees) in-
cared in connection with the Motion upon
Funkhauser and the NASD. Although the NASD
" should have moved for a protective order or for an

Page 6

order quashing Funkhauser's subpoena, we find that
because the NASD's position was substantially jus-
tified, both Fiero and the NASD must bear their
own costs and expenses incurred in connection
herewith.

Compelling Moran to Testify

*7 FedR.Civ.P. 30(c) states that all objections
made at the time of a deposition shall be noted and
that evidence with respect to which an objection
has been interposed will be taken subject to the ob-
jection. FedR.Civ.P. 30(c). Under Fed.R.Civ.P.
30(d)(1), “[a) party may instruct a deponent not to
answer only when necessary to preserve a privilege,
to enforce a limitation on evidence directed by the
court, or to present a motion™ seeking to limit the
scope of a deposition conducted in bad faith or in
an unreasonably annoying, harassing or oppressive
manner. FedR.Civ.P. 30(d)(1). “[Albsent a claim
of privilege™ or one of the other bases stated in the
rule, “Instructions not to answer questions at a de-
position are improper.” Gould Investors, L.P. v.
General Insurance Co. of Trieste & Venice, 133
FR.D. 103, 104 (SDN.Y.1990) (citing Nutmeg
Ins. Co. v. Atwell, Vogel & Sterling, Div. of Equifax
Services, Inc., 120 F. R.D. 504, 508 (W.D.La.1988) ).

If a deponent fails to answer a question propounded
at a deposition, the discovering party may move for
an order compelling the deponent to respond.
Fed.R.Civ.P. 37(a}(2)(B). This rule applies whether
or not a party is represented by counsel. Parties ap-
pearing pro se, although afforded special solicitude,
are subject to the compulsion and sanction mechan-
isms set forth in Fed R.Civ.P. 37. See McDonald v.
Head Criminal Court Supervisor Officer, 850 F.2d
121 (2d Cir.1988); Maleski v. Landberg, No. 93
Civ. 5318, 1996 WL 63043, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Feb.
13, 1996);, Baker v. Ace Advertisers’ Service, Inc.,
153 FR.D. 38, 40 (5.D.N.Y.1992); Rivera v. Sim-
mons, 116 F.R.D. 593, 596 (S.D.N.Y.1987).

No evidentiary limitations have been imposed by
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this Court that would relieve or prevent Moran
from responding to the questions posed by Fiero.
Also, there is no evidence to suggest that Moran's
refusal to testify is premised upon any allegation
that his deposition was being conducted in bad faith
or in an unreasonably annoying, harassing or op-
pressive manner.

Construing the entire record before us in a way fa-
vorable to Moran, the only conceivable justification
for his refusal to answer is that any testimony con-
cerning the issues in question is in some way priv-
ileped because it is or may be the subject of a
pending grand jury investigation. See Transcript of
Deposition of John T. Moran held on January 30,
1996 at p. 129, 1. 9 (annexed as Ex. E. to Kaplan
Affirm.). Moran acknowledges, however, that he is
not aware of any pending grand jury investigation
of the matters involved. /d Even if Moran had test-
ified before a federal grand jury, he would not be
precluded from revealing either that he testified or
the nature of his testimony. See Rule 6(g)(2} of the
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure; In re Applica-
tion of Eisenberg, 654 F2d 1107, 112 n. 9 (5th
Cir.1981). We find, therefore, that Moran has not
stated any applicable privilege or other legally cog-
nizable basis for his refusal to answer the questions
propounded to him by Fiero.

Conclusion

*8 We deny the motion as to Funkhauser and the
NASD and grant it as to Moran,

SETTLE ORDER.

S.D.N.Y.,1999.

In re Adler, Coleman, Clearing Corp.

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 1999 WL 1747410
(SDN.Y)

END OF DOCUMENT
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C

Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

United States District Court, E.D. Louisiana.
In The Matter of NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF
SECURITIES DEALERS.
No. 96-0518.

July 18, 1996.
AFRICK, United States Magistrate Judge.

*1 This matter is before the court pursuant to a mo-
tion to compel compliance with a subpoena duces
tecum filed on behalf of Dow Jones & Co., Inc. and
Laora Jereski. Said motion is related to a libel ac-
tion, MMAR Group, Inc. v. Dow Jones & Co., Inc.
and Laura Jereski, Civil Action No. H-95-1262,
pending in the Southern District of Texas.

The basis of the above-referenced libel action is an
article written by defendant, Laura Jereski, and
published by defendant, Dow Jones & . Company,
Inc. (collectively referred to  herein as
“defendants™), in the Wall Street Journal on Octo-
ber 21, 1993. The article concerned the relationship
of plaintiff, MMAR Group, Inc. (*MMAR”), with
the Louisiana State Employees Retirement System
(“LASERS”). MMAR claims that many of the
statements in the article were false, including a
statement to the effect that on October 4, 1993, the
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.,
{(“NASD™), in particular, the NASD's District No. 5
based in New Orleans, Louisiana, had filed a notice
of a pending action against MMAR Defend-
ants contend that the above statement was
“substantially true,” in that, prior to the time the
article was published, a recommendation had been
made that charges be filed against MMAR.

FNI1. Tt has now been established that as of
October 21, 1993, the date the pertinent
article was published, the NASD had not
yet initiated any action against MMAR.

Page 1

Based upon the above contentions, it is clear that a
critical element of MMAR's libel action, as well as
defendants' defense thereto, is the status of the
NASD's investigation of MMAR at the time the
Wall Street Journal article was published. As such,
in May, 1996, defendants had a subpoena issued
from the United States District Court for the East-
ern District of Louisiana commanding, in part, that
the New Orleans-based office of the NASD produce
all documents evidencing the state of its investiga-
tion of MMAR as of October 20, 1993 .2

FN2. See exhibit C attached to defendants’
motion to compel NASD to comply with
the subpoena, document # 2.

NASD objected to producing the subpoenaed docu-
ments, arguing that the documents were part of an
ongoing disciplinary proceeding against MMAR
and therefore, were not subject to discovery.f™ In
light of the NASD's objections, in February, 1996,
defendants filed, in the Eastern District of Louisi-
ana, a motion to compel the NASD to comply with
the subpoenaf™ On March 13, 1996, the district
court, pursuant to defendants' motion, dismissed de-
fendants’ motion to compel without prejudice.™*

FN3. The pertinent disciplinary proceeding
against MMAR is currently on appeal, sub-
ject to a de novo review.

FN4, See record, document # 2.

FN3. See record, document # 9. Defend-
ants’ motion to dismiss was prompted by
their attempt to obviate the need for the re-
quested documents by requesting that the
court in the Southern District of Texas take
judicial notice of various proposed facts
including the following:

The NASD district No. 5 staff's report
was reviewed by an examination sub-
committee of NASD's District No. 5 on
October 11, 1993, and the examination
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sub-committee recommended that the
proposed charges be filed against
MMAR Group.

See “Defendants' First Request for Judi-
cial Notice,” attached as exhibit E to de-
fendants' renewed motion to compel,
document # 12. On June 18, 1996, the
Honorable Frances H. Stacy, United
States Magistrate Judge for the Southern
District of Texas, denied defendants’ re-
quest for judicial notice. See exhibit B
attached to defendants’ challenge to the
NASDY's privilege claims, document # 17,

On June 6, 1996, defendants filed a “renewed” mo-
tion to compel the NASD's compliance with their
subpoena.™¢ Following oral argument, on June
19, 1996, the undersigned magistrate judge ordered
the NASD to provide a privilege log of documents
covering the period up to and including October 21,
1993, which reflect when a recommendation was
made that a complaint be filed against MMAR rel-
ative to its business dealings with LASERS.™Y
Upon receipt of the NASD's privilege log, defend-
ants' objections or challenges thereto and the
NASD's reply to defendants’ objections, defendants’
motion to compel was set for hearing F™8

FN6. See record, document # 12.
FN7. See record, document # 16.
FN&. See record, document # 18.

The NASD does not contend that there are, nor has
this court been able to locate, any cases in which
NASD documents have been found to enjoy a gov-
ernmental privilege against discovery.F™ Instead,
to determine the discoverability of the documents at
issue, the court must engage in a balancing test,
weighing the “strong public interest in maintaining
the integrity of effective industry self-regulation”
N9 against the “need of the parties to obtain in-
formation relevant to their lawsuit.” Ross, 106

Page 2

F.R.D. at 24 /11

FNS. See the NASD's memorandum in op-
position to motion to compel, docwument #
15, at page seven, fooimote one; see also
Ross v. Rolton, 106 FRD. 22, 23
(8.D.N.Y.1985).

FN10. The NASD's “main purpose is to
provide industry self-regulation of the
over-the-counter securities market, subject
to governmental oversight” Ross, 106
FR.D. at23.

FN1l. In addition to utilizing this balan-
cing test, the Ross court divided the in-
formation at issue into two categories: “(1)
factual or statistical data, and (2) analyses
or opinions drawn from such material”
Ross, 106 F.R.D. at 24. Such a dichotomy
would serve no useful purpose in the in-
stant matter. The information sought by
defendants, ie., information regarding the
recommendation that a complaint be filed
against MMAR, necessarily includes opin-
ions drawn from factual data.

*2 In the factual scenario presented in Ross, supra,
a litigant in a private securities fraud action sought
to discover documents utilized in the NASD's se-
curities fraud investigation. As the Ross court
noted, the public interest in maintaining the integ-
rity of investigations undertaken by the NASD, the
organization created to promote self-regulation of
the securities industry, “would clearly be under-
mined by making NASD files fair game for any of
the thousands of private securities fraud lifigants
across the country who wish to shortcut their own
discovery efforts and instead to reap the benefits of
the [NASD's] ... work.” Ross, 106 F.R.D. at 24,

In the instant matter, such a threat to the above-
described public interest does not exist. The reques-
ted NASD information is not sought for discovery
purposes or any other purpose in connection with
any private securities fraud litigation or disciplinary
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proceeding against MMAR. Instead, the informa-
tion is sought in order to support the argument of
third parties, Dow Jones and Jereski, that a portion
of the alleged libelous article was substantially true.

Additionally, in Ross, supra, the court determined
that some of the requested information did “not
seem so central to defendants' cause as to overcome
the strong interest held by both NASD and the pub-
lic in keeping [the information} confidential absent
a showing of extraordinary need.” /d. at 24. In con-
trast, the limited information sought from the
NASD in the instant matter is crucial. Defendants
have filed a motion for summary judgment based,
at least in part, on the alleged “substantial truth” of
the October 21, 1993, article™2 Defendants at-
tempted to obtain the necessary “undisputed” ma-
terial facts to support their summary judgment mo-
tion via their request for judicial notice.™* Fail-
ing that, the only means remaining to defendants is
via the instant motion to compel.

FN12. Defendants' motion for summary
judgment is presently pending before the
disirict court in the Southern District of
Texas.

FNI13. See discussion supra at note 5.

The court finds that the NASD's interest in main-
taining the confidentially of certain documents cov-
ering the time period up to and including October
21, 1993, which reflect when a recommendation
was made that a complaint be filed against MMAR
relative to MMAR's business dealings with
LASERS, is outweighed by defendants' need for
pertinent information. Such conclusion, however,
does not lead this court to conclude that defendants
are entitled to blanket inspection of all investigative
information utilized by the District 5 Sub-
Committee in arriving at its recommendation. The
atleged libelous statement which stands at the cen-
ter of this controversy is:

The NASD filed a notice of a pending action
against the firm and Mr. Brown on Oct. 4. Ac-
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cording to people familiar with the investigation,
the NASD complaint alleges that MMAR used
deceptive or fraudulent information to induce
Lonisiana's pension fund to buy securities, in or-
der to collect commissions.

Defendants hope to establish that a recommenda-
tion had been made to the District Business Con-
duct Commitiee for District 5 that a complaint be
filed against MMAR. The portion of the Wall Street
Journal article referred to above also described the
nature of the allegation allegedly contained in the
complaint. Accordingly, any order by this court al-
lowing inspection of documents relates to those
NASD documents detailing any action that NASD
recommended be taken as well as a description of
any allegations that NASD recommended should
serve as the basis for such a complaint.

*3 Having examined the NASD documents submit-
ted for the court's in-camera review, the court finds
that portions of NASD document 6 meet the above
description. Accordingly;

IT 1S HEREBY ORDERED that the NASD provide
defendants, within one week, with a properly redac-
ted copy of document 6.

E.D.La.,1996.
In Matter of Nat. Ass'n of Securities Dealers
Not Reported in F.Supp., 1996 WL 406826 (E.D.La.)

END OF DOCUMENT
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Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.
United States District Court, S.D. New York.
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,
Plaintiff,

v.
Huogh THRASHER, et al., Defendants.
No. 92 Civ. 6987 (JFK).
Feb. 7, 1995.

Peter Goldstein, Robert Knuts, Lee Larson, SEC,
New York City.

David Meister, Asst. U.S. Atty.,, S.DN.Y. New
York City.

Lloyd S. Clareman, New York City.

Richard Ben-Veniste, Weil, Gotshal & Manges,
Washington, DC.

Barry Levin, Los Angeles, CA.
Michaet Bachner, New York City.

Stanley S. Arkin, Chadbourne & Parke, New York
City.

John B. Harris, Stillman, Friedman & Shaw, P.C.,
New York City.

Leon Borstein, New York City.

Mark Kaplan, Schulte, Roth, Zabel, New York City.
Gary E. Eisenberg, Monroe, NY.

Jerry D. Sparks, Chicago, IL.

David T. Mivamoto, Graham & James, Los
Angeles, CA.

Barry S. Pollack, Arkin, Schaffer & Supino, New
York City.
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Bobby C. Lawyer, Pettit & Martin, San Francisco,
CA.

MEMORANDUM & ORDER

MICHAEL H. DOLINGER, United States Magis-
trate Judge:

*] Three defendants have moved to compel produc-
tion of assertedly privileged documents from the
plaintiff. For the reasons that follow, the motions
are granted in part.

Background

This lawsuit was commenced by the Securities and
Exchange Commission to pursue claims of improp-
er use of so-called insider information by a host of
individual investors. The information concerned the
intended purchase of the Motel 6 chain by a French
corporation in 1989. The complaint named a cor-
porate insider, Hugh Thrasher, as the original
source, and it alleged that the information was dis-
closed to a variety of individuals, who allegedly
utilized it to ‘make timely purchases of Motel 6
stock, and some of whom allegedly passed the news
on to other potential investors.

Discovery was temporarily stayed in June 1993, at
the request of the United States Attorney, while
criminal proceedings were instituted against some
of the civil defendants as well as other individuals.
That stay was vacated in 1994, when the criminal
defendants entered guilty pleas, and discovery has
again been underway for a number of months.

In the course of those resumed discovery efforts, it
became apparent that the Commission was asserting
a variety of privileges to block disclosure of a
broad array of documents to the defendants. This
stance has led defendants Hugh Thrasher, Jonathan
Hirsh and Ezra Chammah to seek court intervention
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on their behalf.

Of particular concern are documents that reflect
dealings between the Commission and some of the
individuals who were not only allegedly tippees,
but also tippers to some of the defendants in this
case. This concern is particularly acute, according
to the moving defendants, because the Commis-
sion's case against them must rest substantially on
what those defendants' alleged tippers and tippees
have told the Commission or other law enforcement
authorities. According to defendants, many of these
individuals have not been available for depositions,
and hence the defendants' only realistic avenue for
learning the basis of the allegations against them is
through the Commission.

The documents principally at issue on the current
motions are notes taken by Commission represent-
atives during the course of interviews of these co-
operating individuals. Defendants also seek copies
of any cooperation agreemenis between these indi-
viduals and either the Commission or the United
States Attorney, written communications with
counsel for the cooperators, documents received
from the Chicago Board of Exchange (“CBOE™)
and the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE™), doc-
uments generated in a parallel Comimission invest-
igation of trading in Motel 6 stock by other in-
vestors, and any documents reflecting communica-
tions with the physicians for one cooperator, who
died during the course of the Commission's invest-
igation. In addition, defendants seck an order com-
pelling the Commission to answer certain of their
interrogatories, and further request enforcement of
an order issued by Judge Keenan on May 3, 1993
directing the Commission to prepare an affidavit
summarizing what one cooperator told the Commis-
sion concerning the events underlying the Commis-
sion's complaint. Finally, defendants complain
about the adequacy of various entries on the Com-
mission's privilege log, and seck either an order re-
quiring disclosure of the documents improperly de-
scribed on the log or a direction to the Commission
to prepare a proper log.

Page2

*2 In opposing these motions, the Commission re-
lies principally on its assertion that most of the doc-
uments are protected from disclosure by the work-
product rule or by some variant of a law-
enforcement privilege. Plaintiff also argues that
some of the documents sought are not relevant to
the case, or are not in its possession.

ANALYSIS

To facilitate disposition of the issues raised by
these motions and the Commission's proffered de-
fenses, I first address the standards governing each
of the privilege issues and then apply those stand-
ards to the categories of documents at issue. The re-
maining issues are discussed in the last section of
this Memorandum and Order.

A. General Criteria

We start by noting that the proponent of a privilege
bears the burden “ ‘to establish those facts that are
the essential elements of the privileged relation-
ship.” ” vor Bulow v. von Bulow, 811 F.2d 136, 144
(2d Cir), cert. denied 481 .U.8, 1015 (1987)
(quoting In re Grand Jury Subpoena Dated Jan. 4,
1984, 750 F.2d 223, 224 (2d Cir.1984)). This bur-
den requires proof not merely of the privileged rela-
tionship itself, but of all essential elements of the
privilege. See, e.g., United States v. Schwimmer,
892 F.2d 237, 244 (2d Cir.1989); In re Horowitz,
482 F.2d 72, 82 (2d Cir), cert. denied, 414 US.
867 (1973); Fletcher v. Atex, Inc, 156 FR.D. 45,
49 (SDN.Y.1994). To meet that requirernent, the
party must make an evidentiary showing based on
competent evidence, see, e.g., von Bulow v. von Bu-
low, 811.F.2d at 144; In re Minebea Co., 143
F.R.D. 494, 503 (S.D.N.Y.1992), an obligation that
cannot be “discharged by mere conclusory or ipse
dixit assertions.” vonr Bulow v. von Bulow, 811 F.2d
at 146 (quoting /n re Bonanno, 344 F.2d 830, 833
(2d Cir.1965)); In re Grand Jury Subpoena Dated
Jan. 4, 1984, 750 F2d at 224-25; Redvanly v.
NYNEX Corp., 152 F.R.D. 460, 465
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As for the governing law, we look to the law ap-
plicable to the pertinent claims and defenses asser-
ted in the underlying action. See Fed.R.Evid. 501.
Since the Commission asserts claims arising under
federal law, and defendants' response is also groun-
ded on federal law, the substantive rules governing
any asserted privileges as well as work-product im-
munity must also be found in federal law. ™!

B. Work-Product Immunity

Rule 26(b)}(3) defines a qualified immunity from
discovery for documents “prepared in anticipation
of litigation or for trial.” This rule applies both to
documents and to festimony concermning the sub-
stance of such work product. See, e.g, Bowne of
New York City, Inc. v. AmBase Corp., 150 F.R.D. at
471 (citing cases). The rule does not, however, pro-
tect from disclosure the underlying facts known to
the party or his counsel, even if acquired in anticip-
ation of litigation. See, e.g, United States v. Dis-
trict Council of New York City & Vicinity, 1992
U.S.Dist. LEXIS 12307, at *17-18 (S.D.N.Y. Aug.
18, 1992} (citing Hickman v. Taylor, 329 U.S. 493,
501, 307, 511 (1947)); Bowne of New York City,
Inc. v. AmBase Corp., 150 F.R.D. at 471.

*3 In applying Rule 26(b}(3), the courts have gen-
erally ruled that it “applies only to documents pre-
pared principally or exclusively to assist in anticip-
ated or ongoing litigation.” Martin v. Valley Natl
Bank, 140 F.R.D. 291, 304 (S.D.N.Y.1991). See,
e.g., Binks Mfg. Co. v. National Presto Indus., Inc.,
709 F2d 1109, 1118-19 (7th Cir.1983); In re
Grand Jury Investigation, 599 F.2d 1224, 1229 (3d
Cir.1979);, Hardy v. New York News, Inc, 114
F.R.D. 633, 644 (S.D.N.Y.1987). Consequently, “if
a party prepares a document in the ordinary course
of business, it will not be protected even if the party
is aware that the document may also be useful in
the event of litigation.” Bowne of New York, Inc. v.
AmBase Corp., 150 F.R.D. at 471, See, e.g, Binks
Mfg. Co. v. National Presto Indus., Inc., 709 F2d
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at 1119; Hardy v. New York News, Inc., 114 FR.D,
at 644; Joyner v. Continental Ins. Cos., 101 FR.D.
414, 415-16 (5.D.Ga.1983).

Even if the information at issue comes within the
scope of the work-product rule, the immunmity af-
forded by the rule is conditional, since its protec-
tion may be set aside if the discovering party can
demonstrate a sufficiently compelling need for the
information. See, e.g., Bowne of New York Inc. v.
AmBase Corp., 150 F.RD. at 471; Golden Trade,
SrL. v Jordache, 143 FR.D. 3508, 510
{(S.D.N.Y.1992). As defined by Rule 26(b)(3), pro-
duction of work product may be ordered if the in-
quiring party “has [a] substantial need of the mater-
ials in the preparation of [his] case and ... [he] is
unable without undue hardship to obtain the sub-
stantial equivalent of the materials by other means.”
See, e.g., Horn & Hardart Co. v. Pillsbury Co., 888
F.2d 8, 12 (2d Cir.1989).

Judged by these standards, we see several deficien-
cies in the Commission's invocation of the work-
product rule to block production of an array of doc-
uments sought by defendants. Some may be re-
mediable, but others are not.

The initial problem is that the Commission makes
no effort to meet its burden of proffering competent
evidence establishing the basis of its work-product
claim. Its two declarants and one affiant address a
variety of matters, but they do not offer testimony
with regard to the interview notes, much less estab-
lish the precise purpose of the notes, whether a de-
cision had been made to litigate at the time that
they were created, whether the Commission was
contemplating other alternatives at the time, and
whether their notes were treated with the requisite
confidentiality. The absence of such a showing pre-
cludes us from upholding the work-product claim at
this time. See, e.g., Bowne of New York City, Inc. v.
AmBase Corp., 150 F.R.D. at 472, .

Although its position is not clearly articulated, the
Commission appears to assume that its notes of wit-
ness interviews created in the course of an investig-
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ation are automatically work product. Although
some support for that proposition might be drawn
from a decision by Judge Leval in SEC v. Navarre,
92 Civ, 3719 (PNL), Memorandum & Order at 2
(SD.N.Y. July 13, 1993),/42 that conclusion is not
self-evident. As Judge Leval noted, the purpose of
the Commission's investigation is to determine
whether there were violations of the securities laws.
If it finds none, presumably no litigation would en-
sue. Moreover, even if the Commission determines
that there is evidence of one or more violations, it
might choose to proceed by administrative sanc-
tions rather than litigation. See id. at 2.

*4 It is thus at least arguable that some or all of the
interview notes were not prepared principally or ex-
clusively to assist in anticipated litigation, although
such a determination might turn on when the notes
were prepared and the timing of any decisions by
the Commission that violations had been committed
and that litigation was a likely option under the cir-
cumstances. Indeed, Judge Sprizzo apparently re-
lied on that precise distinction in declining to up-
hold the Commission's claim of work product for
notes of interviews “taken by the SEC while con-
ducting a fact gathering investigation and prior to
the Commission's determination to institute litiga-
tion against the .. defendants.” SEC v. Seration
Oakmont, Inc., 1992 WL 226924, at * 1 (S.D.N.Y.
May 22, 1992).

This approach is consistent with caselaw applying
the work-product rule in analogous contexts. Thus,
for example;—in Martin v.-Valley Nat'l-Bank,-140
F.R.D. at 308, this court rejected a very similar
work-product claim by the Division of Investiga-
tion of the Department of Labor. In that case the
Division had sought protection for all of its invest-
igative documents without regard to when it had
decided either that a violation had taken place or
that litigation was.a potential next step. As noted in
Martin, “[m]any courts have insisted on proof of
‘objective facts establishing an identifiable resolve
to litigate prior to the investigative efforts resulting
in the report before the work product doctrine be-
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comes applicable.” ” Id at 308 (quoting Janicker v.
George Washington Univ, 94 FRD. 648, 650
(D.D.C.1982)). Accord, e.g, Redvanly v. NYNEX
Corp., 152 FR.D. at 464-65 (citing cases).
Moreover, even the courts that have applied a more
liberal standard for protection have repeatedly
noted that, “[a]t the very least, the proponent of the

. work-product rule must show that ‘some articulable

M

claim, likely to lead to litigation, [has] arisen.
Mariin v. Valley Nat'! Bank, 140 F.R.D. at 308
(quoting Binks Mfg. Co. v. National Presto Indus.,
Ine., 709 F.2d at 1119; Coastal States Gas Corp. v.
Department of Ewnergy, 617 F2d 854, B865
(D.C.Cir.1980)).7 The Commission has not
made such a showing with respect to the documents
that it seeks to withhold on this basis.

That failing is not the only problem with the Com-
mission's position. Even if we assume that plaintiff
could establish the requisite anticipation of litiga-
tion for some or all of the documents, we have no
indication as to whether any, some or all of the doc-
uments were given the confidential treatment that is
required to maintain their protected status. For ex-
ample, if any were shown or otherwise disclosed to
counsel for any of the tippees, a strong argument
could be made that the work-product immunity was
thereby lost, since voluntary disclosure of a docu-
ment by a party in such a manner that it is likely to
be revealed to its adversary constitutes waiver. See
generally Bowne of New York City, Inc. v. AmBase
Corp., 150 F.R.D. at 479-80 {citing cases). While
we may speculate that the Commission staff did not
engage in such disclosure, speculation is an imper-
missible basis on which to uphold a claim of priv--
ilege or work-product immunity.

*5 The next difficulty, and one less subject to re-
mediation than the foregoing gaps in plaintiff's
showing, involves the Commission's contention that
the interview notes consist entirely of materials re-
flecting the mental processes of its attorneys. The
point of this assertion is to invoke the generally re-
cognized principle that so-called “mental process”
or “opinion” materials are to be protected from dis-
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closure even more stringently than what might be
labelled factual work product. See, e.g., Upjohn Co.
v. United States, 449 U.S. 383, 402 (1981); In re
Martin Marietta Corp., 856 F.2d 619, 625-26 (4th
Cir.1988), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1011 (1989); In re
John Doe Corp., 675 F.2d 482, 492 (2d Cir.1982).
As noted in Upjohn, work product reflecting the at-
torney's mental processes may be ordered disclosed,
if at all, only on a strong showing “of necessity and
unavailability by other means.” 449 U.S. at 402,
See, e.g., In re John Doe Corp., 675 F.2d at 492,
See also Fed R.Civ.P. 26(b)(3) (if court orders dis-
closure of work product, it “shall protect against
disclosure of the mental impressions, conclusions,
opinions or legal theories of an attorney or other
representative of a party concerning the litigation.”)

Although easily articulated, the line between so-
called factual work product and opinion work
product is not free from ambiguity in its applica-
tion. Obvicusly, many litigation-related activities of
an attorney will, upon analysis, yield some insight
into the attorney's thought processes concerning the
case. For example, in this case the very fact that
Commission staff interviewed certain individuals
indicates that they suspected that these individuals
may have been involved in the transmission of in-
sider information or had some first-hand knowledge
of such disclosures, and that their testimony could
assist the Commission in making its case against
some or all of the defendants. That inference does
not, however, justify the conclusion that any docu-
ment reflecting the fact that the Commission inter-
viewed specified individuals thereby constitutes
opinion work product. See, e.g., Appeal of Hughes,
633 F.2d 282, 289-90 (3d Cir.1980); Apex Qil Co.
v. DiMauro, 110 F.R.D. 490, 498 (S.D.N.Y.1985).

Similarly, a transcript of a formal investigative de-
position conducted by the Commission cor notes of
an informal witness interview are likely to be re-
plete with insights as to the staff attorneys' views
concerning whom to question, what general sub-
jects to probe and what specific questions are likely
to elicit the most helpful information from the
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Commission's perspective. This does not mean,
however, that the transcript of such testimony or
the notes of such an interview are necessarily clas-
sifiable as opinion work product and thus unavail-
able even on a showing of both “substantial need”
and an inability “without undue hardship to obtain
the substantial equivalent of the materials by other
means.” Fed R.Civ.P. 26(b)(3).1™

*§ This precise point was made by the Second Cir-
cuit in Jn re John Doe Corp., 675 F.2d at 493, in
which the Court addressed the same argument that
interview notes constituted opinion work product.
Based on its in camera review of the notes, the
Court rejected that assertion. Observing that the
notes simply “recite[d] in a paraphrased, abbrevi-
ated form, statements of fthe interviewee] relating
to events” relevant to a grand jury investigation, the
Court concluded that their disclosure “will not
trench upon any substantial interest protected by
the work-product immunity.” Id at 493. Signific-
antly, in drawing the line between factual and opin-
ion materials, the Court acknowledged that the
notes could provide some indication of the lawyers'
“thinking”, since one could deduce their questions
from the witness's statements, but it nonetheless
found the notes not to be entitled to heightened pro-
tection since “those inferences merely disclose the
concerns a layman would have as well as a lawyer
in these particular circumstances, and in no way re-
veal anything worthy of the description ‘legal the-
ory.” ” Id. at 493.

This approach to attorneys' notes has been gener-
ally followed within this circuit. See. e.g., Redvanly
v. NYNEX Corp, 152 FR.D. at 467-69 (citing
cases). Thus, at least to the extent that the notes
constitute summaries of what a party or witness has
stated to the attorney or his representative, it is
treated as factual work product and analyzed under
the standards articulated in Rule 26(b)(3). See, e.g.
SEC v. Militano, 1991 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 17953, at
*2-4 (8.D.N.Y. Dec. 12, 1991). See also Xerox
Corp. v. Int'l Business Muachines Corp., 64 F.R.D.
367,381-82 (S.D.N.Y.1974).
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Applying these standards, the court has conducted
an in camera review of documents withheld by the
Commission that constitute notes of interviews with
witnesses or conversations with their attorneys. Al-
though the Commission has asserted that these
notes constitute opinion work product, in the sense
that their production would disclose the opinions,
theories and analysis of Commission attorneys, I
find that a number of the documents do not match
that description. These consist, for the most part, of
abbreviated recapitulations of what a witness has
said during his or her interview.™ Moreover,
some of the brief entries in these notes are surroun-
ded by quotation marks, thus indicating that they
are direct quotes from the witness. A fair reading of
these summaries does not yield any significant in-
sights nto the strategy, tactics or theories of the
Commission's attorneys. They simply reflect the
fact that the Commission was seeking the type of
information that any attorney investigating whether
insider information had been disclosed would pur-
sue, Thus, application of the criteria used in In re
John Doe Corp. yields the conclusion that these in-
terview notes should be treated as factual work
product under Rule 26(b)(3).7

*7 There remains for consideration the hotly con-
tested question of whether the defendants have
made an adequate demonstration of need to over-
come the protection normally afforded such work
product. To assess this issue I briefly summarize
who is seeking which witnesses' statements and why.

Defendant Thrasher is alleged to have been the ori-
ginal source of the inside information. According to
plaintiff, Thrasher was a Motel 6 vice president,
and in his corporate capacity learned of an impend-
ing acquisition of Motel 6 by a French corporation
known as Accor. The complaint alleges that he then
tipped his friend Carl Harris, who is now deceased.
The Commission charges that Harris in turn dis-
closed the information to eight others-Angelo Pet-
rotto, Gregg Shawzin, Jeffrey Sanker, Michael
Newman, Fra Gorman, William Gomez, Leonard
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Schaen and David Schaen-and these individuals in
tarn transmitted the information to fourteen others.
Defendant Hirsh is alleged to have received the in-
formation from Jeffrey Sanker. As for defendant
Chammah, he assertedly received it from a Mark
Shawzin, who had previously received it from his
brother Gregg Shawzin.

In his Jetter motion Thrasher seeks production of
notes reflecting discussions between Commission
staff members and Harris's attorney, Gorman and
his attorney, Newman and his attorney, one or both
Shawzins and their attorneys, Petrotto, Gomez's at-
torney and Sanker. Hirsh seeks notes concerning
discussions with Sanker and Petrotto. Chammah
asks for production of notes concerning discussions
with Gregg and Mark Shawzin and Gregg
Shawzin's attorney, as well as with Chammah's
broker. In addition defendants ask for notes reflect-
ing contacts by the Commission with physicians
treating Harris before he died from AIDS.

In seeking to justify his request for witness inter-
view notes, Thrasher observes that the one person
whom he is alleged to have tipped-Harris-is dead,
and hence statements made by Harris to the Com-
mission or to those individuals whom he directly
tipped could be crucial to Thrasher's defense since
Harris was presumably the only person to have had
direct knowledge as to who was his source. Be-
cause the Commission did not take any testimony
or statements from Harris before his death, presum-
ably the only current sources of such information
are statements made by his attorney and by his al-
leged tippees. Thrasher notes that the Commission
did not take formal testimony from the tippees and
thus points to the notes of informal interviews as
the only ready source of information as to the basis
for the Commission's case.

As for Hirsh and Chammah, they seek a portion of
the same body of information. Since Hirsh al-
legedly was tipped by Sanker, he seeks notes of
Commission discussions with Sanker. He also seeks
notes of contacts with Petrotto, who was assertedly
the roommate of Harris. As for Chammah, he re-
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quests notes concerning the Shawzins because
Mark Shawzin allegedly tipped him after receiving
the information from Gregg Shawzin. Alternatively,
since the Commission's privilege log reflects no
notes of conversations with Mark Shawzin,
Chammah asks that the Commission be required to
prepare an affidavit summarizing the substance of
discussions with Mark Shawzin.

#*8 OQrdinarily a party in the movants' situation
might be told to take depositions of these individu-
als, since they are presumably in a position to
provide to the defendants in this case the same in-
formation as they previously provided to the Com-
mission. In response to this point, Thrasher asserts
that, as a practical matter, they are unavailable.
Harris is indisputably dead. As for the other tip-
pees, Thrasher represents, without contradiction,
that six have previously invoked their Fifth Amend-
ment immunity to decline to testify. (See Harris let-
ter at 4). He further documents the fact that counsel
for Sanker and Gomez have recently confirmed that
their clients would continue to invoke their Fifth
Amendment rights. (See id at 4 & Exhs. B & C). In
addition, Thrasher notes, without contradiction, that
the Commission has conceded that Gorman's
whereabouts are unknown. He also represents,
again without contradiction, that Petrotto has de-
faulted in both this and a parallel private lawsuit
and has departed for Italy, that he has been unable
to contact Gregg Shawzin either directly or through
his criminal defense counsel, and that Newman is
similarly unreachable. (/d.)

In further support of this point, Hirsh represents
that the expense of seeking to locate and depose
Petrotto in Milan, [taly, where he is apparently now
residing, would be prohibitive for him, even if-as
seems unlikely-Peirotto were willing to cooperate. (
See Hirsh Memorandum at 8-9). Similarly,
Chammah notes that Gregg Shawzin previously in-
voked the Fifth Amendment, and he suggests that
there is no reason to assume that his position will
change in this respect before the close of discovery.
(See Jan. 12, 1995 letter to the court from Martin L.
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Perschetz, Esq., at 11). He also argues that in any
event he should have any prior statement in order to
determine whether the witness, if he testifies, has
previously made any inconsistent statements. (/d.}

In opposing these requests, the Commission simply
asserts in general terms that the movants have not
adequately demonstrated that these witnesses are
truly unavailable. It does not explain precisely what
showing should be required, but it appears that
plaintiff would argue that defendants should now
locate and subpoena each of these individuals to de-
termine whether they will stili invoke the Fifth
Amendment.

The meritlessness of this argument is apparent if we
revert to the language of Rule 26(b)(3), which au-
thorizes production of factual work product “upon a
showing that the party seeking discovery has sub-
stantial need of the materials ... and that the party is
unable without undue hardship to obtain the sub-
stantial equivalent of the materials by other means.”
There is no question that the movants have a sub-
stantial need to learn what the identified witnesses
have told the Commission and would stats under
oath about their knowledge of the movants' role in
the transmission and receipt of insider infermation.
The remaining Rule 26(b)(3) requirement is that
movants demonstrate that they cannot obtain this
information from other sources “without undue
hardship.”

*9 This language does not mean that the movants
must prove that obtaining the information else-
where is absclutely impossible or that they must
prove the required element beyond a reasonable
doubt. All that is needed is a showing that it is
likely to be significantly more difficult, time-
consuming or expensive to obtain the information
from another source than from the factual work
product of the objecting party. See, eg. United
States v. Davis, 131 FRD. 391, 39596
(S.D.N.Y.1990). When a witness has previously in-
voked the Fifth Amendment, that “hardship” re-
quirement is generally satisfied absent a showing
that he has subsequently changed his mind and
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agreed to waive the privilege. See, e.g., SEC v. Mil-
itano, 1991 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 17953, at * 2-4;
United States v. Davis, 131 F.R.D. at 396.

The movants have met their burden in this respect,
and the Commission offers no indication that any of
the wiinesses identified by defendants as previously
having invoked the Fifth Amendment are now pre-
pared to testify at a deposition. The same conclu-
sion follows for those witnesses. whose whereabouts
are currently unknown or who have simply refused
to respond to or otherwise cooperate with the
parties to this action. Similarly, the fact that a po-
tential witness has departed for another continent
after defaulting in this case is sufficient demonstra-
tion that obtaining the required information from
him will involve undue hardship. See generally id.
at 396.

The Commission's position on this issue is further
undercut by its own conduct in this case. It has
delayed until late in the discovery period disclosing
its position on these matters; indeed, it failed
without explanation or excuse to meet the court's
initial schedule for responding fully to defendants’
discovery requests. At the same time it has pressed
the notion that it wishes to expedite the completion
of discovery, which is now scheduled to end in less
than two months. It is difficult to reconcile these
actions with its current position that defendants
must now undertake efforts to depose the scattered
and apparently uncooperative witnesses-a process
that will be time-consuming, expensive and in all
likelihood futile-before they can have access to the
Commission's interview notes.

In short, I conclude that, for purposes of Rule
26{b)(3), the movants have amply established their
need for access to any notes summarizing state-
ments by or on behalf of Messrs. Harris, Gorman,
Newman, Petrotto, Gomez, Sanker and Gregg
Shawzin.FN? Subject to any other privilege asser-
tion,F¥8 those notes must be produced ™™

As noted, there are several other narrow categories
of documents affected by the Commission's work-
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product claim. Specifically, movants seek notes of
any conversations with physicians for Hairis prior
to his demise, and Chammah asks for notes of con-
versations with a Mr. Mossari, who was his broker.

The movants seek notes of conversations with Har-
ris's doctors to buttress their contention that the
Commission knew that Harris was mortally ill and
deliberately avoided taking his testimony, which
would have been highly significant in view of his
key role as the only direct tippee of Thrasher. The
notes are obviously significant for this purpose
since they will reflect what the Commission knew
of Harris's condition and when it acquired that
knowledge. :

*10 The Commission's work-product claim in the
face of this request is difficult to fathom. The notes
reflect what the doctors had to say about their pa-
tient's condition, but they contain absolutely no in-
formation about plaintiff's counsel's strategy, tactics
or legal theories.™° Their ouly significance in
this respect is that they confirm that the Commis-
sion was concerned about Harris's medical condi-
tion, a concern that would appear self-cvident even
absent the notes, and that is in any event confirmed
by the very concession that the notes exist, irre-
spective of their specific contents. Although it is
possible that defendants could undertake to depose
the doctors, this process is likely to be extended and
costly, particularly compared to production of the
notes. Moreover, the movants' central concern is
not how sick Harris was at any given time, but
rather what the Commission knew about that sub-
ject during the relevant time period, and that in-
formation is far more readily obtained from the
Commission than from the doctors unless those
physicians took equivalently detailed notes of their
conversations with the Commission staff members.
In sum, the notes must be produced.F "

As for Chammal's broker, if we assume, for the
sake of the argument, that the Commission's notes
are work product, then production would not be re-
quired since Chammah demonstrates no pressing
need for them ™2 [t is not clear, however, wheth-

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.

http://web2.westlaw.com/print/printstream.aspx 7rs= WL W10.10&destination=atp&vr=2.0... 11/16/2010



Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS -DRH Document 192-7 Filed 11/17/10 Page 1Bagg 22 0of 32

Not Reported in F.Supp., 1995 WL 46681 (SD.N.Y.)
{Cite as: 1995 WL 46681 (S.D.N.Y.))

er such notes exist and, if so, whether they are in
fact work product. Hence the Commission must
promptly confirm whether it has such notes, and, if
80, must make the necessary showing that they
come within the scope of Rule 26{b)(3).

C. Law-Enforcement Privilege

In support of its refusal to produce certain docu-
ments, the Commission invokes what it refers to as
a law-enforcement privilege. This theory is cited to
block disclosure of several categories of informa-
tion, including cooperation agreements with tip-
pees, notes of conversations with counsel for one of
the potential cooperators, anonymous written com-
munications from members of the public apparently
concerning trading in Motel 6 stock or the disclos-
ure of insider information concerning the Accor ac-
quisition, and materials provided to the Commis-
sion by the CBOE and the NYSE. The Commission
also originally withheld documents generated by a
separate but related investigation into other pos-
sibly suspect trading in Motel 6 stock, but it has ap-
parently relented, at least in part, with regard to
these documents, apparently because the investiga-
tion has come to an end.

The general privilege theory espoused by the Com-
mission has been recognized in various forms as a
law-enforcement privilege, investigatory file priv-
ilege, official information privilege, executive priv-
tlege and informant privilege. See, e.g., In re Dep't
of Investigation of City of New York, 856 F.2d 481,
484 (2d Cir.1988), Friedman v. Bache Halsey Stu-
art  Shields, Inc, 738 F2d 1336, 1341
(D.C.Cir.1984); United States v. Davis, 131 FR.D.
at 395. What unites these slightly disparate but
overlapping principles is that the protection they af-
ford a governmental body is conditioned on a spe-
cific showing of harm by the agency if the informa-
tion were disclosed. See, eg., Friedman v. Bache
Halsey Stuart Shields, Inc., 738 F.2d at 1341-43;
see also King v. Conde, 121 FR.D. 180, 188-90
(E.D.N.Y.1988); Burke v. New York City Police
Dep't, 115 F.R.D. 220, 228-29 (SD.N.Y.1987);
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Crawford v. Dominic, 469 F.Supp. 260, 263-65
ED.Pa.1979 (citing cases) ™3 Morcover, irre-
spective of the precise label placed on the asserted
privilege, it offers only a qualified protection to the
agency, and thus can be overcome by a showing on
the part of the requesting party that his need for the
information outweighs the purported harm cited by
the agency. See, e.g, Friedman v. Bache Halsey
Stuart Shields, Inc., 738 F2d at 1342-43 (citing
Frankenhauser v. Rizzo, 59 F.RD. 339, 344
(E.D.Pa.1973)); Raphael v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.,
744 F.Supp. 71, 74-75 (S.D.N.Y.1990); King v
Conde, 121 FR.D. at 190-91; Kinoy v. Mitchell, 67
FR.D. 1, 12 (SD.N.Y.1975). See also Apex Oil Co.
v. DiMauro, 110 F.R.D. at 496-98.

#11 In this case the Commission argues principally
that disclosure of the assertedly privileged docu-
ments would interfere with its ability to conduct en-
forcement imvestigations because it would reveal its
investigatory techniques.™ This argument is in-
tended to cover cooperation agreements, documents
provided to the Commission by the CBOE and the
NYSE, and what are described as “[ajnonymous
letters containing tips concerning potential illegal
trading activities.” (Declaration of Peter Goldstein,
Esq., Exh. C-Declaration of Jonathan G. Katz, ex-
ecuted Dec. 27, 1994, at §j 3).

The obvious difficulty with the Commission's argu-
ment is its complete failure-except with regard to
some of the CBOE documents-to offer any mean-
ingful evidence in support of its claim of potential
harm. In asserting a law-enforcement privilege for
Commission documents, plaintiff relies solely on
one sentence contained in the declaration of the
Commission's Secretary, Jonathan G. Katz, in
which he states:

The law enforcement privilege is being asser-
ted as to these documents because they contain
law enforcement investigatory materials, produc-
tion ‘of which could impair the Commission's fu-
ture enforcement efforts in this and other matters.

(Id at 9§ 4).
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Plainly this conclusory assertion of genmeral and
speculative harm is inadequate to meet even the
most liberal definition of the Commission's burden
of proof. See, eg., Resolution Trust Corp. v. Dia-
mond, 137 FR.D. 634, 641 (SD.N.Y.1991); King
v. Conde, 121 F.R.D. at 189. See also Friedman v.
Bache Halsey Stuart Shields, e, 738 F2d at
1342-43 (“generalized claim” of harm is inad-
equate).™5 As Judge Weinstein has observed:

The government must specify “which documents
or class of documents are privileged and for what
reasons.” Kerr v. United States District Court,
supra, 511 F2d [192] at 198 [ (9th Cir.1975) ].
This threshold showing must explain the reasons
for nondisclosure with particularity, so that the
court can make an intelligent and informed
choice as to each requested piece of information.
“Unless the government, through competent de-
clarations, shows the court what interests [of law
enforcement ...] would be harmed, how disclosure
under a protective order would cause the harm,
and how much harm there would be, the court
cannot conduct a meaningful balancing analysis.”
Kelly [v. City of San Jose ], supra, 114 F.RD.
[653] at 669 [N.D.Cal.1987] (emphasis in origin-
al). If the police make no such showing, the court
has “no choice but to order disclosure.” fd.; sece
also  Johnson v. McTigue, [122 FRD. 9
(S.D.N.Y.1986) ] (ordering direct disclosure
without in camera review); Martin v. New York
City Transit Authority, No. CV-83-3991, slip op.
(S.D.N.Y. Oct. 17, 1983) (same).

King v. Conde, 121 F.R.D. at 189 (emphasis and
third brackets in original).

The Commission makes no such showing of harm.
Moreover, there is strong reason to doubt that it
could do so, at least with regard to cooperation
agreements, Indeed, in criminal cases such agree-
ments are routinely produced to the defendant,
United States v. Molina, 1991 WL 60368, at *2
(S.D.N.Y. Apr. 9, 1991), and they typically form a
central basis for cross-examination of the cooperat-
ing witness. It is no secret that the Commission, as
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well as federal prosecutors' offices, seek to elicit
cooperation from suspected wrongdoers, and thus it
can scarcely be said that disclosure of the agree-
ments in this case will interfere with firture law-
enforcement efforts by disclosing a government
strategy or investigative technique. There is also no
basis for inferring that disclosure will harm an on-
going investigation, since it appears that the invest-
igation concerning the Motel 6 matter has been
completed. Compare, e.g, United States v. Lang,
766 F.Supp. 389, 403-04 (D.Md.1991) (noting in-
terference with continuing investigation); Raphael
v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co, 744 F.Supp. at 74-75
(same). See generally National Labor Relations
Board v. Robbins Tire & Rubber Co., 437 U.S. at
223-33, 236-40 (distinguishing between continuing
and completed investigations). There is also noth-
ing in the record suggesting that the Commission
gave any assurance to cooperating witnesses that
their cooperation would be kept secret; indeed, their
identities appear to be conceded. Finally, I note that
the terms of any such cooperation agreements
would plainly be of major potential significance if
any cooperators testified for the Commission since
those terms may impact substantially and adversely
on the witnesses' credibility.

%12 The Commtission also secks to withhold notes
of discussions with Gregg Shawzin or his attorney
on the basis of the law-enforcement privilege, We
have already rejected the invocation of the work-
product rule to block production of this material.
Plaintiff's effort to utilize the law-enforcement priv-
ilege to obtain the same result is even more thread-
bare since the patently inadequate Katz declaration,
which purports to invoke that privilege, does not
even mention this category of documents, much
less attempt to justify the withholding of these notes.

Plaintiff may have a potentially stronger basis for
resisting production of anonymous notes sent to i,
since it may rely on such sources of information in
opening investigations, and it is at least conceivable
that disclosure of such communications in civil
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cases may pose a danger that the writers' identities
will be discovered, which may deter future assist-
ance of this kind. See generally In re United States,
565 F.2d 19, 22-23 (2d Cir.1977), cert. denied, 436
U.8. 962 (1978) (discussing parameters of inform-
ant privilege). On the cwrent record, however, we
are reduced to unvarnished speculation on this mat-
ter, and thus cannot uphold an argument that the
Commission itself does not articulate in any com-
petent manner.

As for the documents received by the Commission
from the Chicago Board of Exchange and the New
York Stock Exchange, the governing analysis is
somewhat different. We start from the premise that
investigatory materials of these non-governmental
self-regulating bodies may, in some respects, be
subject to a qualified privilege upon competent
proof of harm if the documents are disclosed. See,
eg, Apex Oil Co. v. DiMauro, 110 FRD. at
496-97; Ross v. Bolton, 106 F.RD. 22, 23-25
(5.D.N.Y.1985). Insofar as the CBOE is concerned,
it makes a sufficient showing to justify its partial
withholding of requested documents. (See Affidavit
of Patricia Sizemore, executed Dec. 28, 1994, at 1
7-12). The objections are justified because produc-
tion of investigative reports might well compromise
the ability of the CBOE to carry out its statutorily
assigned function as a self-regulatory organization.
See, e.g., Apex Oil Co. v. DiMauro, 110 F.RD. at
496-97 & n. 8. Moreover, I note that the CBOE
does not object to production of the underlying
business records that it has gathered and transmit-
ted to the Commission, except to the extent that the
documents identify customers. Deletion of that in-
formation is entirely proper and does not unfairly
burden defendants' discovery efforts.

The Commission's effort fo withhold NYSE docu-
ments is not supported by any equivalent showing,.
Moreover, given the generality of the Katz declara-
tion, we have no indication as to the nature of the
documents that have been withheld, much less the
harm that might be caused by their disclosure. In
view of the current record-or the lack of such a re-
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cord-this aspect of the Commission's privilege
claim cannot be upheld. Nonetheless, in view of the
fact that the privilege asserted may be said to be-
long to the NYSE, caution must be observed before
ordering production, since the failure of proof may
be attributable simply to sloppiness on the part of
the Commission. Accordingly, plaintiff will be giv-
en one more opportunity to make an adequate
showing of privilege with regard to the NYSE doc-
uments.

D. Remaining Matters
*13 The movants have presented a variety of other

discovery-related issues for resolution by the court.
1 briefly address each of them.

 Thrasher seeks to override Commission objections

to his interrogatories numbered 8§ and 9. These re-
quests seek principally a disclosure of communica-
tions with Gregg Shawzin, Sanker, Gomez, Pet-
rotto, Newman, Gorman and an individual named
Heinz Grein. The Commission had objected in part
on the basis of privilege and in part on the basis
that the interrogatories exceed the scope of ques-
tions permitted under S.DN.Y. Civil Rule 46. We
have addressed the work-product claim with regard
to each of these individuals except Grein. As for
Rule 46, it permits the use of interrogatories if they
are more efficient than any other form of discovery.
In this case, for reasons already noted, efforts to de-
pose these individuals will plainly be far more inef-
ficient than the use of these narrowly tailored inter-
rogatories.

The only uncertainty with regard to these witnesses
is whether the Commission's interview notes consti-
tute a complete answer to the questions. If so, then
the Commission may provide a Rule 33(c) re-
sponse.f™6

The status of Mr. Grein is less clear. Movants do
not specifically address the question of whether he
is, as a practical matter, unavailable for deposition.
At the same time, as noted, plaintiff makes no
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showing to demonstrate that any interviews with
him meet the relevant standard for application of
the work-product rule. Since it is plaintiff that bears
the initial burden insofar as it relies on the work-
product rule, it is to answer the interrogatories with
respect to Mr. Grein unless it promptly furnishes
adequate proof that the interviews were undertaken
in contemplation of litigation. If it attempts to offer
such proof, Thrasher may respond with a showing
that he has a sufficient need for the information to
overcome the work-product immunity.

Chammah complains about the refusal of the Com-
mission to answer five of his interrogatories,
numbered 16, 22, 24, 25 and 27. Two of these inter-
rogatories-16 and 27-are contention interrogatories.
Under Rule 46(c), such inquiries are presumptively
to be made at the conclusion of discovery, although
there may be occasions when contention interrogat-
ories are most sensibly answered earlier in the dis-
covery period. In this case neither of these interrog-
atories seeks information that is crucial for
Chammah to be able to conduct his discovery at
this time, and both address matters that the Com-
mission is more likely to know about after fact de-
positions have been conducted. Accordingly, there
is no reason to ignore the order of discovery
defined by Rule 46.

As for the other interrogatories, the Commission's
objections are baseless. ™7 Number 22 seeks
identification of agreements between the Govern-
ment and the Shawzins. For the reasons noted, this
information is not privileged. Moreover, it is
plainly relevant. Accordingly plaintiff is to supply
an answer either by proffer of the documents, if
they are available, or by a textual answer.

*14 Interrogatory 24 seeks a listing of the occasions
on which the Shawzins provided testimony on the
matters referred to in the Complaint. This inquiry is
not beyond the scope of Rule 46 since it calls, in ef-
fect, for an identification of documents, that is,
transcripts. It is also far more efficlent a method
than attempting to seek this information from the
Shawzins by deposition.
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Interrogatory 25 seeks a listing of all meetings
between Government representatives and the
Shawzins. This inquiry need not be answered for
Gregg Shawzin since the Commission is being re-
quired to identify any statements made by him to
the Commission. As for Mark Shawszin, as earlier
noted, there are no listed notes of interviews with
him. Since, however, the Commission has not
demonstrated that its interviews, if any, were in
contemplation of litigation, there is no privileged
basis to refuse to answer the interrogatory with re-
spect to him, and there is no reason to assume that a
deposition of Mark Shawzin will be a more effi-

- cient method of obtaining the requested informa-

tion.-

On the subject of Mark Shawzin, Chammah also
asks that the Commission be required to prepare an
affidavit setting forth the substance of any state-
ment made by him since there are apparently no
notes of those interviews. This approach parallels
that originally taken by Judge Keenan with regard
to Jeffrey Sanker (see Order dated May 3, 1993),
and in view of the failure of the Commission to sus-
tain its work-product claim, there is no principled
basis for declining equivalent relief. Nonetheless,
the preferred approach is to require the Commission
to answer in the form of an interrogatory answer, so
that the response wiil, in substance, be that of the
Commission, rather than that of a compelled indi-
vidual witness. See generally United States v. Dis-
trict Council of New York City & Vicinity, 1992
U.S.Dist. LEXIS 12307, at *33-42 (refusing to or-
der Rule 30(b)(6) deposition of Government agent).

The movants also ask that 1 direct the Commission
to comply with Judge Keenan's May 3, 1993 order
that it supply an affidavit summarizing any state-
ments made by Sanker. That order is the subject of
an application by the Commission for reconsidera-
tion, and Judge Keenan will address the matter, FN1®

" The parties are also in disagreement as to the oblig-

ation of the Commission to produce documents that
are assertedly solely in the possession of the United
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States Attorney's Office. The principal focus of
concern is apparently on the cooperation agree-
ments that some of the tippees apparently entered
into with the prosecutor.

The parameters for answering this question are
found in Rule 34, which requires a party to produce
documents only if it has possession of the docu-
ments or “control” over them. The traditional defin-
ition of this term requires that the party have “the
legal right to obtain the documents requested on de-
mand.” Searock v. Stripling, 736 F.2d 650, 633
(11th Cir.1984). See generally 4A James W. Moore
et al., Moore's Federal Practice § 34.17 at 34-69 to
72 & nn. 5-9 (2d ed. 1994). Despite the stringency
of this definition, in practice the courts have re-
cently interpreted it more loosely “to require pro-
duction if the party has the practical ability to ob-
tain the documents from another, irrespective of his
legal entitlement to the documents.” Golden Trade,
SrL. v. Lee Apparel Co, 143 FR.D. 514, 525
(S.D.N.Y.1992). See, eg., Arkwright Mut. Ins. Co.
v. National Union Fire Ins. Co., 1994 WL 510043,
at * 3; Manildra Milling Corp. v. Ogilvie Mills,
Inc., 1991 WL 17610, at *5 (D.Kan. Jan. 31, 1991);
Scott  v. Arex, Ine, 124 FRID. 39, 41
(D.Conn,1989), See also ML.C., Inc. v. North
American Philips Corp., 109 FR.D. 134, 136
(S.DN.Y.1986).

*15 In this case there is some indication in the re-
cord that the Commission and the United States At-
torney conducted investigations that were, in cer-
tain respects, coordinated. Thus, it appears that in-
terviews of some witnesses were conducted jointly
by the representatives of both the United States At-
torney and the Commission. It is also apparent that
the two agencies shared at least some documents
and other information.

In short, there is some evidence to permit the infer-
ence that the Commission is in a position to obtain
copies of witmess cooperation agreements from the
United States Attorney. Under the circumstances,
the Commission may fairly be directed at least to
request the documents from the United States At-
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tormney's Office. See, e.g., Golden Trade S.r.L. v.
Lee Apparel Co., 143 FR.D. at 525-26 (citing Her-
cules Inc. v. Exxon Corp., 434 F.Supp. 136, 158
{(D.Del.1977)). If there prove to be mmsurmountable
legal or practical obstacles to the Commission ob-
taining the documents, these difficulties can be doc-
umented, and defendants can then choose another
approach. Since, however, the record contains some
evidence supporting defendants' contention that the
Commission has access and the Commission does
not directly address this issue, as now defined, it
must bear the burden of attempting to obtain the re-
quested documents in the first place.

Finally, the movants complain that the privilege
logs of the Commission are inadequately detailed.
This contention is accompanied by a listing of a
few items from the logs, but no explanation of the
specific inadequacies. I note as well, however, that
in submitting documents for in camera review, the
Commission states that it has recently discovered
still more documents, which it proffers to the court.
Upon review of the newly updated, and hopefully
completed, privilege logs, the defendants may have
some specifically defined complaints about spe-
cified Hstings. If so, they are to attempt to resolve
the matter first with the Commission, and if that ef-
fort is unavailing, they may return to court with a
more specifically defined set of complaints.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, I conclude that the Com-
mission's invocation of the work-product rule and
the law-enforcement privilege cannot be sustained
and that plaintiff must produce documents and an-
swer interrogatories to the extent indicated. That
task is to be accomplished within seven days.
Moreover, insofar as plaintiff is being permitted, as
specified above, to make a supplemental showing
of the factual basis for withholding certain docu-
ments, it is to do so within seven days.

Because the Commission’ position on the current
motion was, in large measure, unjustified, I further
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conclude that, pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 37(a)(4),
the movants are presumptively eligible for an award
of the expenses of their motions, including reason-
able attorney's fees. See, eg., Bowne of New York
City, Inc. v. AmBase Corp., 150 FR.D. at 493-94,

Accordingly, within seven days movants may serve

and file affidavits with contemporaneous time re-
cords to document their motion expenses. The
Commission may serve responding papers within
seven days thereafter.

*16 SO ORDERED.

FNI1. Even if this case involved state-law
claims and defenses, the work-product is-
sues would be governed by federal law.
See, e.g., United Coal Companies v. Pow-
ell Constr. Co., 839 F.2d 958, 966 (3d
Cir,1988); Bowne of New York City, Inc. v.
AmBase Corp., 150 FRD. 465, 471
(S.D.N.Y.1993).

FN2. That two-page decision is annexed as
Exhibit E to the declaration of Peter D.
Goldstein Esq., executed December 28, 1994.

FN3. A similar, although not identical,
analysis is reflected in the courts’ treatment
of work-product claims by insurance com-
panies to protect their investigative files.
As a general matter, the courts have de-
clined to hold such documents to be pro-
tected if they predate a decision by the in-
surance carrier to decline coverage, since
such pre-decisional investigations are con-
ducted in the ordinary course of business,
and litigation does not become a suffi-
ciently serious prospect until the carrier
has made a decision to decline a claim.
See, e.g., Arkwright Mut Ins. Co. v. Nat'l
Union Fire Ins. Co., 1994 WL 510043 at
*5 (S.DN.Y. Sept. 16, 1994); Janicker v.
George Washington Univ., 94 FR.D. 648,
650 (D.D.C.1982); Fine v. Bellefonte Un-
derwriters Ins. Co., 91 FR.D. 420, 422
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(S.DN.Y.1981); Adlanta Coca-Cola Bot-
thing Co. v. Transamerica Ins. Co., 61
FR.D. 115,118 (N.D.Ga.1972).

FN4. Indeed, we are informed that in this
case the Commission has produced to de-
fendants the testimonial transcripts of more
than thirty witnesses. (See Dec. 21, 1994
letter to the Couwrt from John B. Harris,
Esq., at 2).

FN35. Several constitute summaries that are
described as a proffer by the witness.

FN6. The documents that come within this
generally described category include the
following: Privilege List I-nos. 33-37, 38
(handwritten notes), 39, 48, 122, 182, 183;
Privilege List II-nos. 142, 150, 184,
195-97; Privilege List Ill-nos. 14, 112,
289-91. The Commission has also
proffered an undifferentiated mass of re-
cently discovered documents, some of
which also come within this category of
factual summaries of wilness statements.
See “Summary-Michael Newman Proffer”,
dated 9/20/91; Memo. dated Nov. 11, 1991
from Ilana R. Marcus to file re “Newman
tippees”; Sept. 2, 1992 Memo. to File re:
“Jefirey Sanker”.

EN7. It is not clear whether Mark Shawzin
has invoked his Fifth Amendment priv-
ilege, and in any event the Commission has
not listed any notes reflecting interviews of
him. I address below the question of
whether plaintiff should, in these circum-
stances, be compelled to prepare an affi-
davit concerning any interviews of him or
otherwise provide equivalent discovery.

FN8. As will be noted, the Commission
has also belatedly asserted a so-called law-
enforcement privilege for some of these
notes. 1 address that claim in the next sec-
tion of this decision.
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FN9. Any segregable portions of such doc-
uments that contain attorney analysis may
be redacted. I note, however, that the docu-
ments listed in note 6, supra, do not appear
to contain any such opinion work product.

FN10. T base those conclusions on my re-
view of documents 30 and 31 from Priv-
ilege List IIL.

FN11. The Commission appears to argue
that this line of defense will be deemed
meritless at trial. It is not, at this stage, so
self-evidently meritless as to justify deny-
ing production. :

FNI12. Chammah's general argument that
he needs imterview notes, irrespective of
witness availability, to determine whether
the witness has made inconsistent prior
statements cuts too broad a swath. It would
effectively eviscerate the factual work-
product rule for any interview notes, The
argument may have some basis if there are
circumstances suggesting a possible weak-
ness of memory on the part of the witness
or some other reason to suspect that the
witness is hostile or has changed his story,
but Chammah makes no such showing con-
cerning his broker.

FN13. We must note a distinction in this
respect between cases in which the priv-
ilege is asserted in order to block discovery
by a party and cases brought under the
Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. §
552 et seq. (“FOIA™), in which the Gov-
ernment  invokes the so-called law-
enforcement exception to required disclos-
ure. See 5 U.S.C. §§ 552(b}(7)A), (E). Al-
though the statute embodies in general
terms the common-law privilege, the Su-
preme Court has held that in FOIA litiga-
tion under sub-section 7(A) (referring to
law-enforcement files the disclosure of
which would “interfere with enforcement

proceedings™), the Government need not
demonstrate harm on a  document-
by-document basis since Congress inten-
ded to apply that particular provision to all
documents that fit into generic categories
of law-enforcement files that are inherently
sensitive. See, eg., National Labor Rela-
tions Board v. Robbins Tire & Rubber Co.,
437 U.S. 214, 223-36 (1978). See also 5
U.S.C. § 552(b}(7)NE) (referring to disclos-
ure of “investigative techniques and pro-
cedures”). In contrast to the cases under
FOIA-in which the plaintiff cannot invoke
his own particularized need for a document
otherwise protected under FOIA, see, eg,
EPA4 v. Mink, 410 U.S. 73, 86 (1973)-in or-
dinary civil litigation the court must con-
sider the discovering party's need for the
docurmeent for purposes of trial preparation,
and therefore the party resisting discovery
must make a particularized showing of
harm when invoking any qualified priv-
ilege, including any variant of the law-
enforcement privilege. See, e.g, Apex Oil
Co. v. DiMauro, 110 F.R.D. at 496 (citing
cases). See gewmerally Frankel v. Securities
& FExchange Commission, 460 F.2d 813,
318 (2d Cir.) {(noting distinction between
analysis under FOIA and privilege analysis
in ordinary civil litigation), cert. denied
409 U.8. 889 (1972).

FN14. As noted, plaintiff originally also
withheld documents generated by a con-
tinuing investigation because disclosure
might thwart that inquiry. It appears that
the Commission no longer makes this as-
sertion. (See Memo. of Law in Opp'n to
Motions of Defs. Hirsh and Thrasher to
Compel Production of Documents, at 25-26).

FN15. It is also inadequate in that it ap-
pears that the official invoking the priv-
ilege did not review the documents at is-
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sue. See, e.g., Resolution Trust Co. v. Dia-
mond, 137 FR.D. at 641 (official invoking
privilege may do so only after “personal
consideration of the allegedly privileged
material.”) (citing Mobil Oil Corp. v. Dep't
of Energy, 102 FRD. 1, 5 (N.D.N.Y.1983)
). Mr. Katz carefully asserts only that the
General Counsel gave “personal considera-
tion to the matter.” (Katz Decl. at § 3).

FN16. From a review of at least those
notes submitted for in camera review, it
appears that the documents are too abbre-
viated and, in some respects, too cryptic to
serve as a substitute for a textual interrog-
atory answer.

FN17. There appears to be an error in the
Commission's formal interrogatory re-
sponse. It lists interrogatory 22 but then
supplies an  objection labelled as
“Response to Interrogatory 23.” (See Per-
schetz letter, Exh. D at 17). 1 assume that
the response is intended to address inter-
rogatory 22, although the next listed inter-
rogatory is numbered 24,

FN18. I note that the factual circumstances
have changed since the original order.
Thus, it appears that there are some Com-
mission notes reflecting statements by
Sanker, although the Commission has res-
isted their production on the current mo- tion.

S.D.N.Y.,1995.
S.E.C. v. Thrasher
Not Reporied in F.Supp., 1995 WL 46681 (S.D.N.Y.)

END OF DOCUMENT
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Failure to Provide Requested Testimony

Former associated person of member firm of national securities exchange asserted the
privilege against self-incrimination in response to exchange's request for testimony.
Held, exchange's findings of violation and imposition of sanctions are sustained.
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Sassano.

Susan Light, Myles Orosco, and Jacqueline Davis, for Financial Industry Regulatory
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Appeal filed: December 3, 2007
[ast brief received: March 11, 2008
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Michael Sassano, a former registered representative of Oppenheimer & Co., Inc.
("Oppenheimer"), a member firm of the New York Stock Exchange, LLC ("NYSE" or the -
"Exchange"), appeals from NYSE disciplinary action. 1/ The NYSE found that Sassano failed to
comply with NYSE requests to provide testimony in connection with NYSE market timing
investigations, and thereby violated NYSE Rule 477. 2/ The NYSE censured Sassano and barred
him from membership, allied membership, approved person status, and from employment or
association in any capacity with any NYSE member or member organization. 3/ We base our
findings on an independent review of the record. ‘

L

a. Initial Failure to Testify. On December 8, 2003, the NYSE's Division of Enforcement
("NYSE Enforcement™) notified Sassano that it was investigating allegations that he had
"engaged in a trading strategy in which [he] frequently purchased and sold mutual fund shares to
capitalize on price discrepancies in different markets commonly known as 'market timing."
Oppenheimer had previously received a subpoena from the Attorney General of the State of New
York ("NYAG") on October 31, 2003 regarding a market timing investigation by the NYAG.

Our Division of Enforcement ("SEC Enforcement”) also sent subpoenas throughout late
2003 and 2004 to both Oppenheimer and Sassano in connection with its investigations into

v On July 26, 2007, the Commission approved proposed rule changes in connection with
the consolidation of the member firm regulatory functions of NASD and NYSE
Regulation, Inc. See Securities Exchange Act Rel. No. 56146 (July 26, 2007), 91 SEC
Docket 517. Pursuant to this consclidation, the member firm regulatory and enforcement
functions and employees of NYSE Regulation, Inc. were transferred to NASD, and the
expanded NASD changed its name to Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. See
Exchange Act Rel. No. 56148 (July 26, 2007), 91 SEC Docket 522. Because the

~ disciplinary action here was taken before the NYSE-NASD consolidation of regulatory

operations, we continue to use the designation "N'YSE" in this opinion.

2/ NYSE Rule 477 generally states that an NYSE member, or an associated person of an
NYSE member, who has been terminated must comply, for up to a year after termination,
with an NYSE request to provide testimony or be subject to disciplinary sanctions,
including a bar.

3/ Under the NYSE decision, Sassano received a three-month period to testify before the bar
would become permanent. The bar commenced on December 3, 2007, and became
permanent on March 3, 2008 when he had not testified by that date.
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mutual fund trading practices. 4/ On August 17, 2004, Sassano's counsel] sent SEC Enforcement
written confirmation of Sassano's intention to invoke the Fifth Amendment right against self-
incrimination in response to an SEC Enforcement subpoena. 5/ On September 20, 2004, SEC
Enforcement sent a letter rescheduling Sassano's testimony for October 8, 2004, and
documenting its accommodation of three separate rescheduling requests by Sassano's counsel.

On September 24, 2004, NYSE Enforcement sent Sassano a request to appear for
testimony in connection with the Exchange's markef timing investigation. On September 29,
2004, Sassano’s counsel requested an adjournment of the scheduled testimony, NYSE
Enforcement granted the request, rescheduling the testimony for October 26, 2004. On
October 25, 2004, Sassano's counsel requested another adjournment of Sassano's testimony, and
NYSE Enforcement again accommodated the request, rescheduling the testimony for
November 11, 2004, That same day, on October 25, 2004, Sassano's employment at
Oppenheimer terminated.

On November 9, 2004, two days before the scheduled NYSE testimony, Sassano's
counsel proposed a third extension. At this point, NYSE Enforcement stated that the testimony
would not be rescheduled a third time. The next day, on November 10, 2004, Sassano's counsel

4/ On July 20, 2005, the NYAG and the Commission settled market timing cases against

Canadian Imperial Holdings Inc. and CIBC World Markets Corp. and related corporate
entities ("CIBC"), which were the parent companies of Sassano's division at Oppenheimer
prior to January 2003. The press release announcing the NYAG settlement noted that the
scttlement "was reached in conjunction with the Securities and Exchange Commission
which announced a parallel settlement” the same day. On December 17, 2007,
Oppenheimer executed an Acceptance, Waiver and Consent ("AWC") settling the
Exchange's enforcement action against Oppenheimer.

NYSE Enforcement has submitted an unopposed motion for leave to adduce the AWC
pursuant to Commission Rule of Practice 452. See 17 C.F.R. § 201.452 (stating thata
motion for leave to adduce additional evidence "shall show with patticularity that such
additional evidence is material and that there were reasonable grounds for failure to
adduce such evidence previously"). We have determined to grant NYSE Enforcement's
motion.

5/ The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that no person shall be
compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself. U.S. CONST. amend. V.

Unless otherwise indicated, references herein to Sassano's "counsel” refer to Sassano's
attorneys during the period in which the NYSE issued its requests for testimony. Several
weeks before the issnance of the NYSE Hearing Board decision, Sassano's then-counsel
withdrew from their representation of Sassano before the NYSE. Sassano subsequently
retained new counsel.
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called again to request an adjournment of the on-the-record testimony and settlement tafks in lieun
of such testimony. Although NYSE Enforcement staff left voicemail messages with Sassano's
counsel that day to discuss the request, their calls were not returned prior to the scheduled start of
Sassano's testimony. Sassano did not appear for his still-scheduled testimony on November 11,
2004.

b. Attorney Proffer. Beginning on November 12, and November 29, 2004, after Sassano
had failed to appear for his November 11 testimony, his counsel and NYSE Enforcement
discussed Sassano's cooperation with the investigation and the possibility that he would supply
| information through his counsel instead of by on-the-record sworn testimony.

Sassano's counsel also separately suggested the possibility of an "attorney proffer” with

I SEC Enforcement in connection with the market timing investigation by SEC Enforcement.

Sassano's counsel asked SEC Enforcement staff "whether they had any objection to [NYSE]
Enforcement attending the attorney proffer.” SEC Enforcement staff did not raise any objections,
and Sassano's counse] invited NYSE Enforcement 1o attend the SEC Enforcement proffer. Ina
written affirmation (the "Affirmation") submitted in connection with the NYSE proceedings, &/
NYSE Enforcement represented that, between January 24, 2005 and March 15, 2005, NYSE
Enforcement, SEC Enforcement, and the NYAG "discussed the logistics of scheduling and
clarifying the scope of [counsel]'s proposed attorney proffer.”” The Affirmation further stated that
these discussions were "a direct resnlt of [counsel]'s request that the SEC and [NYSE]
Enforcement jointly attend his proposed proffer." 7/

Sassano's counsel mandated that the proffer discussion "be based on and limited
exclusively to those issues presented to counsel prior to the proffer." Accordingly, on March 8,
2005, SEC Enforcement sent Sassano's counsel a letter listing topics to be addressed at the
proffer. On April 6, 2005, NYSE Enforcement informed Sassano's counsel that NYSE
Enforcement representatives would be atiending the proffer, and requested that the proffer
address "market timing activity at Oppenheimer," but did not otherwise supplement the list of
proffer topics provided by SEC Enforcement.

6/ A Senior Vice President of NYSE Enforcement signed and submitted the Affirmation,
which represents that it was prepared based on a review of "[NYSE} Enforcement's
confidential investigative file and discussions with Enforcement staff.”

7/ Although an affidavit by Sassano's counsel represents that he had "engaged in discussions
with representatives of" both SEC Enforcement and NYSE Enforcement "[i]n or about
March and April 2005" regarding a joint proffer, the Affirmation submitted by the NYSE
represents that the discussions between SEC Enforcement, NYSE Enforcement and the
NYAG took place "during the period from January 24, 2005 to March 15, 2005" and "(als
a direct result of [counsel]'s request that" SEC Enforcement and NYSE Enforcement both
attend the proffer.

——————————————————————————————
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Representatives of SEC Enforcement and NYSE Enforcement attended the attorney
proffer on April 12, 2005. The Affirmation represents that "[a]lthough [Sassano's counsel]
discussed areas that [Sassano] could testify about, [counsel] did not offer any specific
information” at the proffer. According to an affidavit executed by Sassano’s counsel ("Counsel
Affidavit") in connection with the appeal before us of the NYSE decision, NYSE Enforcement
staff "did not ask any questions about mutual fund trading practices at Oppenheimer” during the
proffer and "did not request any information relating to any specific subjects.” The Counsel
Affidavit also states that, at the end of the proffer, NYSE Enforcement staff asked “if Mr.
Sassano would make himself available to the SEC at some point in the future for questioning”
and if Sassano "would give truthful answers to the SEC were he to testify.”

On April 19, 2005, NYSE Enforcement declined the proposal for cooperation outlined at
the attorney proffer. The Affirmation represents that, in so doing, NYSE Enforcement
"gpecifically indicated that [NYSE Enforcement staff] spoke for INYSE] Enforcement only."

¢. Subsequent Failure to Testify. Prior to the April 12 attoxney proffer, on March 16,
2005, NYSE Enforcement had issued another request for Sassano's on-the-record testimony in
connection with its Oppenheimer investigation, 8/ NYSE Enforcement's letter requested that
Sassano appear for testimony on April 26, 2005. On April 20, 2005, after NYSE Enforcement
had declined Sassano's proposal outlined at the proffer, Sassanc's counsel sent written
confirmation that Sassano would not appear for his scheduled testimony before NYSE
Enforcement. On April 22, 2005, NYSE Enforcement sent a letter to Sassano's counsel
memorializing its atlempts to schedule Sassano's testimony (the "Aprii 22 Letter"). The April 22
Letter noted that "[d]uring the period November 11, 2004 and March 2005, Enforcement, counsel
and other regulatory entities engaged in several telephone conversations regarding Sassano's
cooperation in this matter." The April 22 Letter did not provide further detail about these
conversations. 9/ The April 22 Letter also observed that NYSE Enforcement had previously
informed Sassano that failure to comply with the requests for testimony could result in formal
disciplinary proceedings. Sassano did not appear for testimony before NYSE Enforcement on
April 26, 2005, and to date has not testified before NYSE Enforcement.

8/ The initial NYSE Enforcement request for testimony issued on September 24, 2004
indicated that the request for testimony was related to an investigation of allegations that
Sassano had himself engaged in market timing. The second NYSE Enforcement request
for testimony issued on March 16, 2005 did not directly refer to NYSE Enforcement's
investigation of Sassano's trading activities, but instead stated that NYSE Enforcement
was investigating "allegations that [Oppenheimer] failed to supervise and control the
activities of its employees with regard to ifs sale of mutual funds."

9/ But see supra notes 6-7 and accompanying text.
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On November 15, 2005, NYSE Enforcement charged Sassano with violating NYSE Rule
477 by "fail[ing] to provide testimony in connection with matters that oceurred during the course
of his employment with a member organization.” Sassano did not file an answer with the NYSE
Hearing Board. 10/ However, in a series of letters beginning on March 27, 2006 and citing our
March 24, 2006 decision in Frank P. Quattrone, 11/ Sassano requested that the Hearing Officer
stay the disciplinary action and conduct "a hearing to determine whether the NYSE was engaged
in 'state action.” On December 5, 2006, the NYSE Hearing Officer "direct[ed Sassano] to make
an offer of proof . . . that provides the specific factual basis necessary to find 'state action’ on the
part of the NYSE."

By letter to the parties dated March 27, 2007, the Hearing Officer found, based on 2
review of submissions by Sassano and NYSE Enforcement, that Sassano had "not made out fhis
state action] claim but hafd] alleged sufficient facts to require limited discovery to resolve the
matter." The Hearing Officer ordered additional discovery regarding "how [NYSE] Enforcement
came to be included in" the attorney proffer with SEC Enforcement; the statement in Sassano's
December 19, 2006 submission to the Hearing Officer claiming that "[b]oth the SEC staff and
the [NYSE Enforcement] staff advised that they would talk among themselves and make a
decision on a joint attendance;" and the reference in the April 22 Letter to "conversations
between Enforcement and other regulatory entities during the period November 11, 2004 and
March 2005."

In response to the discovery issues identified by the Hearing Officer, on April 9, 2007
NYSE Enforcement submitted the Affirmation, 12/ which describes the period beginning with
NYSE Enforcement's first written request for Sassano's testimony on September 24, 2004
through the issuance of the Charge Memorandum on November 15, 2005 in connection with
Sasssano's failure to testify. The Affirmation states that Sassano's counsel had first suggested the
provision of "information' to [NYSE] Enforcement in lieu of his testifying" one day before his
scheduled testimony on November 11, 2004, According to the Affirmation, the April 22 Letter's
reference to "conversations between Enforcement and other regulatory entities during the period

10/  On January 6, 2006, NYSE Enforcement filed a motion to deem the facts alleged in the
November 15, 2005 charge memorandum (the "Charge Memorandum") admitted as true
based on Sassano's failure to file an answer to the Charge Memorandum as required under
NYSE Rule 476(d). On January 12, 2006, after the standard deadline for filing an
apswer, Sassano's counsel sent a letter to trial counsel for NYSE Enforcement disputing
allegations in the Charge Memorandum and requesting that NYSE Enforcement
"reconsider its commencement of an enforcement proceeding against” Sassano.

fa—
[
——

Exchange Act Rel. No. 53547 (Mar. 24, 2006}, 87 SEC Docket 2155.

|
-

See supra notes 6-7 and accompanying text.
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November 11, 2004 and March 2005" identified by the Hearing Officer in ordering additional
discovery "merely referenced that conversations were held among alt of the parties involved in.
planning for [Sassano]'s proposed cooperation via the attorney proffer.” The Affirmation also
states that "there was no flow of information from [NYSE] Enforcement to the SEC regarding
[Sassano]'s conduct.” 13/ :

On April 25, 2007, the Hearing Board issued its decision, finding that "INYSE]
Enforcement's attendance at [the] attorney's proffer conducted by [Sassano]'s then counsel for the
SEC and {NYSE] Enforcement was not initiated by the SEC or [NYSE] Enforcement” and
concluding that "[a}fter reviewing and considering all of the submissions . . . [Sassano] had not
made out his claim of 'State Action.” The Hearing Board accordingly found that Sassano's
failure to provide testimony constituted a violation of NYSE Rule 477, and censured and barred
Sassano. The NYSE Board of Directors affirmed the Hearing Board decision on October 17,
2007. 14/ This appeal followed.

IV.

Sassano acknowledges that he failed to appear in response to the NYSE's requests for
testimony as described above. Such failure establishes prima facie evidence of a violation of

13/  The Affirmation also states that on March 16, 2005, NYSE Enforcement and SEC
Enforcement "had a telephone conversation, during which the SEC advised [NYSE
Enforcement] about its Wells process” but that NYSE Enforcement "was not invited to
join in any proposed issuance of the SEC's Wells notice."

14/  The NYSE Hearing Board found that Sassano violated NYSE Rule 477. The NYSE
Board of Directors on appeal stated that Sassano had "requested a review of a Hearing
Officer's determination that he had violated NYSE Rule 476(a) by failing to testify as
requested by” NYSE Enforcement. The Board of Directors stated that it affirmed the
decision of the Hearing Board "in all respects.”

NYSE Rule 476(a)(11) requires persons associated with member firms to respond to
requests for information from the Exchange. NYSE Rule 477 extends this requirement to
persons formerly associated with a member firm for up to one year after the Exchange
receives notice of their termination. Although the initial request for Sassano's testimony
was sent on September 24, 2004, before his employment terminated in October 2004, he
was no Jonger employed at Oppenheimer at the time of either of the dates of his
scheduled testimony on November 11, 2004 and April 26, 2005. Sassano does not raise
as an issue, and we do not believe, that the reference to Rule 476(a) as the basis for
Sassano's appeal changes the result here. The Board of Directors made clear that it was
reviewing whether Sassanc provided testimony as requested and affirmed the Hearing
Board's decision in its totality. '
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NYSE Rule 477. 15/ Sassano argues, however, that he could not be forced to testify because he
was entitled to invoke his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination. 16/ Bassano argues
that NYSE Enforcement's investigation was "inextricably intertwined” with investigations by
SEC Enforcement and the NYAG, and that the requests for testimony issued by NYSE
Enforcement accordingly constituted "state action” entitling him to invoke his right against self-
incrimination. On appeal, Sassano requests reversal of the NYSE decision or, alternatively, a
remand of his case to the NYSE for further discovery regarding his state action claim.

The "Fifth Amendment restricts only governmental conduct and will constrain a private
entity only insofar as its actions are found to be 'fairly attributable' to the government." 17/ The
U.S. Supreme Court has held that a private party’s actions may constitute state action only if there
is such a "close nexus between the State and the challenged action’ that the seemingly private
behavior 'may be fairly treated as that of the State itself™ 18/ The factors considered by the
Court as "bear[ing] on the fairness of such an attribution” include whether a challenged activity
nresults from the State's exercise of its ‘coercive power;" 19/ whether "the State has provided
such significant encouragement, either overt or covert, that the [private] choice must in law be
deemed o be that of the State;" 20/ or whether "a private actor operates as a 'willful participant in

15/ See.e.s., Warren E. Turk, Exchange Act Rel. No. 55942 (June 22, 2007), 90 SEC Docket
2802, 2805 (stating that a failure to appear for testimony establishes a prima facie
violation of NYSE Rule 477); Louis F. Albanese, 53 S.E.C. 294, 297-98 (1997)
(sustaining NYSE disciplinary action for violation of NYSE Rule 477 where applicant
failed to cooperate immediately with NYSE investigation); Wallace E. Lin, 50 SEC.
196, 199 (1990)(sustaining NYSE disciplinary action for violation of Rule 477 where
applicant refused to testify in Exchange investigation), affid, 933 F.2d 1014 (9th Cir.
1991)(Table); cf. Justin F. Ficken, Exchange Act Rel. No. 54699 (Nov. 3, 2006), 89 SEC
Docket 685, 690-91 ("The failure to respond to NASD's requests for testimony
demonstrates a prima facie violation of [analogous NASD Rule].").

16/ See supra note 5.

17/ D.L.Cromwell Inv., Inc. v. NASD Regulation, Inc., 279 F.3d 155, 161 (2d Cir. 2002}
(citing Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co., 457 U.8. 922, 937 (1982)).

18/  Brentwood Acad. v. Tenn. Secondary Sch. Athletic Ass'n, 531 U.S, 288, 295 (2001)
(citing Jackson v. Metropolitan Edison Co., 419 U.S. 345, 35 1(1974)).

19/ Id. at 296.
20/ Blum v. Yaretsky, 457 U.S. 991, 1004 (1982) (stating that "[m]ere approval of or

acquiescence in the initiatives of a private party is not sufficient to justify holding the
State responsible for those initiatives under the terms of the Fourteenih Amendment™).
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joint activity with the State or its agents.™ 21/ Some courts have described this last fact pattemn
as the "joint action” test, 22/ and have focused on inquiries such as whether "the state has so far
insinuated itself into a position of interdependence with the private entity that it must be
recognized as a joint participant in the challenged activity” 23/ or whether "the particular actions
challenged are inextricably intertwined with those of the government." 24/

The "burden of demonstrating joint activities sufficient to render [a self-regulatory
organization ("SRO™)] a state actor is high, and that burden falls on the party asserting state
action.” 25/ In order to meet this burden, Sassano must demonstrate "a nexus between the state
and the specific conduct of which plaintiff complains.” 26/ Accordingly, in this case, Sassano
must demonstrate a specific nexus between the government and the Exchange's requests for
testimony triggering Sassano's invocation of the Fifth Amendment.

Sassano claims that N'YSE Enforcement conducted its investigation jointly with
investigations by SEC Enforcement and the NYAG, and that the NYSE requests for testimony
thereby constituted "state action.” In support, Sassano claims that NYSE Enforcement, SEC
Enforcement, and the NYAG "shared information, attended meetings and worked together
extensively" and that this cooperation continued "throughout a three-year period beginning in late
2003." We have explicitly said; however, that "cooperation and information sharing between the
Commission and an SRO will rarely render the SRO a state actor, and the mere fact of such
cooperation is generally insufficient, standing alone, to demonstrate state action.” 27/

21/ Brentwood Acad.. 531 U.S. at 296. Sce also Quattrone, 87 SEC Docket at 2164 n25

("NASD asserts correctly that no evidence existed that the Commission coerced, directed,
or encouraged NASD to issue the [request pursuant to analogous NASD rule], but no
hearing was heid on this issue. Moreover, Quattrone did not need to show that NASD
made the request solely at the Commission's behest, but only that NASD engaged in
willful participation in joint action with the Commission.”).

22/  Turk, 90'SEC Docket at 2807.

23/ Kirtley v. Rainey, 326 F.3d 1088, 1093 (9th Cir. 2003); see also Turk, 90 SEC Docket at
2807.

24/  Mathis v. PG&E, 75 F.3d 498, 503 (Sth Cir. 1996); see also Turk, 90 SEC Docket at
2807.

25/  Turk, 90 SEC Docket at 2809.
26/  Desiderio v. NASD, 191 F.3d 198, 207 (2d Cir. 1999) (emphasis in original).

27/ Turk, 90 SEC Docket at 2809-10; seg¢ also Desiderio, 191 F.3d at 207; Scher v. NASD
386 F. Supp. 2d 402, 408 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (Mukasey, J.) (finding, where an NASD
' (continued...)
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In seeking to overcome this hurdle, Sassano cites: (i) the temporal proximity of events in
the investigations by the NYAG, SEC Enforcement, and NYSE Enforcement; (ii) cooperation
between SEC Enforcement and NYSE Enforcement in connection with the attorney proffer;

(iii) the inclusion of transcripts of testimony taken by NYSE Enforcement in the document
production made in connection with the SEC Enforcement investigation; and (iv) langunage in a
Form U4 filed by Oppenheimer that seemed to characterize the various regulatory investigations
of Sassano's trading as a single investigation. 28/ He highlights thesc circumstances in asserting
that "the investigations of [NYSE Enforcement], the SEC and the NYAG were so interdependent
and inextricably intertwined that" the investigations by the various regulators "were tantamount
to one joint investigation.”

Sassano notes that "all three investigations were opened within a span of six weeks," and
asserts that "all three investigations proceeded together in coordinated lockstep fashion.”
Sassano also points out that NYSE Enforcement first requested Sassano's testimony on
September 24, 2004, after Mr. Sassano's counsel confirmed on August 17, 2004 Sassano's
intention to invoke the Fifth Amendment before SEC Enforcement, and several days after SEC
Enforcement had confirmed on September 20, 2004 that Sassano's testimony before the
Commission had again been rescheduled at the request of Sassano's counsel. According to
Sassano, "the virtual coordination of these events strongly suggests that the SEC advised [NYSE
Enforcement] that Mr. Sassano would invoke his Fifth Amendment privilege, and that as a result

27/ (..continued) ‘
investigator shared information with the district attorney’s office with which he once
worked approximately one year after plaintiff's on-the-record interview before NASD,
that "such collaboration," which ultimately led to plaintiff's criminal prosecution, "does
not in itself demonstrate that a ‘close nexus' existed between the challenged conduct of
the NASD and a state actor™), aff'd, 218 F. App'x 46 (2d Cir. 2007) (summary order).
But see D.L. Cromwell, 279 F.3d at 163 (noting that NASD's Criminal Prosecution
Assistance Unit "was in fact working with the government, and when it does it may well
be a state actor,” but that the actions of the unit "cannot fairly and automatically be
imputed to the rest of" the NASD Department of Enforcement when it was "effectively
‘walled off" from the rest of the department).

28/  The Counsel Affidavit and other exhibits to Sassanc's brief in support of his application
for review by the Commission were not included in the record considered by the NYSE
below. Sassano has submitted motions to adduce as additional evidence: the Counsel
Affidavit, an excerpt of testimony by Peter Valverde, one of Sassano’s colleagues at
Oppenheimer, and a Form U4 filed by Oppenheimer in April 2004. As discussed, see
supra note 4, such motions are governed by Commission Rule of Practice 452. We have
determined to admit these documents pursuant to that rule.
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[NYSE Enforcement] sought Mr. Sassano's testimony with the intent of launching this
proceeding against him," 29/

In D.L. Cromwell Inv. Inc.. v. NASD Regulation, Inc., however, the court declined to find
that an NASD request for information constituted state action based on "the chronology of
certain events” in simultaneous government and NASD investigations regarding the appellants’
trading in shares of a particular company. 30/ The Cromwell appellants contended that NASD's
requests for on-the-record interviews constituted state action triggering their right to invoke the
privilege against self-incrimination, noting that NASD's requests for testimony "followed shortly
after individual appellants contested grand jury subpoenas,” and that NASD "refused to delay the
[requested testimony] until after completion of the Eastern District's criminal investigation." 31/
The Second Circuit affirmed the district court's finding that this evidence showed only that
NASD and the government "pursued similar evidentiary trails because their independent
investigations were proceeding in the same direction.” 32/ In reaching this conclusion, the
Cromwell court credited consistent testimony by NASD staff indicating that NASD's requests for
information "issued directly from [NASD] as a product of its private investigation” and that
»none of the demands [for testimony] was generated by governmental petsuasion ot

29/ Sassano also argues that the timing of NYSE Enforcement's settlement with Oppenheimer
and a settlement in an SEC Enforcement administrative proceeding against another
Oppenheimer employee a week later reflects jont action. As noted below, however, this
similarity of timing in investigations into the same subject matter involving many
defendants and several regulatory agencies is insufficient to substantiate Sassano's claim
that NYSE Enforcement "was following the lead of then-New York Attormey General
Eliot Spitzer, and was relying entirely upon the joint investigative efforts of the NYAG
and the SEC."

30/ 279 F.3d at 162 (affirming district court's decision to deny appellants' request to enjoin an
NASD request for an on-the record interview and rejecting appellants’ claim that NASD
was acting "as a willing tool of" federal prosecutors in a government investi gation).

31/ 1d.

32/ Id. at 162-63.
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collusion.” 33/ Similarly, in Turk, we concluded that evidence that SEC Enforcement and NYSE
Enforcement requested an individual's testimony "within one month of each other" and "brought
charges in connection with their respective investigations on the same day" were insufficient to
establish state action. 34/

We thus agree with the Exchange that the timing of the actions in the simultaneous
regulatory investigations is insufficient to prove a "causal connection between the requests for
testimony” in the separate investigations, or that "the SEC guided [NYSE] Enforcement's
investigation.” The overlapping timing in the correspondence regarding the various
investigations, particularly in light of Sassano's repeated requests for rescheduling of testimony,
does not establish that these were other than parallel investigations of the same underlying
activities, the same conclusion reached by the court in Cromwell.

Motever, despite Sassano's assertions that the investigations were conducted jointly over
a three-year period, Sassano does not provide evidence that either of NYSE Enforcement's
requests for testimony were "generated by governmental persuasion or collusion,” 35/ or that
SEC Enforcement "exercised significant control and influence over the [NYSE Enforcement]
investigation." 36/ We similarly do not find that the timing of these requests for testimony
indicates that the government "ha[d] so far insinuated itself into a position of interdependence
with [NYSE Enforcement] that it must be recognized as a joint participant” 37/ in the requests

33/  Id. at 163. The court credited the testimony of NASD staff members despite the
appellants’ attempts to buttress the state action claim by noting, among other things, "the
statement of an unidentified FBI agent to an individual appellant that 'we are working
with the NASD -- they know exactly what is going on' . . . questions posed by [NASD
Enforcement] regarding two documents that Cromwell believes had been seized
previously by the FBI . . . [and NASD Enforcement]'s knowledge of certain government
witnesses." Id. at 162,

34/  Turk, 90 SEC Docket at 2809. Sassano attempts to distinguish Turk by arguing that his
case "involves extensive evidence of coordination between [N'YSE Enforcement], the
SEC and the NYAG over a time period spanning several years." We address this
evidence below (see infra notes 40 and 43); however, this alleged coordination oceurred
after Sassano had already failed to testify at the NYSE,

35/ D.L.Cromwell, 279 F.3d at 163.

36/  Gregg Heinze, Exchange Act Rel. No. 56100 (July 19, 2007), 91 SEC Docket 303, 311.

[ ]
3
=

Turk, 90 SEC Docket at 2807 (citations omitted).
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for testimony, or that the requests for testimony are "inextricably intertwined” 38/ with
investigations by the government. We therefore reject Sassano's contention that the chronology
of events in the investigations evidences state action. '

Sassano also argues that the circumstances surrounding the joint attendance of SEC
Enforcement and NYSE Enforcement at the attorney proffer, including NYSE Enforcement's
deference to Commission staff at that proffer, demonstrates that it had engaged in willful joint
action with government officials. Sassano highlights the fact that NYSE Enforcement, unlike
SEC Enforcement, did not send a list of discussion topics prior to the proffer, despite notice that
the discussion at the proffer "would be limited exclusively to issued raised beforehand.”
Additionally, Sassano's counsel represents, and NYSE Enforcement does not dispute, that during
the proffer, NYSE Enforcement "did not ask any questions about mutual fund trading practices at
Oppenheimer and did not request any information relating to any specific subjects.” Sassano
further notes that NYSE Enforcement's inquiries at the proffer were limited solely to whether
"Mr. Sassano would make himseif available to the SEC at some point in the future for additional
questioning,” and "if Mr, Sassano would give truthful answers to the SEC" in response to such
additional questioning. The Counsel Affidavit also states that NYSE Enforcement did not seek
"any additional information from" Sassano's counsel after the proffer despite counsel's offer "to
make [him]self available . . . at some point in the future for further discussion on behalf of Mr.
Sassano.” Sassano argues that these actions at the proffer reveal NYSE Enforcement's "complete
reliance on the SEC's inquiries,” and that such reliance demonstrates that NYSE Enforcement
was "working jointly with the SEC at the proffer.” Sassano further contends that cooperation
with SEC Enforcement at the proffer "rendered [NYSE Enforcement] a 'state actor’ and its
investigation 'state action,” giving rise to Fifth Amendment protections. 39/

However, the relevant issue here is whether the NYSE's requests for Sassano's testimony
— not the NYSE's actions in connection with a proffer that occurred almost seven months after
the Exchange’s initial request for testimony -- may be fairly attributed to the state. 40/ Evidence

38/  Id. (citations omitted).

39/  Sassano argues that NYSE Enforcement "was not acting independently at all, but instead
was relying upon" the investigative efforts of SEC Enforcement and the NYAG. NYSE
Enforcement's issuance of the requests for testimony giving rise to this proceeding
undermines any inference that NYSE Enforcement investigation was simply passively
relying on the investigative efforts of government agencies rather than pursuing a separate
investigation.

40/  See D.L.Cromwell, 279 F.3d at 163 (finding no state action where NASD Enforcement
issued requests for information "as a product of its private investigation" and "none of the
demands [for information] was generated by governmental persuasion or collusion . . .");
see also Kirtley v. Rainey, 326 F.3d at 1093 (indicating that joint action inquiry focuses

{continued...)
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of cooperation between NYSE Enforcement and SEC Enforcement in connection with the profier
could standing alone suggest that such cooperation resulted from an mtegrated joint investigation
by NYSE Enforcement and SEC Enforcement. Such evidence might be sufficient to support a
respondent’s request for an opportunity to develop evidence on the possibility of state-SRO joint
action. 41/ However, unlike in Quattrone, the NYSE has already afforded Sassano the
opportunity to develop further evidence regarding the degree of cooperation between NYSE and
the Commission. Our consideration of the evidence produced by Sassano and the totality of all
the evidence leads us to conclude that Sassano did not meet his burden of showing that the

' NYSE requests for Sassano's testimony were inextricably intertwined with the government
investigations.

The evidence indicates that the joint participation at the proffer actually occurred at
Sassano's counsel's suggestion, not as a result of any SEC Enforcement guidance of or control
over the NYSE Enforcement investigation, nor as a result of interdependence between the
investigations as a whole. The Affirmation expressly represents that "there was no flow of
information from [N'YSE] Enforcement to the SEC regarding [Sassano's] conduct” and that
references in the record to conversations between NYSE Enforcement and "'other regulatory

40/  (...continued)
on whether "the state has so far insinuated itself into a position of interdependence with
the private entity that it must be recognized as a joint participant in the challenged
activity" (emphasis added)); Mathis v. PG&E, 75 F.3d at 503 (focusing the joint action
test on whether "the particular actions challenged are inextricably intertwined with those
of the government” (emphasis added)); Desiderio v. NASD, 191 F.3d at 207 (indicating
that a theory based on the nexus between actions by a private actor and the state must be
based on evidence of "a nexus between the state and the specific conduct of which
plaintiff complains” (emphasis in original)).

In Quattrone, we credited evidence indicating that investigations by an SRO and
government agencies were conducted jointly, and accordingly held that the respondent
had "earned the right to present evidence regarding whether NASD's role in the Joint
Investigation rendered the [request for testimony] state action.” Quattrone, 87 SEC
Daocket at 2164-65 & n.27 (finding that summary judgment was inappropriately granted in
the NASD's favor when the respondent "introduced facts indicating that the request was
part of the Joint Investigation or, at the least, that he could have believed reasonably that
this was the case"). We note that Quattrone presented considerably stronger evidence that
the government and SRO investigations, as a whole, were inextricably intertwined than is
indicated in the present case. Evidence of a joint investigation in Quatirone included,

. among other things, written statements from the NASD that its investigation was part of a
joint investigation with the Commission and that "any resolution of the matter will need
to involve all three regulators” (i.¢., NYSE, the NASD, and SEC Enforcement), and
Congressional testimony by the then-Director of SEC Enforcement indicating that the
investigations were conducted jointly. Id. at 2156-57 and 2159.

ha
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entities' . . . merely referenced that conversations were held among all of the parties involved in
planning for [Sassano]'s proposed cooperation via the attorney proffer.” Notwithstanding
Sassano's claim that the discovery ordered by the Hearing Officer was insufficient, the
Affirmation covers the period starting from NYSE Enforcement's first written request for
Sassano's testimony in September 2004 through the issuance of the NYSE Enforcement Charge
Memorandum in November 2005. In this light, the evidence does not justify a finding that any
cooperation at the proffer resulted from an overall joint investigation by NYSE Enforcement and
the government agencies, nor does it justify a finding that the NYSE Enforcement investigation
as a whotle, or the specific NYSE Enforcement requests for testimony, were inexiricably
intertwined with the governmental investigations. 42/

Sassano's remaining claims are similarly insufficient to buttress his state action defense.
Sassano notes that NYSE Enforcement "questioned Mr. Valverde [one of Sassano's coworkers]
and subsequently forwarded his testimony to the SEC's Division of Enforcement.” Although the
Exchange does not dispute Sassano's claim that the transcript of testimony taken by NYSE was
shared with SEC Enforcement, it is worth noting that the Valverde testimony was taken by the
Exchange in December 2005 -- well after the Exchange's requests for Sassano's testimony issued
in September 2004 and March 2005 and even after the issuance of the NYSE Enforcement
Charge Memorandum giving rise to this case. In any event, NYSE Enforcement and SEC
Enforcement both conducted investigations of market timing activities. Given the common
subject matter of these investigations, it is hardly surprising that NYSE Enforcement took
testimony that would be germane to SEC Enforcement's investigation. The fact that NYSE
Enforcement pursued testimony from another CIBC employee after Sassano had twice failed to
testify undermines Sassano's claim that NYSE Enforcement was simply relying on the
investigative efforts of government agencies rather than pursuing a separate investigation.
Moreover, courts have explicitly held that sharing of information and formal testimony between
an SRO and the Commission is insufficient to establish state action. 43/ We do not find that the

42/  Sassano's argument to the contrary notwithstanding, even joint action by SEC
Enforcement and NYSE Enforcement at the proffer would not, under these facts,
automatically transform the entire NYSE Enforcement investigation into a joint
investigation with SEC Enforcement, nor would it retroactively convert the prior NYSE
Enforcement requests for testimony into state action, if the two agencies had not been
acting jointly when those requests were issued. See supra note 40 and infra note 43.

43/ Scher v. NASD, 386 F. Supp. 2d at 408 (finding, where an NASD investigator shared
information with the district attorney's office with which he once worked approximately
one year after plaintiff's testimony, that "such collaboration,” which ultimately led to the
plaintiff's criminal prosecution, "does not in itself demonstrate that a "close’ nexus' existed
between the challenged conduct of the NASD and a state actor"); see also U.S. v.
Finnerty, 411 F. Supp. 2d 428, 433 (S.D.N.Y. 2006} (stating that "[t]he mere fact that the

{continued...)
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forwarding of Valverde's December 2005 NYSE Enforcement testimony to SEC Enforcement
establishes that the NYSE's requests for Sassano testimony were issued in September 2004 and
March 2005 as part of a single joint investigation by NYSE Enforcement and SEC
Enforcement. 44/ .

Sassano also points to a statement in a Form U4 filed by Oppenheimer which
characterizes the various investigations by "NASD, NYSE, USAO, SEC, MASS SEC
COMMISSION, NYAG, ET AL." as "one investigation by alt regulators.” 45/ However, this
cursory reference to the various investigations appears in a regulatory filing by Oppenheimer and
not by any of the investigating regulators. Such a filing, particularly by an entity itself under
investigation in connection with the same activities, does not in any way establish the nature of
the relationship between NYSE Enforcement's investigation and the investigations of the
Commission and the NYAG for purposes of the state action test.

In surn, Sassano has not presented evidence meeting the high standard required to
establish a state action defense. Sassano's evidence does suggest possible coordination between
the government agencies and NYSE personnel, particularly with respect to the preparation for,
and participation in, the attorney proffer. The evidence indicates that Sassano hiraself initiated
much of that coordination, which occurred after Sassano had already refused to appear for NYSE
testimony. In addition, under the "joint action" test, Sassano is required to present evidence
reflecting not just general collaboration or cooperation between the SRO and a government

43/  (...continuved)
Government may have requested and received documents from the NYSE in the course of

its investigation does not convert the investigation into a joint one"}.

44/  Sassano states that SEC Enforcement produced the Valverde NYSE testimony in
conmnection with the administrative proceeding against Sassano but did not include any
other transeripts of testimony by NYSE Enforcement. On this basis, he concludes that
the Valverde transcript "represents the only testimony taken by [NYSE Enforcement] in
connection with its so-called independent investigation of Mr. Sassano and mutual fund
trading practices at Oppenheimer" and uses this opportunity to request "focused discovery
to probe whether [NYSE Enforcement] questioned any additional Oppenheimer and/or
[CIBC] employees besides Mr. Valverde, or whether [N'Y SE Enforcement] simply relied
npon the investigatory interviews conducted by the SEC and NYAG.” The key question
is whether the NYSE acted on behalf of SEC Enforcement in seeking Sassano's on the
record testimony. See supra note 43. The possibility of the opposite -- NYSE reliance on
testimony obtained by SEC Enforcement -- is only remotely probative on this key issue
and is even less so considering, as we said, the NYSE and the SEC Enforcement staffs
permissibly may share information and cooperate.

45/  Sassano indicates that the Form U4 was filed upon Sassano's suspension of employment
from Oppenheimet.
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agency, but evidence suggesting an "interdependence” between the government investigations
and the SRO's requests for testimony triggering his invocation of his Fifth Amendment right.
Sassano's evidence falls short of suggesting that NYSE's requests for his testimony were
"inextricably intertwined" with the investigations by the NYAG or SEC Enforcement or that the
government investigations were so "interdependent” with the requests for testimony that the
government "must be recognized as a joint participant” in those requests. 46/

V.

Sassano has requested further discovery to substantiate his theory that the NYSE engaged
in state action. Unlike previous cases remanded on this basis, however, we believe that the
NYSE has already afforded Sassano sufficient opportunity to present and develop his state action
claim. We bave previously remanded cases in which the applicants had been limited in their
ability to introduce evidence on the state action question in the SRO proceedings below, for
instance when an SRQ had not made its employees "available for testimony at a respondent's
request or produced affidavits responding to" reasonable and credible evidence suggesting state
action. 47/ We have also provided for an opportunity to develop further evidence regarding state
action claims in cases in which the SRO's initial consideration of such claims had not been able
10 take into account significant developments in the law regarding the state action defense. 48/

46/  See generally Mathis v. PG&E, 75 F.3d at 503; Kirtley v. Rainey, 326 F.3d at 1093,
Sassano also allepes statements suggesting cooperation between the NYAG and SEC
Enforcement, e.g., requests by the SEC that "representative of the NYAG's office . ..
attend Mr. Sassano's deposition,” and a statement by SEC Enforcement to Sassano's
counsel that "the SEC and NYAG were working together in investigating Mxr, Sassano.”
Sassano also argues that "it was a matter of public record . . . that the NYAG was
working hand-in-hand with the SEC to jointly investigate" one of Sassano's colleagues.
Although these allegations may suggest cooperation between the two government
agencics, they are not indicative of cooperation between NYSE Enforcement and either
government agency.

Additionally, Sassano alleges that "counsel for CIBC and Oppenheimer, respectively,
were sharing documents and information regarding alleged market timing activities
obtained during the course of employee interviews . . . with the SEC, the NYAG and
[NYSE Enforcement]." However, any such coopetation by counsel for CIBC and
Oppenheimer wouid not indicate a joint investigation by NYSE Enforcement and either
government agency.

47/ Ficken, 89 SEC Docket at 695.

48/  Id. at 694 (noting that "NASD did not have the opportunity to evaluate [the Commission’s
Quattrone decision] before ruling on Ficken's claims"); Turk, 90 SEC Docket at 2810
(continued...)
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Sassano claims that he has presented "specific evidence" supporting his state action claim
that “entitles [him] to additional discovery to make out this claim" despite the NYSE's express
consideration of his state action claim during the hearing below. There are, however, limitations
on the opportunity for discovery on the question of state action. We have specifically cautioned
that applicants "may not use the discovery process to go on a fishing expedition in the hopes that
some evidence will turn up to support an otherwise unsubstantiated theory” of state action. 49/
We have also noted that an appeal based solely on a state action defense is subject to dismissal if
the applicant "faii[s] to introduce sufficient evidence" to justify his state action claim. 50/
Moreover, such evidence must be presented at the "initial evidentiary hearing, so that the record
is fully developed in the first instance when the case is before the SRO." 51/ We further stated
that "[n]ot every defense of state action deserves discovery and a hearing” and that discovery -
must be based on "a reasonable and credible basis to conclude that the SRO's . . . seemingly
private behavior 'may be fairly treated as that of the state itself." 52/

The proceedings below afforded Sassano the opportunity to present and develop evidence
supporting his state action claim. 53/ The Exchange specifically considered Sassano's state

48/  (...continued)
n.27 (specifically noting the "unusual posture of the appeal” and indicating that "the
evidence presented to date might be the result of more than cooperation and . . . Turk's
NYSE evidentiary hearing occurred before the issuance of our decisions in Quattrone and
Ficken™): Heinze, 91 SEC Docket at 311 (granting remand where the respondent had
"identified specific evidence that warrants a further opportunity to develop and present
his state action claim" and "the NYSE considered Heinze's case without the full benefit of
all our recent decisions on this issug").

49/  Ficken, 89 SEC Docket at 695 n.36 (citing G.X. Scott & Co., 51 S.E.C. 961, 973 (1994)).

50/ Turk, 90 SEC Docket at 2810 n.27.

51/ Id.

Ln
(]
S

Id. at 2807 n.15 {citing Brentwood Acad., 531 U.S. at 295).

Compare Heinze, 91 SEC Docket at 311 (finding that "Heinze had identified specific
evidence that warrantJed] a further opportunity to develop and present his state action
claim” when Heinze's conientions, including an assertion that an NYSE attorney informed
Heinze thai SEC Enforcement "had instructed the NYSE to limit the amount of
information about his investigation that the Exchange provided to Heinze," raised "the
possibility that [SEC Enforcement] exercised significant control over the NYSE's
investigation of Heinze").

9,1
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action claims in light of the criteria set forth in Quattrone and its progeny. 34/ Moreover, the
Hearing Officer, after allowing Sassano to make an offer of proof on his state action claim,
ordered further "limited discovery” regarding evidence of cooperation between NYSE
Enforcement and SEC Enforcement in connection with the attorney proffer, which was Sassano's
most credible evidence in support of his joint action argument. That additional discovery did not
ultimately substantiate his state action claim.

We have indicated that, in order to obtain further discovery, an applicant is required "to

state the precise manner in which [the facts he does possess] support[] his clams," to explain

"why he needs additional discovery," to "state with some precision the materials he hope [sl1o

obtain with further discovery,” and to explain "exactly how" the further information would
' support his claims. 55/ Sassano has not made any such attempt to focus the scope of his
| requested further discovery. For instance, although the Affirmation addressed communications
between the various regulatory entities, he requests further discovery regarding, among other
things, "the scope and extent of any cooperation, communication and/or sharing of information
between [NYSE Enforcement], the SEC and the NYAG regarding their investigations of Mr. -
Sassano, CIBC and Oppenheimer"” without indicating how such further discovery would
elaborate or expand the evidence included in the Affirmation. 56/ Nor has Sassano identified the
actual materials he hopes to obtain upon further discovery, or how such materials would support
his claim. His discovery requests are broad and general, suggesting the forbidden fishing
expedition. In this light, Sassano has not established a reasonable and credible basis to support
his request on appeal to reopen the discovery process.

54/  The Hearing Officer found that Sassano "had not made out his claim of 'State Action™ on
 April 25, 2007, after our decisions in Quattrone and Ficken. In addition, in denying
Sassano's request for additional discovery on appeal, the NYSE Board of Directors
expressly stated that it had considered "the relevant decisional law (including the SEC's
decisions in Quattrone, Ficken, Turk and Heinze)."

55/  Ficken, 89 SEC Docket at 695-96 n.37 (citing Krim v. BancTexas Group. Inc., 989 F.2d
1435, 1442-43 (5th Cir. 1993)).

56/  Sassano also argues, "merely by way of example,” that he is entitled to additional
discovery regarding "the circumstances surrounding [NYSE Enforcement's] complete
reliance upon the investigatory efforts of the SEC at the attomey proffer, and [NYSE
Enforcement's] determination not to pose any questions of its own at the proffer; the
extent of the [NYSE Enforcement's] joint participation with the SEC and NYAG in
investigatory interviews of CIBC and/or Oppenheimer employees;" and whether NYSE
Enforcement questioned any other CIBC or Oppenheimer employees. See supra note 44,

I —
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Section 19(e)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 directs us to sustain the NYSE's
sanctions unless we find, having due regard for the public interest and the protection of investors,
that the sanctions are excessive or oppressive or impose an unnecessary or inappropriate burden
on competition. 57/ Sassano asks that we modify the penalty imposed by the NYSE to "provide
M. Sassano with twelve months within which to comply with [NYSE Enforcement]'s request for
testimony (instead of the three months provided in the NYSE Decision), and to impose a bar of
limited duration rather than a permanent bar." Sassano urges that "in the event [he] ultimately
complies with [NYSE Enforcement's] request for testimony . . . a bar of limited duration not
exceeding two years would be appropriate.” 38/ '

We sustain the sanctions imposed by the NYSE because, as explained below, we
conclude that Sassano's failure to appear for on-the-record testimony in this case demonstrates
that he poses too great a risk to the markets and investors protected by the self-regulatory system
to be permitted to remain in the securities industry. We also conclude that the sanctions imposed
on Sassano will have the salutary effect of deterring others from engaging in the same serious
misconduct.

NYSE Rule 477(c) expressly contemplates that the failure to testify may result in a
permanent bar. 59/ "Because of limited Commission resources, Congress has given [SROs]
significant front-line responsibility in ensuring that broker-dealers and their associated persons
are corplying with applicable statutes, rules, regulations, and ethical obligations." 60/ As we
have repeatedly emphasized, it is vitally important to the self-regulatory system that SRO
investigators be able to obtain information and testimony from member firms and associated

57/ 15U.8.C. § 78s(e)(2). Sassano does not claim, and the record does not show, that
NYSE's action imposed an undue burden on competition.

58/  See supranote 3.

59/  Under NYSE Rule 477(c), a former employee of a member organization that "is adjudged
guilty in a proceeding under Rule 476 of having refused or failed to comply” with any
requirement to appear or testify "may be barred from being a member, member
organization, allied member, approved person, or registered or non-registered employee
of a member or member organization permanently, or for such period of time as may be
determined . .. ."

60/ PAZ Sec.. Inc., Exchange Act Rel. No. 54656 (Apr. 11,2008) __ SEC Docket __,
(quoting Charles C. Fawcett. IV, Exchange Act Rel. No. 56770 {Nov. 8, 2007) 91 SEC

Docket 3147, 3157), appeal docketed, No. 08-1188 (D.C. Cir. May 13, 2008).
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persons promptly and without conditions. 61/ Because the SROs lack subpoena power, they
"necessarily rel[y] upon the full and prompt cooperation of [their] members and associated
persons in conducting an investigation." 62/ Vigorous enforcement of Rule 477, therefore, helps
ensure the continued strength of the self-regulatory system -- and thereby enhances the integrity
of the securitics markets and protects investors -- by “barring individuals and firms who have
already demonstrated a refusal to be investigated.” 63/ We have recently held that "[a] complete
failure to respond to a request for information . . . renders the violator presumptively unfit for
employment in the securities industry.” 64/ :

Sassano has admitted throughout these proceedings that he has not appeared for on-the-
record NYSE testimony. The Exchange’s original request for such testimony has been
outstanding since September 2004. Nevertheless, Sassano failed to appear for an interview even
after the Exchange twice rescheduled his festimony at the request of his counsel, and after two
separate requests for testimony by the Exchange. We have previously observed that a failure to
respond until after the imposition of disciplinary sanctions "is tantamount to a complete failure to
respond.” 63/ Moreover, the NYSE's determination to bar Sassano was consistent with sanctions
we have expressly affirmed in other SRO proceedings involving a failure to testify. 66/

51/ Albanese, 53 S.E.C. at 298.
62/  1d. at 297-98; see also Richard J. Rouse, 51 S.E.C. 581, 584 (1993) {finding rule requiring

NASD members and associates to comply with its information requests to be "a key
element in the NASD's effort to police its members").

63/ PAZSec.Inc.,  SEC Docketat .

64/ Id.at .

65/ Id.at .

66/  See. e.g., Fawcett, 91 SEC Docket at 3158 (upholding bar for violation of analogous
NASD rule). -
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We find that no factors mitigate the severity of Sassano's viclative conduct. 67/ Sassano
had no legitimate basis for refusing to testify before the NYSE, Instead, aware of the
consequences, Sassano refused to comply with NYSE Enforcement's requests in contravention of
his duty to cooperate fully and promptly with those requests. 68/ Lesser sanctions may, in certain
circumstances, be appropriate for an incomplete or dilatory response to requests for information
or a failure to respond where mitigating circumstances exist. However, in light of Sassano's
complete failure, without mitigation, to respond to the Exchange's repeated requests for
testimony, we conclude that the bar is not "excessive or oppressive" within the meaning of
Exchange Act Section 19(e)(2). 69/

We concur in the NYSE's determination that Sassano's misconduct demonstrates that he
poses too great a risk to the self-regulatory system -- and the markets and investors it protects --
to be permitted to remain in the securitics industry. We conclude, therefore, that the sanctions
imposed by the NYSE to redress that risk serve the public interest and are neither excessive nor

67/  Sassano has argued that "compelling [him] to testify before the [N'YSE] while the SEC
proceeding is pending would be highly prejudicial to [him] in the [SEC] enforcement
proceeding” and "would enable the SEC's Division of Enforcement to effectively end run
the provisions of Rule 230(g) of the SEC's own Rules of Practice . .. preclud[ing] the
issuance of investigatory subpoenas for the purpose of obtaining evidence relevant to the
proceeding 'after the institution of proceedings.” On July 18, 2008, the SEC Enforcement
proceeding against Sassano was settled. See Michael Sassano, Exchange Act Rel. No.
58193 (July 18, 2008), _ SEC Docket __. Given the settlement of the SEC Enforcement
proceeding, Sassano's prejudice argument is moot.

Moreover, we are not aware of any offer by Sassano to comply with the NYSE
Enforcement requests for testimony now that any threat that such testimony would be
used in the SEC Enforcement investigation has subsided. [n any cvent, the existence of a
parallel ongoing SEC Enforcement investigation did not justify Sassano's refusal to testify
before the NYSE. See Fawcett, 91 SEC Docket at 3158 (sustaining bar for failing to
provide information despite applicant’s claim that he was "faced with a Hobson's choice:
either provide testimony that might inctiminate him in then-pending proceedings before
the [Commission]} and [the NYAG], or be barred by [NASD] from practicing his
profession").

68/  Cf Joseph G. Chiulli, 54 S.E.C. 515, 524 (2000} (stating that, by registering with NASD,
respondent "agreed to abide by its rules which are unequivocat with respect to an
associated person's duty to cooperate with NASD investigations"). As we have
previously noted, "even if the failure to respond does not result in direct improper
financial benefit to respondents or harm to investors, it is serious because it impedes
detection of such violative conduct.” PAZ Sec.. Inc., SEC Docketat _ .

69/  Fawcett, 91 SEC Docket at 3157-58.

m
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oppressive. The bar is also an appropriate remedy because it will serve as a deterrent to others
who may be inclined to ignore NYSE requests for testimony, thereby protecting the investing
public by encouraging the timely cooperation that is essential to the prompt discovery and
remediation of misconduct. 70/

An appropriate order will issue. 71/

By the Commission (Chairman COX and Commissioners CASEY, AGUILAR, and
PAREDES); Commissioner WALTER not participating.

Florence E. Harmon
Acting Secretary

70/  Inmaking this determination, we-are mindful that although "'general deterrence is not, by
itself, sufficient justification for expulsion or suspension . . . it may be considered as part
of the overall remedial inquiry." PAZ Sec.. Inc. v. SEC, 494 F.3d 1059, 1066 (D.C. Cir.
2007) (guoting McCarthy v, SEC, 406 F.3d 179, 189 (2d Cir. 2005)).

71/  We have considered all of the parties' contentions. We have rejected or sustained them fo
the extent that they are inconsistent or in accord with the views expressed in this opinion.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
before the
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Rel. No. 58632 / September 24, 2008

Admin. Proc. File No. 3-12903

In the Matter of the Application of

MICHAEL SASSANO
c/o Graeme W. Bush, Esq.
Zuckerman Spaeder LLP
1800 M Street, N.W.
Suite 1000
Washington, D.C. 20036

For Review of Disciplinary Action Taken by

NYSE REGULATION, INC.

ORDER SUSTAINING DISCIPLINARY ACTION TAKEN BY NATIONAL SECURITIES
EXCHANGE

On the basis of the Commission's opinion issued this day, it is

ORDERED that the disciplinary action taken by NYSE Regulation, Inc. against Michael
Sassano, be, and it hereby is, sustained.

By the Commission.

‘Florence E. Harmon
Acting Secretary
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Westlaw,

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2000 WL 423810 (D.D.C.)
(Cite as: 2000 WL 423810 (D.D.C.))

H

Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

United States District Court, District of Columbia.
. Anthony J. MARCHIANO, Plaintiff,
V.

NATIONAL ASSOQCIATION OF SECURITIES
DEALERS, INC., and NATIONAL ASSOCI-
ATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS REGULA-
TION, INC., Defendants.

No. CIV. A.00-80331(HHK).

Feb. 28, 2000.

Emmett H. Miller, III, Kilpatrick Stockton, LLP,
Washington, DC, for Plaintiff: Anthony Marchiano.

Terri L. Reichere, National Assoc. of Securities
Dealers, Washington, DC, for Defendant: NASD,
Inc. & NASD Regulations, Inc.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
KENNEDY, District J.

*1 Plaintiff, the president and owner of A.S. Gold-~
men & Co., Inc., is named in a 240-count, 330-page
New York State criminal indictment that charges
him, inter alia, with violating New York State se-
curities laws. He seeks a temporary restraining or-
der against defendants, National Association of Se-
curities Dealers, Inc., and National Association of
Securities Dealers Regulation, Inc., entities that are
prosecuting an administrative proceeding against
plaintiff because, contrary to their internal rules, he
has refused to answer their requests for informa-
tion. Plaintiff argues that unless this proceeding is
immediately enjoined, he will be punished and irre-
parably harmed for having exercised his Fifth
Amendment Right not to incriminate himself be-
cause the inevitable result of the proceeding will be
his expulsion from defendants’ membership and the
securities industry. Having considered plaintiff's

Page 1

motion for injunctive relief and the argument of
counsel at a hearing, the court concludes that
plaintiff's request for a TRO should be denied.

Injunctive relief is a special remedy in the law, that
is warranted only when the movant is able to make
the following showing:

(1) That he is substantially likely to prevail on the
merits of the suit,

(2) That he will suffer irreparable injury if the in-
junction is not granted,

(3) That the injunction will not substantially harm
other interested parties,

(4) That the public interest will be furthered by the
injunction.

CityFed Financial Corp. v. Office of Thrift Supervi-
sion, 58 F.3d 738, 747 (D.C.Cir.1995). This circuit
has held that these requirements are best gauged on
a sliding scale; that is, if one factor is particularly
favorable to the movant, an injunction may be ap-
propriate even if the showing with respect to the
other factors is relatively weak. See /d 1If one factor
can be said to predominate, however, it is
“Irreparable injury.” See Id at 952 (* ‘The basis of
injunctive relief in the federal courts has always
been irreparable harm™ ) (citation omitted).

I believe plaintiff has made a weak showing of irre-
parable injury. The Irreparable injury which
plaintiff alleges is that he will be barred, automatic-
ally and immediately, from pursuing his vocation
should the defendants’ administrative proceeding be
allowed to continue. This is simply not true.

Assuming that plaintiff is found guilty as charged
in the administrative proceeding, the sanction that
will be imposed is governed by the NASD Sanction
Guidelines. These Guidelines, by their own terms,
“do not prescribe fixed sanctions for particular viol-
ations ... [but] provide direction for ... imposing

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.

http://web2.westlaw.com/print/printstream.aspx7rs=WLW10.10&destination=atp&vr=2.0... 11/16/2010



Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS -DRH Document 192-9  Filed 11/17/10 Page Bage32 of 32

Not Reported in ¥.Supp.2d, 2000 WL 423810 (D.D.C.)
(Cite as: 2000 WL 423810 (D.D.C.))

sanctions consistently and fairly,” NASD Sanction
Guidelines at 1 (1998). Further, they “are not inten-
ded to be absolute.” Rather, “[bjased on the facts
and circumstances presented in each case, Adjudic-
ators may impose sanctions that fall outside the
ranges recommended and may consider aggravating
and mitigating factors in addition to those listed in
these guidelines.” Id (empbasis added). While the
guidelines state that “a bar should be standard” for
failing to respond to information requests, they also
state that “[w]here mitigation exists” consideration
should be given to suspending the individual ... for
up to two years.” Id. at 31. The court has no way of
gauging the receptivity of defendants' adjudicators
to any mitigating factors, i.e., the desire not to in-
criminate himself, which plaintiff may wish to
present. Further, per NASD Code of Procedure §§
0268(e) and 9311(b), if plaintiff appeals an adverse
decision in the current adjudicatory proceeding
within 25 days of issue, the decision shall be stayed
until a final decision is handed down by the appel-
late body. These considerations leave the court un-
convinced that plaintiff will suffer irreparable in-
jury without immediate intervention by this court.

*2 Plaintiff has also failed to demonstrate a sub-
stantial likelihood of success on the merits.
Plaintiff's first task in seeking relief for violation of
his Fifth Amendment rights is to demonstrate that
defendants are state actors. Plaintiff argues that de-
fendants should be considered state actors for two
reasons. First, plaintiff contends that defendants act
as a “quasi-governmental authority” under the aus-
pices of Congress and the SEC. Second, plaintiff
maintains that defendants' measured coordination
with New York law enforcement officials creates
state action “by association.”

As to his “quasi-governmental” rationale, the court
observes that every district and appeals court that
has ruled on this issue has held that the NASD is
not a state actor. Plaintiff strenuously argues that
many of these cases are dated and their determina-
tions are not dispositive, given changes in the
NASD's structure in 1983 and 1996. While many of

Page 2

these cases were decided before 1996, Graman v.
NASD, 1998 WL 294022 (D.D.C.1998), a 1998
case decided by this court was not. In Graman, my
colleague Judge Roberison explicitly considered
and rejected the plaintiffs' argument that “NASD is
a ‘quasi-governmental authority” to which Congress
has delegated substantial regulatory re sponsibil-
ity....” even in light of the plaintiffs' “suggestion
that NASD's once-private status has recently
changed.” See Graman at *2, 3. It is well-settled,
then, that NASI} and NASDR are not state actors,

Plaintiff's “state action by association™ argument is
similarly unconvincing. As the Supreme Court held
in Blum v. Yarersky, 457 U.8. 991, 1004-05 (1982),
“a State normally can be held responsible for
private decision only when it has exercised coercive
power or has provided such significant encourage-
ment ... that the choice must in law be deemed to be
that of the State. Mere approval ... is not sufficient
to justify holding the State responsible ....” Plaintiff
has not indicated that Congress or the SEC have
forced or even significantly encouraged defendants
to proceed with their administrative proceeding or
the underlying NASD disclosure requirement. Con-
sequently, plaintiff has failed to impute state action
to defendants.

Accordingly, because plaintiff has failed to show ir-
reparable injury and that he is likely to prevail on
the merits of this suit, it is, this 28th day of Febru-
ary 2000 hereby

ORDERED that plaintiffs request for a temporary
restraining order is DENIED.

D.D.C.,2000.

Marchiano v. National Ass'n of Securities Dealers,
Inc.

Not Reported in F.Supp2d, 2000 WL 423810
(D.D.C)

END OF DOCUMENT

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.

http://web2.westlaw.com/print/printstream.aspx 2rs=WLW10.10&destination=atp&vr=2.0... 11/16/2010



Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS -DRH Document 192-10 Filed 11/17/10 Page 1 of 2

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,
Plaintiff,
V.

McGINN, SMITH & CO., INC.,

McGINN, SMITH ADVISORS, LLC,

McGINN, SMITH CAPITAL HOLDINGS CORP.,
FIRST ADVISORY INCOME NOTES, LLC,
FIRST EXCELSIOR INCOME NOTES, LLC
FIRST INDEPENDENT INCOME NOTES, LLC
THIRD ALBANY INCOME NOTES, LLC,
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN, DAVID L. SMITH,
LYNN A. SMITH, DAVID M. WOJESKI, Trustee of
the David L. and Lynn A. Smith Irrevocable Trust
U/A 8/04/04, GEOFFREY R. SMITH,

LAUREN T. SMITH, and NANCY McGINN,

Defendants,

LYNN A. SMITH, and
NANCY McGINN,

Relief Defendants, and
DAVID M. WOJESKI, Trustee of the
David L. and Lynn A. Smith Irrevocable
Trust U/A 8/04/04

Intervenor.
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10 Civ. 457 (GLS/DRH)

ORDER GRANTING FINRA AND FINRA EMPLOYEES’
MOTION TO QUASH SUBPOENAS

On L,

, FINRA and FINRA Employees’ Motion to Quash

Subpoenas came on to be heard. After considering the Motion to Quash Subpoenas, the

memorandum of law and affidavits of James S. Shorris in support, the Defendants’ response, the

NY01:231499.1
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governing law, and the argument of counsel, the Court finds that FINRA and FINRA
Employees” Motion to Quash Subpoenas as to Gary Jaggs, Robert J. McCarthy, Michael

Newman, Randy Pearlman, and FINRA’s custodian of records is GRANTED.

IT IS SO ORDERED this day of ,

HONORABLE DAVID R. HOMER
U.S. MAGISTRATE JUDGE

NYO01:231499.1 2





